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Time: 0820, Greenwich Mean Time, June 12, 1940
Place: Offices of Ml-5, Bayswater Road,
London, England
 
 
A leaden sky hovered over the spires and shoulders of the City and, beyond, Big Ben and Parliament House. Fog boiled up off the Thames, as slanting silver streaks drummed against the panes of the tall, narrow, mullioned windows of the dimly lighted office. A typical June day in London of 1940. Inside, a small, cheerless coal fire burned ineffectually on the hearth. With his back to the gray morning, Brian Moore, baronet, stood at his highly polished, cherry-wood desk and glanced around the appointments of his workplace.
Three uniform, olive-green file cabinets formed a rank along one wall. They clashed jarringly with the long, rich, burgundy drapes that served dual purpose to ban strong sunlight by day, and at night as blackout curtains, for it was widely believed that the Germans would be coming. A small, utilitarian service caddy, in tasteless chrome and black with hard rubber wheels, stood to one side. A coffee urn sat on a silver tray, along with bone china cups and saucers. A partly demolished plate of buttered scones, and a salver that had once held sausages, had been pushed to one side. A serpentine of orange and a limp sprig of parsley served as garnish on the soiled plate. This morning, like the past several, in growing frequency, Brian Moore had been required to take breakfast from the canteen on the substreet floor. 
It had been brought up by his driver, Sergeant Harrison Wigglesby. Wigglesby was a certifiable character. Although as a trained agent of MI-5, British Intelligence (Internal Security), he held the Civil Service rank equivalent of a warrant officer 2, something that made Harry decidedly uncomfortable, he insisted everyone address him by his former military rank, that of a regimental sergeant major. A good number among the members of MI-5, Brian had discovered, exhibited some sort of eccentricity, so much so that he wondered if it was expected of them. 
Harry Wigglesby was a Cockney, and left no one any doubt that he had been born “within the sound of Bow Bells.” Harry had the dark hair, shoe-button eyes, and sallow complexion of the typical Cockney. He also had the large family and stout, big-bosomed wife, complete with Pearlyman suit to wear when tending the family cockle barrow. Harry was also a “fixer” and “finder” of anything that might be needed for an agent to complete a mission for MI-5. 
Brian Moore abandoned his review of the virtues of his driver and shrugged into a military style trench coat and donned his bowler. From the elephant-foot stand at the door, he retrieved his brolly. The large, thick, wooden door shut noiselessly behind him. In the reception area, a bright, airy space with glass skylights up another story, he paused beside the desk of WREN Sergeant Sally Parkhurst, who, like Brian, was dressed in mufti. 
“Sergeant, you may inform RSM Wigglesby that I will not be needing him until late this afternoon. He’s free to pay a visit to the Old Swan Tavern for a pork pie and squeak and a pint of bitter, as is his wont.”
Sally Parkhurst looked up at her boss. Like most women, the younger ones in particular, she could not help but be impressed by the young baronet’s handsome appearance. He had a high forehead; an aristocratic, somewhat bent nose; high cheekbones; and a suntan that belied the usual spring weather in London and the Midlands. Sally shivered unobtrusively at the remarkable gaze of his smoldering gray-green eyes, which she believed, when angry, could freeze anyone into immobility, even a Nazi agent. She responded with cool efficiency, although she sensed herself melting inside. 
“Very well, Colonel Moore.” Their use of military ranks did not matter here. Anyone, civilian or military, who reached this reception area on the fourth floor of a seven-story building on Bayswater Road, three blocks from the Watney’s brewery, had clearance to or knowledge of its purpose. She gave him a big smile. 
“Oh, by the way, Colonel, a Doctor Alberdi rang you up a short while ago. Since his name was not on the list, I did not put him through.” 
What the hell was Vito Alberdi doing calling here without previous clearance? Brian returned her smile. “Very well, Sergeant. Thank you for letting me get through my breakfast.”
 
 
 
Out in the street, sparse pedestrian traffic mirrored the weather. Brian Moore reflected again on the call from Vito Alberdi. It must have been to inform him that all was in readiness. Good, Brian approved. The less delay, the better. He stepped to the curb and raised his umbrella in the universal British signal for a taxi. Since he wore the uniform of a “proper” gentleman—dark, three-piece suit; celluloid collar; black, wing-tipped shoes; derby hat; and brolly—he had no trouble quickly gaining one.
“Where to, guvner?”
“Westminster Abbey, please,” Brian instructed.
He entered the rear seat of the high-centered Humber and settled in as the 1937 model rattled and swayed its way through a scatter of lorries and only the occasional private automobile. Beyond the windows, the gray rain continued inexorably. As they passed through Piccadilly Circus, a news hawker’s placard caught his eye. Hand-painted in large, block letters, its intention was to attract instant attention and concern:
 
 
HUNS POISED TO INVADE!
 
 
Towering, gray rock walls blended into the drab day as Brian Moore paid off the cabbie and walked through the low, black-painted, wrought-iron picket fence and joined the small queue of visitors. There were few, if any, tourists. Most were visiting scholars or local teachers stumped for subject matter to present to their rooms of blank-faced urchins as indifferent to British culture as they were absorbed in the constant quest for full bellies, warm clothes, and an end to the German threat. Brian entered the famous chapel through the tall, stout, English oak doors. He knew where to find the man he sought.
Brian went past Poet’s Corner directly to the Henry V Chapel, located directly behind the altar-screen of the central Henry IV Chapel, which also masked the Edward III Chapel. The age-blackened Royal Coronation Throne was housed with Edward, along with artifacts from the reign of the youthful Lancastrian, Good King Harry. There he found the small, slight figure of Dr. Weldon Ogilve bent intently over the sarcophagus of Queen Eleanor. Brian rounded the end of the stone refuge of the remains of King Richard II and cleared his throat to announce his presence.
With a birdlike jerk and twist of his head, the bespectacled man with a tonsure of salt-and-pepper hair looked up from his studies. “Yes, what is it? You can see I am quite busy.”
“I am sorry, Doctor Ogilve, but I must insist,” Brian began diffidently, still caught up in his former student thrall of academics, despite the urgency of his mission. “You have to leave here right away.” 
Another of the bird twitches. “Whatever do you mean, young man? I—I’ve barely begun my explorations.”
Brian regarded the archaeologist thoughtfully. Brian knew, although the researcher apparently did not, that jeopardy menaced them due to any delay. Sighing, he tried to reason with the elderly scholar.
“It is entirely too dangerous for you to remain here.”
“Fiddlesticks, young sir, So, again, I ask what possible importance that is to me?” 
Brian stepped closer, past centuries of English history and dead royalty. He ground his teeth quite audibly in his frustration. “Very well. The Abbey gardens are due to take a stray bomb, intended for the Thames docks, in this afternoon’s raid. The likelihood exists that you might be killed when it detonates.” 
Head cocked even further to the side, like a curious wren, Dr. Ogilve pursed his lips before making comment. “Do you know for sure that I will be killed?” 
Reluctantly, Brian shook his head. He saw his last argument being swept away on the scientist’s logic. “No,” he admitted. “There isn’t any indication that you are.”
“Well, then, there you are. If I had been killed, we wouldn’t be having this conversation, would we?” 
Brian shot him a rueful glance. “You have the mechanics of it mixed a little, but I suppose you are right, more or less.” 
A light of enthusiasm glowed behind the thick lenses of the round, wire-rimmed spectacles Ogilve wore. He made a wide, sweeping gesture to encompass their surroundings. “Well, then, where’s the harm? I’ve hardly begun. How awesome it is to be here, in the presence of this greatest of the Lancastrian kings. I have scanned the sarcophagus and found that Henry the Fifth was no larger than a boy of twelve in our home culture, but he had large, dense bones.”
“All well and good, Dr. Ogilve. But you can return after the war is over. Henry will still be here.
“Perhaps the 1960’s would be a good time,” Brian suggested. “The Warden in that particular era has made a personal hero of Henry the Fifth. He takes pride in pointing out to visitors that helmet, sword, and saddle up there on the beam above the head of the sarcophagus. They were used by Henry at the Battle of Agincourt.” 
Ogilve looked befuddled a moment. “I knew that. But, my allotted time is here and now,” he protested. Then, by way of a diversion, he waved his hand in the direction of the two-tiered sarcophagus of Edward III. “Now, there is a classic—and fitting—monument to the hopelessness of religious fanaticism.
“Notice the jewels and gold trim encrusting the upper tier of Edward’s final resting place? Bear with me a moment, I think you will appreciate this anecdote,” Ogilve added parenthetically. “When Oliver Cromwell reached his ascendancy, some of his Roundheads came to the Abbey in search of loot. They naturally found Edward’s sarcophagus and meticulously stripped all the jewels and gold off the lower half, as far up as a man could reach. So proud were they, being zealots, in their ‘God given ignorance,’ that not a one of them would exercise the thinking process enough to suggest getting a ladder to steal the rest. They were constitutionally incapable of even forming a human pyramid to do the deed.” Chuckling over the image he had created, Ogilve turned back to Brian.
“As I recall it,” Brian reminded Ogilve, not swayed from his original intent, “you were supposed to leave in May, before the bombing began.” 
Ogilve sighed resignedly. “You have me out there, young man. What can I say? I may not live long enough to return here at any time. Will you ... will you help me gather up my instruments?”
Brian and the doctor spent fifteen minutes putting various implements and tools in their cases. These they placed in a knapsack, which the archaeologist carried on his back when they departed.
 
 
 
Another taxi let Brian Moore and Dr. Weldon Ogilve out on the quay along the Thames. After the vehicle had belched smoke and stuttered its way off in search of new custom, Brian led the way to a run-down storefront two blocks away. Thick green moss and pewter lichen mottled the stones of the building. It had the look of long abandonment, though a cluster of cheery signs in one dust-hazed window advertised Continental Travel and encouraged the passersby to:
 
 
“HOLIDAY ON THE RIVIERA”
 
 
Brian directed the archaeologist through the doorway and past a bored-looking reservations clerk at one desk. The man did not even acknowledge their presence. Beyond that, a doorway gave onto a narrow hall. At the rear, Brian pointed out a flight of stone steps leading down. Ogilve preceded Brian down to the cellar. There he gave a conclusive, regretful shrug and cast Brian a glance that held his final, feeble ray of hope. 
“Well?” he asked plaintively.
“Go on, please,” Brian responded gently, 
With another shrug, Ogilve stepped forward, through a shimmering curtain ... and disappeared.




 
 
Time: 1105, GMT, June 12, 1940
Place: Time Station London,
Thameside, London, England 
 
 
A moment later, Brian Moore stepped around the portal of the Beamer and nodded to Vito Alberdi. “Good job,” he told the young Temporal Technician. “So now it’s Doctor Alberdi, eh?” His soft chuckle took any edge off his chiding. 
Vito Alberdi, his dark eyes sparkling with mischief, faked a sigh of relief and made a mock swipe at his light olive-skinned forehead. “I was beginning to wonder if you would get him here on time.”
Brian laughed outright. “What do you mean? We have all the time in the world.” He stepped to the Temporal Discrepancy Alert Computer terminal. It contained a complete historical log for the time period in which a Time Station was located. Constant time traveling energy signals linked it to computers in the far future. The TDACs continually searched for discrepancies between their own records and contemporary historical records. When a discrepancy was found, an alert sounded, and the computer furnished as much data as possible about the nature of the discrepancy. 
With relief, Brian noted that all ripples in the Wave of Change, created by Dr. Ogilve, had ceased to exist. All that remained were a few eddies that emanated from that Churchill thing. A slight frown creased his high forehead as Brian recalled when and why he had received this assignment as Resident Warden for the London Time Station. He had only returned the previous evening from an assignment in Elizabethan London.
 
 
Time: 0730, Warden Central Time
Place: Temporal Warden Central 
 
 
Early that morning, Steven Whitefeather—Brian’s name in his Home Culture (the 1880’s, Dakota Territory, USA)—received a summons to the Temporal Warden Central on his PC implant while taking a 3-D shower, called a Holosage in the vernacular. Steven/Brian listened while sprays of warm, blissfully soft, invigorating water surged against his body from above, below, and all sides. It cascaded off his muscular frame, taking with it the cleansing jell that had been applied by robotic hands, as the invitation unreeled. By the Great Spirit! How he loved it in this time and place.
“Deputy Director Gallubin requests the presence of Master Temporal Warden, Whitefeather, Steven, in the Alpha and Omega office of Temporal Center at 0930 hours,” a delightfully feminine voice whispered into the ear of the man who would become Brian Moore. It then repeated the message.
The Director had a worried expression on his face when Steven/Brian entered the office precisely on time. A neglected plate of blini sat on his desk. And he failed to greet his visitor with his usual tired, shopworn, standard joke. That had to mean something serious. Arkady Grigorovich Gallubin, a big, stout bear of a man who loved his blini and sour cream, appeared to be in his early fifties, with a big chest and belly, thick fingers, and a fringe of graying blond hair around a bald pate. This morning, he looked merely dejected. He wet thick lips and got right to the point. 
“It is 1939 and Winston Churchill has not been appointed to the Admiralty. That means he will not be made Prime Minister on May 10 of the next year.”
“But he was,” Steven/Brian protested. “Everyone knows that. The Paradox won’t allow...” He cut off further protest when Gallubin raised a staying hand. Steven brushed at the strip of militarily precise, sandy mustache on his upper lip and stared out the large Omega window behind the Director’s desk. 
“A report has just come in from London Time Station, circa 1946. The ripples in the Fabric of Time, as I’m sure you know, if you were paying attention to that day’s lecture at the Academy, are more intense the closer they are to the event: They displace more of Time than those farther along, which is the self-correcting effect they call the Paradox. According to our Resident, Churchill never became a member of the Defense Ministry and will not become Prime Minister in 1940. England will lose the war with Germany, and your United States will turn its back on Europe in order to prevail against the Japanese in the Pacific.”
“But, the Paradox Law ...” Whitefeather unconsciously repeated his earlier protest.
“Yes, yes, it will restore history,” Gallubin returned impatiently. “In general terms. But, extrapolating forward based on the data supplied by 1946 London, when the Change reaches here, there will be unalterable changes in the Present.” 
After being rescued from certain death on 1 December, 1890, at Wounded Knee Creek, South Dakota, Whitefeather had been brought forward to this Home Culture and recruited for the Temporal Warden Corps by his rescuer. He was a bright, curious boy of thirteen at the time, son of a Sioux war leader and a captive white mother. He went on to be graduated near the top of his class at the Temporal Warden Academy. Thus, he needed no more prompting.
“And I am to go back and take charge of eliminating the ripples?” 
Gallubin’s eyes twinkled. “That’s why I like you, Whitefeather. It may be a gift you inherited from your Red Indian ancestors, but you have the quick wits and wisdom of what we call in Russian a proetoy babushka, a—how you say?—grandmother of the common people.” One big palm enthusiastically slammed flat on the desk with a report like a small cannon. “That is exactly what you are to do. You will be sent back to take charge as Resident Warden. This will be before the discrepancy occurs. It is your present assignment to put your identity in place, and also to remove the impediment in Churchill’s path to 10 Downing Street. Then, you are to work your way into a position to see that history is righted, and also to protect any stray travelers that may come into danger.” 
“Do we know why Churchill is not in place, sir?” 
“Yes,” Gallubin told him. “It is supposed to be the doing of one Sir Rupert Cordise, a member of the House of Commons who is believed to be a Nazi sympathizer. He is also known to hate Churchill. Something to do with Winston’s father.” 
“Who will I be, sir?”
“Brian Moore. A rather interesting fellow, I’m sure you will find.”
First, Whitefeather went to the Language lab to have his Elizabethan RNA language implants dissolved and others, for the English of 1940, installed. He listened to an extensive briefing on proper costuming, class divisions, how to order in a restaurant, and other aspects of British society while he went to the Medical Facility to receive his inoculations for the common diseases of the period he would occupy, including smallpox. He then outfitted himself with the proper period clothing at Central Wardrobe. To his regret this new assignment made him miss a lunch date with a lovely Temporal Warden friend named Dianna Basehart. Even so, Whitefeather had everything he needed assembled by 1330 hours and departed for the past.
 
 
Time: 1721, GMT, February 23, 1938
Place: Outskirts of Lichfield, 
Staffordshire, England
 
 
Using the Warden Central Beamer, Brian Moore abruptly appeared outside the small town of Lichfield in Leicestershire. Crusts of rotting snow hugged the north side of everything. He congratulated himself for the forethought of selecting a thick, warm topcoat. For all his many journeys through time, Brian could not avoid the sense of unreality and dislocation that came with being at a point in time before he “officially” existed in the future. And, to be here and in the future of 1939-40 London at the same time. Paradox of paradoxes! Yet with the Temporal Collision Avoidance Fields (TCAFs) and Personal Time Travel Devices (PTTDs) it was all paradoxically possible.
Although contemplation of all that did not give Brian Moore a headache, it did highly motivate him to go in search of a pint of bitter. He found it close at hand, in the form of the John Bull, obviously a pub with an owner who totally lacked imagination or originality. 
“I’ll take a pint of Watney’s.”
“Stout? Or pale ale?” the barman demanded, a fishy eye on this somewhat overdressed patron for his establishment. 
“The ale,” Brian told him. 
“Grrrumph!” Which conveyed his opinion of those who ordered the milder flavored brew. It also implied his own preference might be for Guinness.
Brian looked around the pub and sifted his options on his first course of action. To begin with, he decided, he needed to find out what and where he had to plant the “documentation” for Brian Moore. A vacant booth with a dim, twenty-five-watt bulb in a shaded wall sconce caught his eye. When the barman delivered Brian’s ale, he paid for it and crossed to the empty banquette.
Once settled, he tore open the envelope and quickly discovered some surprising things about “himself.” Brian Moore was a peer of the realm, a baronet, the lowest rank of knighthood; an ex-RAF pilot, a squadron leader, invalided out because of burns suffered in a flaming crash of his Sopwith Camel in 1936. Hummm, that could cover nicely for the scar on the back of his left hand, Brian thought. The scar covered his Trac Link, a device that allowed him to be located by Warden Central anywhere or any when on earth.
There were also medical reports, a glowing recommendation from his wing commander, and school records. Affixed to them was an adhesive-backed note sheet written in Gallubin’s fine, precise script.
These are to go into a file folder for Brian Moore in the personnel office at Heddington Aerodrome outside Birmingham. Good luck.
Good luck, indeed, the new Brian grumbled in his head. To do that, he would have to get onto the base. Gauging the weight, he shook the envelope and out dropped two additional items. One a set of medical leave papers and the other a lapel pin replica of a RAF pilot’s wings. The star that surmounted the propeller hub indicated a senior pilot. He slid a finger around the celluloid of his white shirt. Well, he would see about that, come tomorrow. Brian downed his ale and departed to find an out-of-the-way hotel for the night.
 
 
Time: 0800, GMT, February 24, 1938
Place: Heddington Aerodrome,
Staffordshire, England
 
 
Brian arrived at the gate of Heddington Aerodrome the next morning in a hire car he had arranged for through the hotel. He presented his papers to the sentry, who studied them and looked up inquisitively.
“Medical checkup,” Brian told him in a crisp, upper-class accent. 
“Very well, sir. Please drive on. I’m sure you know where the hospital is located.” 
Brian didn’t, but he figured he could work it out. He drove along the main thoroughfare of the encampment until he saw a white signboard with a large red cross in a circle and an arrow pointing to the right. He turned, grumbling again at the British custom of right-hand-drive vehicles. His breath fogged the windscreen. Brian parked in one of several empty slots and entered the hospital. At the reception desk, he handed his file folder to a white-coated corporal.
“Yes, sir?”
“Captain Brian Moore. In for a routine checkup.”
“Yes, sir,” the receptionist responded, glancing at a roster neatly typed on a sheet of paper before him. “Sorry, sir, I don’t see you listed.”
“I’ve been out two years, Corporal. I was in the area and thought I should pop in for a look-see.”
“Very well, sir. Down the hall to the outpatient waiting room.”
On the way, Brian passed an office with a brass name placard that identified it as that of Brigadier Sir Bradley Collings, the chief medical officer. He made note of this and proceeded to a large room with wooden benches, filled with men with various sorts of injuries. Brian waited until the reception clerk was occupied with other details, then went in search of the records section. 
He found it with little difficulty. Brian opened the door and came up short when he discovered a young woman in the uniform of an RAF WAFC. She looked up at him inquisitively.
Brian waved a friendly hand and backed out of the room. “Sorry, wrong office. I was looking for Brigadier Collings.” He produced an embarrassed smile while she gave him directions.
Brian made his hasty way to the waiting room and found the canteen directly beyond. He ordered a cup of tea, which was served in a huge, thick-walled, handleless mug. The obsidian contents steamed vigorously. He returned to a vantage point where he could watch until the female clerk left the records section.
Brian waited through two cups of the powerful tea, which gave him a terrific jolt from the unaccustomed caffeine. At last he perked up when the young WAFC woman exited. Brian remained in place until she disappeared around a corner in the corridor. Then he went directly to the files section and inserted his invented file in the proper place under M. That accomplished, he left the hospital through a side entrance.
 
 
Time: 0710, GMT, February 25, 1938
Place: Train to London,
Near Dunstable, Buckinghamshire, England
 
 
Brian journeyed to London by rail, on the Morning Mail. He had always liked travel by train, especially steam locomotives. This day, however, he soon found he had made a poor choice in trains. The big Birmingham Locomotive Works 2-6-64 barely had time to reach running speed before slowing again, to stop at every jerkwater town to take on and leave off mail. He sighed as he felt the deceleration once again and the conductor walked the cars, braying the station they approached.
“Dunsteble! DUN—steble, next stop. Mind your parcels. Ladies, mind your brollies.”
Brian wondered what a brolly was until he saw that nearly every woman who detrained immediately opened a brightly colored parasol. Which reminded him to pay extremely close attention to what people said. In spite of his Cultural Implant, he still had a whole new set of colloquial expressions to learn.
 
 
Time: 1416, GMT, February 25, 1938 
Place: Time Station London,
Thameside, London, England
 
 
He reached London in mid-afternoon. The streets swarmed with people, and he had twice to stop for directions to the Thames Quay and the address of the Time Station. When he entered the dusty travel agency, he made a covert gesture to the shirtsleeved “reservations clerk” behind the counter and was waved on. 
Down in the cellar, he was confronted by a very Italian-looking young man with curly black hair, obsidian eyes, full, generous lips, and a Bust-of-Caesar nose. This individual rose with fluid grace and extended a hand.
“You must be Brian Moore. Here to set up shop, I suppose, from what Arkady sent me,” he declared. “I’m Vito Alberdi.”
Brian took the offered hand. “Glad to meet you. Actually, I have a little job needs taking care of before I settle in. Right now, I need to look at your history log.”
Alberdi blinked. “I know this takes some getting used to, but I suppose it’s old hat to you. What happens when you do show up next month? Will I know you’ve been here before?”
Brian smiled to soften what could be a harsh comment. “Did you sleep through your Timeline lectures? Interventions are self-eliminating. You won’t remember it, and neither will I. Because, once I complete my mission, correct the glitch in Time, and the wave of correction reaches the now of the future, the time mission itself will no longer exist. Then, I’ll show up next month, take charge, and that’s it. That’s the gist of it. Actually, Vito, the temporal mechanics of it are too complex for me to recall in detail. Now, let me at that log.”
Brian’s reference to mechanics pertained to the theories in physics and the new science of temporal mechanics that allowed the Beamers and Personal Time Travel Devices to work. Beamers were power-gluttons, large, sophisticated, semi-permanent devices. Although they could be modified to many different forms, the usual application came in the form of a “booth,” surrounded by a containment field. The time traveler simply entered the booth, the field was activated, and he or she disappeared, to materialize in the whenever. PTTDs could be considered personal timecycles. Using one allowed an individual Time Warden to travel back and forth through time at will. Much smaller than a Beamer, which generally had the area of a small bathroom, the PTTD could be altered to appear as almost any object, so long as it was roughly the size of a small motorcycle or a Volkswagen Beetle.
Brian made a careful, detailed study of the current Timeline. It revealed no reason why Winston Churchill should still be a “gentleman farmer,” rather than appointed to the Admiralty. Nothing seemed out of order, but, of course, it would not. Worry lines formed white crescents at the outer edges of Brian’s eyes when he completed his research. He pulled out a chair, reversed it, and sat with arms folded on the backrest, chin on his hands. At last he opened up about his mission to Vito.
With precise, carefully chosen words, Brian explained the situation involving the future Prime Minister. By the time he had completed his description of events, his subconscious weighed in with a reasonable course of action.
“Well, that’s it, then,” he announced. “I will have to place this Cordise under surveillance.”
 
 
Time: 2153 GMT, February 28, 1938
Place: Manchester’s, Foley Square,
London, England
 
 
Sir Rupert Cordise, resplendent in white tie and tails, sat at his ease at a lavish table covered with snowy napery, highly polished silver, matching candlesticks, and the finest delft china. The only things that spoiled this Beau Brummell appearance were his small, mean, close-set eyes and shockingly pink, bald pate. Across from him, poised with a gloved hand on the table, sat an attractive young woman, whom Cordise had entertained at dinner.
Actually, she’s quite lovely, Brian Moore thought as he observed them unobtrusively from an alcove. An ice bucket, which contained a bottle of Mumm’s Cordon Bleu, was brought to their table by an obsequious waiter. The slightly effeminate, white-jacketed young man uncorked the champagne and poured a little into one tulip glass and handed it to Cordise. The dapper peer, his pencil line of black mustache wriggling with the effort, sipped and sampled. He formed his features into an expression of supreme distaste and glowered at the waiter.
“By the Lord Harry!” he boomed. “Haven’t you anything decent in this place?”
Startled, the youthful server stammered. “Y-yes, s-s-sir. We have a nice Laffitte Rothchild. A ’31.” 
“Then bring it, lad. And see you don’t dawdle.”
With dispatch, the nearly priceless bottle of wine appeared at tableside. Cordise sampled again, smacked his lips, and declared it acceptable. Brian waited impatiently—this was his third day of watching Cordise—while they drank their fill. Cordise patted thick lips with his napkin, came to his feet, and assisted the young lady to rise. Grandly they strolled from the dining room, without the waiter ever making an effort to present a check. Brian followed close behind.
When the couple exited the elegant restaurant, Brian worked his way close enough to be within hearing. Cordise’s remarks raised the hairs on the back of Brian’s neck.
“I’m terribly sorry, my dear. But I regret I will not be able to keep our luncheon appointment tomorrow.”
Affecting a pout, his companion spoke sweetly. “But, why, Rupert? I had so counted on it.”
Sir Rupert tut-tutted a bit, wet his lips, and went on in a lower tone, which Brian had to strain to hear. “There is this terribly important debate on the floor of the House tomorrow that I simply must attend.”
“Oh, pooh on the House.” She made the word sound like something disagreeable. “Mumsy is so counting on our being there.”
Cordise cleared his throat in a rumble and clashed his bushy, black eyebrows together in a mock scowl. “Your mother’s expectations will have to take second place to affairs of state. The whole future of England depends on our deliberations tomorrow.”
To Brian’s surprise, the young woman giggled as she reached up and patted Rupert’s lapel. “Oh, Rupie, you’re so cute when you get like that. She’ll be angry, she’ll pout, but I’ll just ring her up and tell her I will come alone.”
What a vacuum-head, Brian thought.
Cordise raised a hand and summoned a hansom cab. “Cavendish Square,” he told the man at the reins.
Brian followed them to the young woman’s residence, then Cordise to his home, on Kings Mews, off Bayswater Road, in North-West One, a place he had become entirely too familiar with over the past few days.
 
 
Time: 2223, GMT, February 28, 1938
Place: Apartment of Brian Moore,
Threadneedle Street, London, England
 
 
In his rented room off Threadneedle Street, Brian Moore spent most of what remained of the night going through recent newspapers. If Cordise considered tomorrow’s debate of importance enough to cancel a date with so beautiful, if scatter-brained, a young woman, the Temporal Warden wanted to know the subject of that deliberation. His eyes felt like burn holes in a carpet when he at last came upon three articles, written over a period of as many days, that enlightened and energized him. 
“What’s this?” he asked himself aloud. 
The first read: Fierce debate rages in the House of Commons over the re-appointment of Winston Churchill to a post in the Admiralty. The second gave more detail and added: Opposition to Mr. Churchill is being directed by Sir Rupert Cordise, Labour Member from the Cotswold District. MP, Sir Rupert, to the hisses and calls of ‘Shame! Shame!’ from across the aisle, contends that Mr. Churchill made a shambles of his first turn in office and will most probably do likewise this time. The most recent, from that day, stated that debate was expected to close and a vote taken within the next two days. It all left Brian in a dark mood. Whatever he did, he would need the assistance of the others at London Station. He might as well, he decided, go there and get started now.




 
 
Time: 0300, GMT, March 2, 1938
Place: Time Station, Thameside
London, England
 
 
“The hell of it is, Vito, Frank, I cannot simply kill Cordise outright. The history log shows him still alive in 1941.” It was three in the morning and Brian had not slept at all. 
Vito came back encouragingly, “Is he present after that?”
“Not that I could find. Of course, I didn’t make a thorough search. It could simply be that he left government and faded into obscurity. I’ve been wrestling with my brain, and my conscience truth to be told, ever since I found out Cordise thinks the vote will come today. Somehow, we have to keep him from being there, short of putting him in a grave.”
Frank Matsumoto, security man for Time Station London, nodded thoughtfully. Vito produced a wicked grin. “There are a lot of ways to keep a man from going to work on any given day.”
Exasperated, Brian spoke back urgently. “But don’t you see? We have to keep him away long enough for the vote to be taken so that it goes our way.” 
“I say we kill him. That’s the easiest.”
“No, Vito! We can’t. It would disrupt the Timeline.”
Vito shrugged. “Whatever you say. You’re the boss.” 
Matsumoto prompted Brian. “What did you have in mind?” 
Brian calmed himself, thought over what he had been outlining in his head. “All right, this may sound complicated, but here’s what we should do.”
 
 
Time: 0830 GMT, March 3, 1938 
Place: Haddington Mews, off Kensington Way,
London, England
 
 
Precisely at 8:30 that morning, the Bentley belonging to Sir Rupert Cordise coughed politely and quietly into life and rolled serenely down the long, circular drive in front of the marble-faced brick town residence. The gatekeeper swung wide one half of the tall, wrought-iron barrier, and the second most dignified automobile in England poked its chrome and matte black nose onto Haddington Circle in the direction of Kensington Way. 
Immediately the vehicle straightened out and the driver increased speed to a stately twenty miles an hour. In the back, Sir Rupert opened his morning edition of the Times of London. A steaming cup of Earl Gray tea sat at peace in a wooden rack in front of him. 
At the third intersection beyond the residence of Sir Rupert, a hired lorry hurtled through the stop sign and rammed into the rear door of the Bentley. The two vehicles collided with such force that the opposite door flew open and Sir Rupert catapulted out to land painfully on the paving stones. His head took a nasty crack at the same moment that the truck backed away with a savage screech of metal, steered around the crippled automobile, and sped away.
A moment later, Brian Moore appeared on the scene, suitably disguised to hide his true identity and to project the reality of what he said to the still-dazed driver.
“I’m a doctor, can you hear me? Do you understand what I am saying?” He received only grunts and mutters. “Here, my man, rest your head on the back of the seat and remain perfectly still. I am afraid your employer has been seriously injured.” Then Brian turned to face Frank Matsumoto, who was likewise disguised, at the forefront of a small clutch of persons who had been called from their homes by the violence of the crash. 
“You sir, I say, would you be so kind as to summon an ambulance?”
“Yes, of course, right away,” Frank deftly delivered his lines and turned away smartly to trot out of sight.
Brian rounded the mangled Bentley and knelt at the side of Sir Rupert. Well-versed in medical techniques far in advance of the era, he quickly determined, with relief, that the injuries suffered by the traitorous peer were not fatal. While Brian examined him, Cordise moved one arm feebly and groaned. A little harder and you would have had your way, Vito, he thought.
With a square of gauze from his black doctor’s bag, Brian covered a patch of torn bald pate that oozed blood. Relief washed over Brian as he determined that Cordise would be around to meet that destiny in 1941, whatever that would be. The rumble of an eight-cylinder, in-line engine drew his attention. The ambulance they had arranged for in advance had arrived. 
Vito, dressed now in a white medical jacket and trousers, a mustache in place under his nose, dismounted and went to the rear, along with Frank Matsumoto, their security man, who had also changed his appearance. From the rear they extracted a gurney and snapped the folding legs into place. Briskly they approached the downed Cordise.
“Gently, now, gently,” Brian urged as the two Time agents bent to lift Sir Rupert onto the starched sheet that covered the wheeled stretcher. “He may have internal injuries. Load him and then see to the driver. I will ride with the patients to the hospital.”
In an efficient five minutes, the scene had been cleared of all but the wounded Bentley. With blue light flashing and two-tone horn tootling, the ambulance sped away before anyone in the small gathering of the curious heard its destination. 
 
 
Time: 1745, GMT, June 12, 1940 
Place: The Warrington Club, Grosvenor Square, 
London, England
 
 
Brian Moore sat in the smoking lounge of the Warrington, the gentlemen’s club of Admiral Lord Walter Cuthbert-Hobbs, KOB, director of MI-5. Brian’s superior at the Home Office, Sir Hugh Montfort, KBE, was with them. A large Atwater-Kent console radio against one wall crackled with static while those in the room smoked cigars and sipped at their brandy.
Brian had a warm, comfortable glow, brought on by the excellent steak and kidney pie, sautéed mushrooms, asparagus, and plentiful claret wine they had consumed, followed by bread pudding in brandy sauce. His pleasure diminished a moment later when a shrill voice fought through the atmospheric disturbance.
“... Unser Führer, Adolf Hitler ... Sieg Heil! ... Sieg Heil!”
Several of the gentlemen present cursed explosively, and muttered imprecations about the invasion of the Low Countries, Brian noted. When the invisible audience finished its wildly frantic cheering, another voice, equally high-pitched, though strangely hypnotic, came from the speaker.
“Sie, das Deutschen Volk, das Neues Welt Ordnung sind!”

More wild cheering, while Brian translated in a low voice. “’You, the German people, are the New World Order.’”
Lord Walter rumbled threateningly, then let his bile erupt. “God blast that bloody Austrian upstart.”
Meanwhile, Hitler went on, telling his audience that while the Wehrmacht today unleashed the Blitzkrieg on a tottering remnant of France, “’the British are being severely pummeled by our glorious Luftwaffe,’” Brian translated for those in the room who did not speak German. “’While our brave German soldiers advance across France, eager to cross the English Channel and wring an accounting out of that Nation of Shopkeepers, who so humiliated our mighty German state after the last war ...”
“Thank God that Winnie is PM now,” Lord Walter interrupted with feeling. “This war’s barely ten months old, with that wishy-washy Chamberlain sitting with his thumb up his arse the first eight of it. Now things will change. Winnie will show those Huns what for, by God.”
“You know,” Sir Hugh observed lightly, “it might be that God had a far heavier hand in the selection of Prime Minister last month than you think. Had old Cordise not been in that automobile smashup, it very likely would have been that Winston would not have entered the Admiralty, and would have never been in line for Prime Minister.”
Lord Walter nodded enthusiastic agreement. “Quite right, Hugh. Back then the editorial columns were still waxing warm over that ‘Peace in our times’ rot Chamberlain brought back from Munich. It took the invasion of Poland last September to open some eyes.”
Sir Hugh reached for his brandy snifter. “Well, from where I sit, it is not all that rosy now. Not with those Luftwaffe blighters stepping up their bombing. Yet I’m willing to say let Hitler come. Winston will stop him cold. We could see an end to this war by the start of 1941.”
Lord Walter beetled his brows. “That all depends on what happens in France and the Benelux nations, doesn’t it?”
When Hitler’s rambling address ended, most of the men strolled out to the billiard room or card tables. Sir Hugh pinned Brian with a glance, then directed his gaze to Lord Walter.
“I must say I am quite impressed by young Brian here, your lordship. He did rather well at rounding up five of those bloody Nazi agents so quickly, considering he’s only been in the Service for a year and a half now.” 
“Dangerous times make for rapid promotion, you know, eh, Hugh?” 
“Quite right, Walter. Yet there must be more of those blighters out there to provide that bloody paperhanger with such accurate details of this afternoon’s raid.”
Encouraged by the praise, Brian spoke for the first time other than translating or trivialities. “Thank you for your confidence, Sir Hugh. And you’re quite right. There have to be plenty still out there. Apologizing for the stray bomb in Westminister Abbey gardens was the clincher.”
“Quite astute, young man,” Lord Walter declared. “There is an excess of that Nazi scum to deal with.” He nodded to Sir Hugh. 
Hugh Montfort took his cue. “I’m sure you will have more of the same on your plate soon enough, Brian.”
 
 
Time: 0745, GMT, June 13, 1940
Place: MI-5 Offices, Coventry,
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Seated at a spartan metal desk in the room that few knew existed behind the Warwickshire Royal Movers’ Service (By Appointment of HRM George V) in front, Samantha Trillby worked at decrypting a message sent from London earlier in the day. Located eighty miles from London, Coventry was far enough from headquarters to have a Home Office branch of its own. Although, until the onset of war the previous September, the primary function had been to keep track of and recruit from the university students. A smile blossomed on her face when she recognized the familiar turn of phrase that identified the sender as Brian Moore.
He will be here tomorrow, Samantha realized with a start. And, bloody hell, she wanted so badly to have her hair done before their dinner engagement. How strange, she mused with another enigmatic smile, falling in love with the boss. Undirected, she set the message form aside and thought back over the past six months, when she had gone to work as a field agent for the Home Office of MI-5. After training, she had been put under the direction of Brian Moore.
She had to admit that she had been attracted to him from the start. 
 
 
Time: 0730, GMT, January 3, 1940
Place: MI-5 Offices, Bayswater Road,
London, England
 
 
“Miss Trillby, is it?” Brian Moore asked over the sheaf of papers in one hand and the horn-rimmed glasses perched on the tip of his nose. 
“Uh—yes. Lieutenant Trillby, as a matter of fact, reporting for duty as ordered, sir.”
Brian’s gray-green gaze roved up and down the length of her, a pleased smile spreading on his face as he did. At least, he thought, she had the forethought to dress in street clothes. Her military bearing stood out entirely too clearly for all of that. He forced a wider smile to remove the criticism from his words.
“That’s the last time you will use that term of reference, Lieutenant. We’re all civilians here, right? This is an engineering firm, right? Oh, by the way, relax your posture some, what? It wouldn’t do to have a civil engineer’s secretary who wasn’t round-shouldered from typing, would it?”
That brought out her smile. She relaxed from the rigid position of attention she had assumed when reporting and opened her feet by a half step. He gestured to a tea caddy in one corner. 
“It’s fresh. Would you like a cup?”
Samantha found herself grinning in a sappy way that reminded her of colts she had seen in her childhood who had been kicked in the head by one or another horse. “I’d kill for one,” said the new agent.
Brian gave her a bleak smile. “In this business, you might have to, some time or another. I’m sorry, it’s only English Breakfast. Wigglesby could find nothing else at the commissary.”
“Wigglesby, sir?” Stop acting stupid, Samantha reprimanded herself.
“My driver. Warrant Officer Second Wigglesby, He’s a Pearlyman and proud of it. Doesn’t take his promotion seriously, wants us to call him Sergeant.”
Samantha’s high, youth-smooth forehead creased with concentration. “Would that be the same Wigglesby as in Wigglesby Cockles and Chips?”
Brian raised an eyebrow, surprised by this arcane piece of knowledge on her part. “The same. His wife and mother run the stand.”
“And good it is. I stop there for a twist of cockles and chips every time I come to London. The best anywhere.”
Brian looked a little uncomfortable. “I’ve never partaken. To me, snails are snails, even if they come from the bottom of the sea.”
Samantha’s tinkling laughter shook the close-cropped auburn locks that framed a closely fit cap over her well-shaped head. She pinned Brian with sparkling hazel eyes. “You’ll have to come with me sometime. I’ll introduce you to the fine art of enjoying steamed cockles.”
He took it as the challenge it was meant to be. “If you can accomplish that—my appreciation, that is—I’ll put you in for captain.”
Her generous, wide, smiling mouth formed a straight line for a moment. Then she quirked up one corner. “Deal?” 
Brian studied her shapely figure, nicely presented in a two-piece woman’s suit and—he noticed—a pair of real silk stockings over well-turned legs. “Done. And I’ll be fair. If I do learn to like cockles, I’ll admit it.”
Sweetness and light spilled from Samantha. “Now, you’re the sort of boss I’ll like working for. Where do I start?”
“For the next few days, I would like for you to review the files on Nazi agents already apprehended. Give you an idea of how we work in the field as opposed to the textbook solution.”
Her wit and humor again broke through. “Oh-ho! Are you implying that we spies do not go by the book like His Majesty’s Coldstream Guard?”
Brian laughed. “Exactly. Only one error. We’re counterspies, Trillby.”
“Please, if I’m not being too bold, please call me Samantha.” 
It had started there, though neither of them had been aware of it. Gradually, their working arrangement had metamorphosed into a personal relationship, then into a romance. At the end of the first week, Brian had asked her out to dinner.
The blackout-draped windows of the buildings along the way made navigation difficult for their cabbie, yet he found the restaurant easily. After a delightful meal, Brian suggested a couple of hours of dancing. Samantha registered her surprise at once.
“Where? With the blackout, and a possible raid, no one goes out much, surely. We don’t in Coventry.”
“Not to fear, Samantha, The nightspot I’m thinking of is in the subbasement of a large commercial firm. Actually, it’s the canteen for MI-5, but you’ll enjoy yourself, I promise you that.”
They saw each other at least once a week after that. Five weeks after Samantha had joined the Home Office, she reciprocated with dinner in Coventry, her assigned post, since she had lived there all her life. They ate in the best hotel dining room, then strolled around the town. The ancient cathedral stood stolidly against the stark January sky. They talked, and Brian’s hand stole over and took hers. She suggested a nightcap at her place.
That night they made love for the first time and slept together in her narrow bed. Brian drove back to London the next morning, feeling lighter and more refreshed than in months, although he had enjoyed only three hour’s sleep. They had been lovers ever since, and Samantha had no regrets. 
 
 
Time: 0759, GMT, June 13, 1940
Place: MI-5 Offices, Coventry, 
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Her hair be damned, she thought in irritation. She certainly would not tell Brian to stay away over something that insignificant.
 
 
Time: 1720, GMT, June 13, 1940
Place: The Blind Goose Pub, Coventry
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Smoke swirled in thick eddies under the darkened beams of a Coventry pub named the Blind Goose as Sergeant Wendall Foxworth, an enlisted pilot in a Hawker Hurricane squadron of the RAF, eyed a particularly attractive young Home Guard air raid warden. She had stopped in to check the blackout curtains. His inspection completed, he bent his head to a fellow pilot. 
“Coor, she has a lovely turn of leg, does she not?”
“Aye,” replied the sergeant beside him. “But she’s much too fine for the likes of us, what?”
Foxworth pulled a face. “I’d not be so sure of that, Kip. That pixie face, pug nose, an’ them freckles tells me she’s a right one for a good party. ‘Ter all, she’s about our age. And we are pilots, right?”
“I have a fiver says you’ll not get more than a hullo outta that one. She’s officer bait, she is.”
“Done, Kip. I’ll use your five quid to take her out to dinner.”
“You’re a confident sod, Wendall, Done, then.”
Sgt. Foxworth turned a sappy, inviting smile on her and received one in return, along with a wink. He cut his sky-blue eyes to his companion Kip and hoisted his pint to his lips. Slowly he produced a smile before quaffing of the brew. He made a signal to the barman for another round.
Wendall and Kip played a round of darts while she went about her duties. A laughing Wendall accepted the one pound note from his companion when he made “Outs,” having gone down to an exact 0 from 300. When she had made her inspection, Wendall Foxworth signaled for her to come over to where he stood at the bar.
“Hullo,” she said in a low, throaty voice. 
“Hello to you.” Foxworth beamed in a total lack of originality. “I’m Wendall Foxworth. I’m a pilot with the Thirty-four Squadron at Hamphill.”
She eyed him coolly. “Oh, really?” 
“Um—yes. Enlisted pilot, that is. Sergeant Foxworth.”
“Sandy Hammond. As you can see, I’m in the Home Guard.”
“Yes. And the loveliest Home Guard I’ve encountered. Most are potbellied old men, don’t you see?”
She joined his laughter, then sobered. “What is it you wanted?”
“Well—ah—what I really had in mind was to ask if you’d return, after your rounds are finished, and have a pint of bitter with me.”
Sandy seemed to consider that a moment, then smiled cheerily and nodded in the affirmative. “I’d be delighted.”
After she departed, Foxworth turned to Kip and extended his hand, palm up. “I’ll take that fiver now, if you don’t mind.”




 
 
Time: 0745, GMT, June 14, 1940
Place: MI-5 Offices, Bayswater Road,
London, England
 
 
Early the next morning, Brian had only settled himself behind his desk, his mahogany-stained tea mug steaming beside his blotter frame, when his sophisticated pager went off. Designed some five centuries in the future, it was tied into the historical log system and discreetly announced a summons to Temporal Warden Control. Odd, he reflected, Resident Wardens were rarely recalled, once established in their selected time period and locale.
A quick glance at his appointment calendar showed a blank morning. Might as well do it now. He retrieved his bowler and umbrella from their proper places and stepped out into the reception area. He stopped short. It appeared Sgt. Parkhurst had become embroiled with a rather pushy tradesman. Brian stepped forward and fixed his gaze on the offensive man in coveralls, bearing a clipboard.
“I’m sorry,” Sally Parkhurst was saying insistently, “you cannot have the correct address. We did not order a plumber, and I am not going to pass you through to talk to the supervising director.”
Taking a bold step forward, the visitor insolently patted Sgt. Parkhurst on one cheek. “And who might he be, sweet face?”
“I am he,” Brian stepped into the exchange to announce.
Quickly the burly tradesman sized up Brian. A bit under six feet, not bulked up whatever, a sissy, upper-class face. No problem here. Snarl a bit and the little twit will scurry out of here in a wink. He extended a big splayed hand and gave Brian a one-finger shove to the middle of the chest.
“Buzz off, Jock-o. This bird an’ me’s just getting friendly. She’s gonna let me in to see the boss, an’ after I’m gonna fix her plumbing for her.”
Brian kept his voice low, unnaturally calm under the circumstances. “Do not touch me again.”
“Or what? You’ll cry and run off to Mummy?” He emphasized his insult with a sneer and another shove.
Suddenly the impudent tradesman found how seriously flawed had been his earlier estimation. He no sooner had touched the poof’s chest than he went flying across the room.
Extreme pain exploded in the area of his elbow and he realized, in a terrifying moment before he hit the wall headfirst, that his arm was broken. Daylight rapidly receded, along with the pain ... for the time being.
Brian made a quick search of the unconscious man. He carried no identification, though Brian found a suppressed Walther PP. He turned back to Parkhurst. “It appears we have a Nazi assassin on our hands. Have Wigglesby come up and dispose of that garbage,” he instructed.
Sally Parkhurst wore an expression of awe and unease. “Lor’ love a duck, Colonel. I’ve never seen anything quite like that.”
Brian shrugged it off. “Some commando muck-up they taught us at the RAF flight school.”
Actually, it had been one of the more basic moves in Guai Gee Do, a highly proficient, advanced martial art of the far future. Brian tapped the empty file trays on Parkhurst’s desk. 
“We’ve nothing on for this morning. Why don’t you close up shop and take some time for lunch with that Tank Corps friend of yours?”
Sally Parkhurst blushed furiously. “Y-you mean, you know about him, Colonel? I—I’m terribly sorry.” 
“You shouldn’t be. I understand he’s quite dashing in those high boots and leather tank helmet.”
“You—you’ve quite undone me, Colonel. Though I am grateful. Yes, I think I will. Are Tony and Hank coming in?”
“Later today, yes.” 
“Good, then. I’ll not worry about them showing up and not finding me here.”
They parted with a friendly wave. Downstairs, Brian raised his brolly imperiously to summon a cab. Not a soul passing on the street would have considered him other than an upper-class barrister or some lesser nobleman. Certainly not from his dark, expensive, three-piece pin-striped suit; snowy shirt; celluloid collar; and regimental tie. He would have to stop at his flat and change before going on to the London Time Station. His present garb would attract far too much—and unwanted—attention.
 
 
Time: 0820, Warden Central Time
Place: Temporal Warden Central
 
 
Brian Moore stepped through the shimmering curtain into a room that, except for the bulk of the Beamer, looked entirely different from the London Time Station from which he had departed. Ranks of electronic equipment lined walls painted a soft green. Indirect light gave a soft though bright illumination from above. The hum and click of equipment weighted the air. He greeted Isai Takamoto, the Temporal Technician on duty, and crossed the laboratory-like, immaculately clean area to a door that automatically irised open at his approach.
Down the hall, he went through a routine security check. Retinal pattern, DNA match, and voice print were all evaluated before giving him access to the office of his boss, Deputy Director of the Temporal Warden Corps, Arkady Grigorovich Gallubin. As always, Brian could not avoid being impressed by the spectacular view of the delicate, gleaming white spires and towers of this Future Culture city, seen through the large Omega window behind Gallubin’s desk.
Opposite it, at the far end, was the Alpha window, which looked out on a far more mundane vista—the military-like barracks of the Temporal Wardens, and beyond that, the wide, square hover pads of the space port that served the orbiting shuttles. The monthly Mars shuttle was on final approach as Brian entered. Gallubin smiled expansively and shoved a forkful of blini into his mouth, then greeted Brian. 
“Eto dobro, Whitefeather, right on time.” Then he laughed at his badly shopworn joke. His complexion, usually ruddy from too much vodka, had a pale, waxen quality today, “Come, sit down. You would like some blini? Yes? No?”
“I would prefer a blood-rare bison steak, about two inches thick, if possible.”
Arkady made a shocked face, the twinkle deserting his ice-blue eyes. “Real meat? No one is that barbarian. You come close to making me ill.”
Brian suppressed a smirk. “They still do in the North American area. The Old Ones were right, the buffalo have come back. There are thousands of acres devoted to feeding bison for market. Bison has the most protein per gram and is the most easily metabolized.”
Arkady looked genuinely ill. He raised a thick-fingered hand to ward off any further such talk. “No. Please. Stop this. Eating meat is ... is obscene, and it’s illegal.”
Smiling, Whitefeather corrected his boss. “It is here in the Euro-Republic. North America rejected that regulation centuries go. Actually, bison’s quite tasty. It makes you strong. Maybe that’s why there are so many Americans in the Corps? And remember,” he added with a droll expression, “I ate bison almost exclusively for the first thirteen years of my life. Now, seriously, you didn’t send for me to discuss vegetarianism. What is the problem?”
When Arkady had recovered himself from the stark recollection of the thin, amber-skinned, big-eyed little boy who stood before him fifteen years ago, dressed in moccasins, loincloth, skin shirt and elk hide robe, he quickly explained. “You are to have a new assignment; no, not quite right. Another assignment, in addition to your usual duties.” Brian lifted a quizzical eyebrow. Arkady enlightened him. “You are to look into the illegal activities of certain rogue time travelers. They have gotten their hands on a bootleg Beamer and are using it to loot valuables from businesses, churches, and museums in wartime England, France, and other countries, before they can be bombed out.”
Brian frowned into Arkady’s pause. “A Beamer consumes enormous amounts of energy. Haven’t you been able to trace it from this end?” 
“No. It probably came from the Trans-Amazonia Free State, where so much bootleg equipment originated.”
Personal irritation at the intransigences of the mostly Native South American citizens of the old Trans-Amazonia Free State flared up in Steve Whitefeather/Brian Moore. Damn it, his people could have had it that way, instead of being the Province of Trans-Mississippi, of the North American Republic, only one subordinate entity of nine Regional provinces of that autonomous state. Yes, the Crow, the Cheyenne, his own Sioux, not to mention the Navajo, Hopi, and what remained of the Five Civilized Tribes, could have had it all, from coast to coast in what had been the contiguous forty-eight states of the old United States. Trans-Amazonia had been a power unto itself, as they could have been. His displeasure took an odd form.
“What good was the planetary government that allowed freebooters to set up their own nation and run it by their rules?” The anger fairly buzzed in his words.
Conscious of an explosive humor in his prize agent, Arkady adopted a prim composure. “It worked excellently for Mars. And for Luna.”
“Yes, but they were colonized a hundred years after the World Federation of Republics government ceased to exist.” Brian took a deep breath, regained control as he let it out in a long hiss. “All right. You were telling me about my new assignment?”
“Yes. These rogue travelers are highly organized and utterly voracious in their hunger for the priceless artifacts and works of art lost in the Battle of Britain. Some of them are also selling British ‘secrets’ to the Germans,” Arkady continued. 
“One of them in particular. A young woman whose identity we have not yet pinned down in the present or the past. She is involved in something that could create a very damaging Paradox. You are to work on her in particular. For the others, knowing, as they do, what the future holds for Hitler and his mad-dog Nazis, they apparently feel they can peddle their military secrets without any pang of conscience, and at enormous profit.” 
Whitefeather considered a moment. “I can understand the art objects. Collectors will pay anything, in any time, for ‘antiquities,’ but with what of value, that’s easily portable, could the Germans pay for information?” 
Arkady’s expression became grave. “The medium of exchange between the Nazis and the time rogues is germanium, which has grown incredibly scarce in our Home Culture.”
“What makes it so important, and how expensive can it really be?” 
“Germanium is what is used to manufacture microchips. It has always been. Even centuries ago, back in what was called Silicon Valley in your homeland. Whitefeather, let me give you an example. Only fifty years after 1940, germanium will sell for $25,000 a pure ounce. Five times the value of gold, while in our present, it goes for $250,000 per ounce. 
“One can pack forty to sixty grams of pure germanium into one of those pocket lighter devices of the period. So you can see why it is so popular with our thieves. A kilo or two, brought forward, could buy them half the world’s assets: real estate, corporations, goods, and services rolled into one. We can’t let that happen.”
“I’ll return at once, sir,” a suitably impressed Whitefeather declared, painfully conscious of his added burden. Back at the transport room, his uniform exchanged for the workman’s clothes of 1940, he hailed the technician. “Isai, it’s back to 1940 for me.”
“You set a TCAF before you left?” the Tech asked.
Brian gave a casual wave of his hand. “Do I ever forget?”
Isai looked grave, despite his wry grin. “If you happen to, neither of us will ever know.”
With that, Brian stepped into the Beamer and walked out into war-torn 1940 England.
 
 
Time: 0911, European Standard Time, June 14, 1940 
Place: Jagdfliegerführer HO, Beauvais, France
 
 
Removed by 150 miles from Brian Moore in London, Colonel Werner Ruperle paced the floor of the pilots’ sheet metal-clad ready room of his Luftslotte. He cursed the exposed studs of the unfinished walls, the coffeepot steaming on the oil-fired stove, and cursed the stove itself. They had been moving across France so rapidly the last two weeks that construction work never caught up with the next advance. Most of all, he cursed the chill rain that swept across the runways, dripped from the wingtips of the parked aircraft, and pattered like wind-driven sand against the small, square panes of the single window in the cold, damp room.
Abruptly, he stopped in mid-stride and turned to face his executive officer, Capt. Frederich Kleiber. “It is this verdampten weather that is our real enemy. Only one more mission, the one cancelled for this afternoon, and I would have been qualified for two weeks of leave. Oh, how good it would feel to be back in Diessen. To taste Hilda’s cooking and hold her again. To see her and the boys and our dear daughter. And to know they are safe and far removed from this war.”
For a moment, his pleasant images of homecoming and family soured when he wondered silently if Bruno, his twelve-year-old, had joined the Hitler Jugend as yet. He hoped the boy could avoid it, at least a little longer. Although he passionately loved his country and did not stint in his loyalty to the Luftwaffe high command, to Col. Ruperle, this cultlike adoration that had grown up around the Fuhrer seemed to be a little much.
Self-consciously he glanced at the framed portrait of Adolf Hitler that hung on the nonexistent interior wall, crudely nailed to a stud. Hell, there was one of these, or another pose, on some wall in every house, business, and office from the French coast at Calais to the borders of Germany and Austria. They had even shown up in hospital rooms. Heil Hitler, he thought irreverently. But he was a soldier and it was his duty to give total obedience to his superiors. 
He had been a soldier, and a pilot, since 1917. As a callow youth he had idolized Freiherr Manfred von Richthofen. His hero worship had not dimmed with the death of the famous Red Baron. Yet he had admired the tall, dashing young officer who had replaced him. Hermann Göring had been a bold, daring, efficient squadron leader and quickly earned the respect of the pilots of the Flying Circus, and many of the other squadrons. Especially those of Schulflotte 1703, to which Werner Ruperle belonged at the time. That had been then, now was an entirely different matter. 
Unlike many of his brother officers, Werner Ruperle had not embraced the National Socialist German Workers’ Party with unbridled enthusiasm. Something seemed not quite right with the party’s leader. Enough so that he regretted the inevitable time when Bruno joined the Hitler Youth. Abruptly, he reined in his musings. Having such convictions could be dangerous to anyone, especially someone in his position.
Suddenly the door swung open, admitting his orderly and a sheet of raindrops. “Herr Hauptmann, the latest report from those time-serving meteorology people.”
Ruperle took the message form and read swiftly. “‘There will be a general clearing over the English Channel and the Portsmouth area, beginning at fifteen hours.’ The mission is on after all, Ferdy,” he exclaimed to his executive officer. “Gott sei Dank! I will be getting out of this French mud hole after all.”
 
 
Time: 0915, GMT, June 14, 1940
Place: Hamphill Aerodrome RAF Base, 
Warwickshire, England
 
 
“Two-three-one aircraft, you are pulling ahead in line. Maintain two thousand revolutions if you please.”
Sergeant Wendall Foxworth winced at the sound of his squadron leader’s voice in his earphones, made even harsher by the sneer of contempt. Hell of a way to start a routine morning patrol. Sgt. Foxworth applied a touch of toe-brake.
“Righto, Captain Marsh,” Wendell said to himself.
Damn it all, there was something definitely wrong with his Hurricane this morning. Could it have something to do with this bleedin’ light rain? He couldn’t help it if the engine surged from time to time. He had tried to explain to the maintenance sergeant. The sod wouldn’t hear a word of it. Now it got him in the shorts with his squadron leader. 
Sod them all! To Foxworth, anyone who didn’t fly one of these delicate birds hadn’t any right making decisions regarding airworthiness. Gritting his teeth, he keyed his mike.
“Righto, Able Leader. The old mill is running a bit rough this morning.”
“Sure it’s not its driver?” the voice came back, the question full of menace. “You clocked, in a quarter hour past curfew.”
Keerist! Did he have to let the whole squadron know? “Sorry, sir. Won’t happen again, sir.”
“Very well. Line up for takeoff. Vees of three.”
Foxworth winced at that. Bloody childish. Especially when everyone knew the proper term was Vics, with no mention of the number. With the assistant squadron leader in the first Vic, Wendall Foxworth on the starboard wing, Kip Fallon on port, the first three Hurricanes turned off the taxi strip and took proper station on the Hamphill Aerodrome active runway. A quick instrument check, set the brakes, then full throttle. Run up and back down, check magneto, oil pressure, engine rpms. Now full throttle. Watch for the roll. Here we go!
The trio of Hawker Hurricanes streaked down the Hamphill runway, striving for that first lift of true flight, the point of rotation. Wendall felt the wings strain to break free and hauled back on the stick. The wheels cleared the ground. Gear up, flaps up, nose to the sky. The Hawker pounded and thundered. Wendall Foxworth felt a surge of elation. True to habit, Sgt. Foxworth looked off his right wing as his climb-out continued toward turnout. Below on the ground, he saw a solitary figure. One who stood with arms and legs akimbo, eyes turned to the sky, outside the barrier fence, astride a bicycle. Foxworth blinked. For a moment she appeared to have familiar curly, dark brown hair and a memorable figure. Then at the moment Foxworth dropped his starboard wing to turn out of the pattern he saw the Home Guard helmet dangling from a handlebar and he knew for certain it was Sandy Hammond. Well, he thought. Things were certainly looking up!




 
 
Time: 0940, GMT, June 14, 1940 
Place: Time Station London
 
 
Brian Moore returned to 1940 London twenty minutes after he left. He went straight to the operator’s station where Vito sat relaxed, yet alert.
“Anything come in while I was gone?”
“Nope. All is calm on the battlefield,” Vito quipped. 
Brian grimaced. “It won’t be for long. We’ve been assigned to round up an unknown number of rogue travelers. They’re profiteering on valuables ‘destroyed’ during the war.”
“Oh, how jolly, what?” Vito mimicked the locals of the time. “Any idea where to start?” Brian studied Vito idly. A master Temporal Technician, he was also an expert archivist and researcher. Definitely suited for a Warden’s job. He had also learned that, as a boy in his late teens, Vito had been recovered from a car that had exploded in early 1950’s New York City. The result, so Vito said, of an inter-Family dispute.
“No. We will have to dig them out on our own.”
“How do we do that, Brian?”
Brian shrugged. “Plain old detective work, I imagine. You might begin by checking a list of art treasures lost in the bombing. I’ll be in touch tomorrow.”
 
 
 
When Brian entered the MI-5 office, half an hour later, he wore the usual conservative suit and tie. He settled in his office and reviewed several reports of suspicious persons in and around London, Portsmouth, Birmingham, and other industrial or port cities. The man with whom he had an appointment arrived ten minutes late. 
“Blasted traffic,” he apologized. “I could have walked it faster.”
“Maybe you should have,” Brian suggested. “They say it is good for one.” But not for another twenty years. “Now, then, Mr. Gregory Thornton, I suppose you know why you have been called here.”
Thornton gave him a puzzled look. “Frankly, no, I don’t.”
“As the chappies down at the Yard put it, you’ve been called in to assist us with our inquiries.” Unobtrusively, Brian pressed a signal button with the toe of his shoe.
Although Thornton did not outwardly react, the shock told in his voice. “What are you getting at? And whose inquiries, I might ask?”
Wigglesby silently entered the office behind the seated gentleman and stood in readiness. “Why, ours, of course.”
Growing agitated, Thornton leaned forward and put fire in his words. “And who, exactly, are you?”
“I’m with the Home Office.”
That brought Thornton upright, a scowl wrinkling his brow. “Then I’d advise you to be more forthcoming. I am well acquainted with the Secretary.” His mustache quivered.
“Oh, not that Home Office. MI-Five, you see.”
Thornton tried for bluster, only to fall short into splutters of outrage. “Wh—what in hell ever can the Domestic Intelligence Service want with me?”
“That transmitter you have, for starters. The one hidden in the attic of your garage, hummm?” 
All color drained from Thornton’s face. “Oh, my God. I never thought… I mean, that’s exactly what I thought. That’s why I put it out there in storage. I am bonkers over amateur radio, you see. Or was, until the government asked us not to go on the air because of the war.”
Maybe this one was genuine, Brian surmised. He seemed seriously upset over it. “Do you have any proof of this?” 
“Yes, of course. I still have my license. It’s here in my wallet. And I have my QSL cards. Been collecting them since I was a lad, using a crystal set and telegraph key.” 
“I see. I’d like to see those. The license now, and the cards later on. Are they dated?”
“Oh, yes. Do you want me to bring them in?” 
“No. I’d like to see them where you keep them.” 
Thornton began to look more relieved. “They’re on the walls of my study. We can go there now. I’ve left the office for the day.”
“Good,” Brian agreed. Out in the reception area, he paused at the desk of Sgt. Parkhurst. “I’ll be seeing Mr. Thornton to his home. Then I’m off to Coventry.” 
“Very, well, sir,” Parkhurst returned briskly.
 
 
Time: 1310, GMT, June 14, 1940 
Place: M-43 Highway, London to Coventry
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Mid-June in the Midlands showed little difference to all of May. It rained less, only every other day, though the sun did not come out until eleven of a morning, sometimes later than that. Fully leafed out now, the trees made dark green swaying blobs. Brian drove himself, considering that he would be mixing business with pleasure, and would no doubt stay the night. The only problem with clear afternoon skies, Brian told himself, was that it not only brought out the sun, it brought the Germans as well.
He received immediate reminder of that a few minutes later when an elderly man in a Home Guard helmet and WWI uniform too small for him flagged down Brian’s Austin. 
“Sorry, sir,” the elderly air raid warden greeted with apology. “The Jerries are coming. There’s goin’ to be a raid up the road a piece.”
Impatience sounded in Brian’s words. “Yes, I understand. But I must be in Coventry before five o’clock.”
“Oh, you’ll make that right enough. Coventry’s not the target. It’s only that I’ve got me orders. Nobody is to be on the road. No need to make targets for the Messerschmitts. Their pilots like to put a hand in, as well as the bomber laddies. Will you be so kind as to pull off the road, sir? Right under that oak would be fine.”
Muttering under his breath, Brian complied. He drove the sleek, gray Austin up close by the massive trunk of a royal oak and cut the engine. Irritably he sat staring at the distance out the windshield for the tiny specks that would denote the German aircraft. He hadn’t long to wait.
First came the outriders, part of a squadron of Me-109’s. Behind them, in echelon, came ranks of Me-110 Bf’s and Heinkel 111’s. At higher altitude, beyond Brian’s ability to see, though he knew them to be there, flew the dreaded Junkers Ju-88-A-1’s. And with them would be the Stukas, the original Ju-88’s. The nasty little dive-bombers had sirens fastened on struts between their fixed landing-gear.
Wind-driven, those sirens rose to a pitch that terrified those below on the ground. All the more so when the Dantesque banshee wail cut off suddenly, signifying the release of a five-hundred-pound bomb and the vertical climb-out of the delivery vehicle. Although too far off to hear the warning alarms from the target, an industrial complex on the edge of Leicester, Brian soon saw the small black puffs of exploding antiaircraft shells. The sky turned stygian as growing numbers of rounds detonated.
Brian marveled at how any aircraft could pass through such a gauntlet unscathed. He knew that many did not, and had his understanding verified shortly when one of the Heinkels burst into a red, black-edged ball. Flames engulfed the wing root and the port side peeled off before the mortally wounded bird plummeted to earth.
Moments later, tall, black columns of smoke snaked skyward from the target. Rippling thumps reached him, reminding Brian of the sound made by a cat jumping off a table onto a hardwood floor. Over Leicester, the tiny dots turned to port in a wide 180 which would take them back to their bases in France. Faintly, Brian heard a thin keening in the air that announced the entry of the Ju-88’s.
Where were the Spitfires? Brian wondered. Why hadn’t they come to mix it up with the Germans? With a flash and a roar, they came seconds later. Low to the ground, they sped over the tree under which Brian had parked and streaked northeast toward Leicester. They dwindled rapidly to V-shaped images like a flight of ducks before they swarmed upward at the unprotected bellies of the Nazi bombers.
Streams of tracers made an unholy glow as they merged on the metal skin of one after another German plane. Then the separate, hostile flights coalesced for a twinkling, held an instant longer, then separated. Up and over went the Spitfires, then back down. Messerschmitt 110’s and Heinkel 111’s began to fall from the dome of blue. Flames erupted around the nacelles of several engines. Pilots frantically feathered props and vainly applied internal fire extinguishers.
More aircraft fell to their doom, taking along many of Germany’s fairest youth. The slaughter continued, with Brian as silent witness, until the Me-109’s got turned around and dashed back on their attackers. First one Spitfire exploded, then a second spurted gouts of oily smoke and orange flame from the engine compartment. The canopy blew open and the pilot bailed out.
Immediately a Messerschmitt turned off to make a pass at the helpless man in his parachute harness. A Spitfire followed and the Nazi failed to bring honor on Hitler. Desperately, the pilot tried to escape his wounded craft, only to die horribly as the Spit he had trashed collided with his own plane.
By then the air battle had moved closer to Brian’s vantage point. He looked on in an oddly detached mood. Could this be what combat pilots felt? he wondered. Gradually the fighting swarm diminished into the east and the stutter of machine-gun and automatic cannon fire faded to silence. Across the road, the Home Guard air raid warden came out of his sandbag bunker and blew a whistle, signaling the all clear. Brian started the engine of the Austin and drove off toward Coventry.
 
 
Time: 1430, GMT, June 14, 1940 
Place: Offices of Warwickshire Movers (M1-5 front) 
 
 
Brian found Samantha behind her desk in the MI-5 office behind the Warwickshire Movers. She greeted him with the cool demeanor of a subordinate to a superior. Then, when her secretary left the room, she welcomed Brian much more intimately. Their kiss lasted a long while, enough for Samantha to entwine an arm around Brian’s neck and to draw one leg off the floor. 
Brian came up gasping for air. “That’s certainly a better welcome than I get from any of the lads at the home shop.” 
Samantha made a moue. “I certainly hope so. I’m taking you to Oliphant’s tonight, so I want you on your best behavior.” 
“I’ll try to remember that.” 
“You had better.” Samantha frowned. “The raids today were terrible. More than two squadrons of them. They hit Birmingham, too.” 
“Later. We can talk all about the raids then. I saw Leicester getting it from the road. Well, from under a royal oak, really. Now, I have some work for you.” From the Gladstone he habitually carried, Brian took several file folders, which contained files and photos of suspected rogue travelers. “I want you to take a really good look at these men. Old Foggy Bottom”—their irreverent nickname for Sir Hugh Montfort—“has gotten it from someone that they may be Nazi agents. We have no way of knowing, certainly, and you may scare up something.”
“I’ve about had it up to here with this work.” Samantha held her bladed hand out under her nose. 
Brian took her at her word, yet sought to forestall discussion to another time. “How can you be burned-out on such an exciting and varied occupation?” 
Samantha gave him a pained expression. “After dinner, luv. I’ll tell you how after dinner.” 
“Something tells me I’m not going to enjoy it.” 
Brian spent the next hour going over her progress reports on current subjects under suspicion. Then they worked together until six o’clock on a project euphemistically called “Denial of Easy Access.” Suddenly, Samantha found herself fascinated. 
“I would never have thought of something so simple as this. Removing all the roadway markers and street signs. Of course. Someone who did not live there would never know where they were. The same goes for bridge weight limit signs, right?” 
“That’s what they came up with at Home Office. Most English bridges will not support the weight of an armored tank. But do the Germans know that? You know, Sam, Germany is the only country I’ve seen that has weight limit signs for automobiles, lorries, tractor-trailers, and tanks.”
Her eyes suddenly wide, Sam asked incredulously, “You’ve been to Germany?”
“Yes, before the war.” Brian had to tread carefully. Samantha might be a fellow counterespionage agent, but she was not a Temporal Warden. She had no idea, as did most people, past and future, that such transportation existed outside the pages of sensational pulp fiction.
“What was it like?”
“Pleasant. Especially Bavaria and the Schwarzwald. The farms are neat and precise, very efficient. Their children still dressed in native costume then. The girls wore dirndls and the boys lederhosen, with little green or brown Tyrolian hats. Although what impressed me most was that everything in Germany is neat, precise, and very efficient. Almost… obsessively efficient.”
Samantha’s expression changed from curiosity to sorrow. “That sounds so sad. If they are so… so controlled, how did Hitler get such sway over them?”
“I think it is because they are as they are that Hitler came to prominence. Remember, he came out at first for strong law and order, an end to the Communist demonstrations, food riots in the big cities, that sort of thing. And he does call his Third Reich the New World Order.” Brian paused, grinned foolishly. “Maybe I’m reading too much into it. I’m not a Political Science type.”
Samantha reached over, touched his arm lightly. “You underestimate yourself. I think you’ve shown marvelous insight.” 
Yeah, Brian reminded himself, primed by several centuries of hindsight. “Only time will tell,” Brian dismissed. “Let’s finish for now and leave.”
“Good. We can hit the Pig and Whistle.” 
 
 
Brian had a pint of Watney’s, Samantha a glass of muscatel. The pub was unusually crowded today, the conversation swirling around the dual air raids. Both of the MI-5 agents kept their agreement to hold off talking about it until after dinner, A jolly, red-faced man, the butcher from down the block, tried to get Brian into a game of darts. Wanted to put a half crown per point on it. 
Smiling, Brian reached into his inside coat pocket and withdrew a slim velvet case. He opened it to reveal a set of three superbly machined, perfectly weighted, titanium darts. Although an anachronism, Brian had no worry that they would create a Paradox. “Made out of aircraft metal,” was his simple explanation whenever anyone inquired about them. 
“Sounds fine to me, old boy,” he cheerily informed the butcher. “Only let’s make it five shillings.” 
Gordon, the meat market mogul, had already started to back away, hands before him. “Sorry. I just saw my wife signaling me through the window. Must have a late, emergency customer. Some other time, eh?”
“What’s that all about?” Samantha inquired.
“He somehow got the impression I’m a hustler. It’s not every Johnny pub crawler who has his own custom-made darts.” 
Samantha’s eyes settled on the nestled, shining projectiles. “What are those?” 
“Some special connecting rod material from the Sopwith that invalided me out of the RAF. A friend, one of the machinists on the base, made them for me while I was in hospital.”
Samantha reached for one. “Do you mind?”
“No. Go ahead.”
She hefted one for a moment. “Remarkable balance. Makes it feel almost featherlight.”
“You throw darts?”
“Yes, Brian. Since I was a little girl. My father taught me.”
“We’ll have to play sometime. Why don’t we down these and get out of here. It’s too crowded for my liking.”
“Me, too.”
 
 
 
Oliphant’s, in the Hotel Splendide, turned out to be everything Samantha had promised. Samantha and Brian ate like royalty. Each course came with the appropriate wine. The processed vegetable protein that most persons ate in the distant future could not hold a drop of wax, let alone the whole candle, to it. The roast beef and Yorkshire pudding were delicious, yet Brian would have still preferred roast bison hump. 
Shortly after being seated, Brian made note of a young man in mufti at a table across from them. He was so obviously in the military, and likewise madly in love with the attractive young woman with him. His conversation was animated, punctuated by the sweeping hand gestures of the inveterate pilot. The girl seemed to hang on every word. Young love, Brian thought from the advantage of a good five years.
“Is it someone you know, Brian?” Samantha asked. 
“What?”
Samantha’s smile softened her criticism. “You’ve been staring at that young couple over there with such intensity, I only wondered if you knew one or both of them.”
“No. I’ve never seen either before. But they are so obviously in love. Reminds me of two other people I do know.”
“Oh?”
“You and me,” Brian teased.
Samantha made a long face. “Well, now, it’s true you are dear to me, and I think you feel the same toward me. But ... love? Do you think we can actually call it love?” 
Aware of the droll quality of Samantha’s humor, Brian played along. “Perhaps you’re right. What say we go somewhere and test it?” 
Samantha gave him a sweet, teasing smile. “Perhaps.” 
Across the room, Sgt. Wendall Foxworth nodded toward the table occupied by Brian and Samantha and spoke to Sandy Hammond. “That older couple over there,” he prompted. “They’re very much in love, aren’t they?” 
Sandy studied the woman indifferently, estimating her to be about three years older than herself, perhaps twenty-eight or so. Then she examined the man. “I’d say you’re right. Only he’s not aware of how much she is in love.” 
“Why do you say that?” Foxworth demanded. 
Sandy produced a wicked grin. “Because he doesn’t lean across the table like he wanted to eat her with a spoon.” 
Wendall flushed slightly in spite of himself. “Naughty girl. When you talk like that, you make my blood boil.” 
“Then maybe we should go somewhere and do something about it?” Sandy hinted strongly. 
After a dessert plate of Camembert and Stilton cheeses and a rich port, Samantha suggested a walk through “Old” Coventry. Obligingly, Brian took her arm and they walked off into the night. She pointed out buildings that had contained the same type of shop when Shakespeare and Roger Bacon had trod the smooth cobbles of the street. Abruptly, she brought up the subject they had so far tactfully avoided. 
“The raids are getting worse. Every day, the Germans come,” Samantha spoke the obvious. “They’re getting closer. Thank God Coventry is a university town. Nothing here to bomb.” She sighed heavily. 
“I can have you transferred,” Brian suggested. 
“Oh, no. This is my home. My parents are buried in the churchyard.” 
Brian clutched her upper arm. “Sam—Samantha, if you are worried, I’m worried. But perhaps you are right. Without a strategic target, the Germans will never bomb here.” Because he knew better, his reassuring smile looked weak.
Samantha’s random course through town brought them to her apartment. Without words she led the way, an eager Brian in her wake. She entered and put on a teakettle. They kissed in the kitchen.
It began mild and friendly, grew to firm and hungry, When their embrace ended Brian kissed Samantha on the tip of her nose, her cheeks, neck, and the cleft of her bosom. Samantha writhed against him as he reached back to turn off the gas ring under the kettle.
“Oh, yes, Bri, yes. Let’s … go to my room.”
After coffee early the next morning, Brian left for London. He felt remarkably refreshed.




 
 
Time: 1133, CET, June 20, 1940
Place: Hauptquartier des Abwehr, 
Unter dem Linden Strasse, 
Berlin, Germany
 
 
Sunlight filtered through silver-green leaves on Linden Street. In the third floor, Berlin headquarters of the Abwehr, German Intelligence, its director, Admiral Wilhelm Canaris, sat in the high-backed leather swivel chair at his desk. Through his round, steel, wire-rimmed spectacles, perched on the end of his aquiline nose, he read from a top secret report that had arrived only moments before. 
It had come, by way of clandestine radio transmitter, from an exceptionally well-placed German asset in England. Admiral Canaris frowned as the meaning of the content became clear to him. Most fortuitous that this came into our hands, he mused. The admiral reached out and turned the bell crank on the ultramodern intercom. The earpiece buzzed at him when his summons was answered. 
“Rudolf, come in here, please,” Canaris spoke sharply, his aristocratic features grave. 
His deputy arrived a moment later from his office across the hall. Tall, spare, and scarecrow-lean, Colonel-General Rudolf Drucker paused in the doorway, his uniform crisp and razor-creased as usual. He parted his black hair in the middle and combed it back on the sides. “Jawohl, Herr Admiral?” 
Canaris waved to a chair. “Come, sit down, and leave the formality at the door, eh, Rudi?” 
“As you wish, Wilhelm.” 
“I have only now received a very important communiqué from Freiadler. It foretells of grave consequences for the Kriegsmarine.”
“And what is that, Wilhelm?” Colonel-General Rudolf Drucker asked.
“The English Parliament and the War Office are working on new plans to intercept our submarines in the open and clean them out of the North Sea. Admiral Raeder will be interested in that, I’m sure. Freiadler will, of course, try to get a copy of the completed plans, and any subsequent operations orders.”
Drucker looked surprised. “He can do all of that?”
Canaris projected confidence. “Certainly, Rudi. He is placed in an ideal position to accommodate us. See that a copy is made of this and sent to Raeder at once.” He handed over the message form.
Rudolf Drucker remained a few minutes, during which the two intelligence experts discussed the current situation inside and outside the Reich. Poland was going well, and the Russians had not raised a single objection. Holland and the other Low Countries still had some sporadic resistance units active. Shipment had already begun there for “undesirables.” In particular Canaris emphasized the need for the Gestapo to be tasked with breaking up the resistance cells that were springing up in France. 
“They call themselves the Maquis. Since the capitulation, they are becoming an embarrassment to the Fuhrer. Actually, so far we have lost only a few soldiers. And these French fanatics have blown a couple of trains off the track. It would be best if this were nipped in the bud, so to speak.”
“What about Pétain?”
Admiral Canaris drew his thin lips into a moue of contempt. “The President of the Vichy government is as much a figurehead as anyone in the Vichy government. No, my dear Rudi, it is we Germans who must bear the burden of rooting out these misguided patriots. Draw up orders for my signature to our operatives in France to the effect they are to cooperate with the Gestapo. And do see that Raeder’s headquarters receives that before noon, Rudi.”
After the departure of Colonel-General Drucker, Admiral Canaris made a note to see that funds would be placed in the Swiss bank account of Freiadler, that superlative, noble Briton, Sir Rupert Cordise.
 
 
Time: 1640, GMT, June 20, 1940 
Place: Office of Sir Hugh Montfort, MI-5 Building,
London, England
 
 
Brian Moore swallowed down the Earl Gray tea in the fragile bone china cup given him by Sir Hugh Montfort. He sat facing his superior across a wide expanse of age-darkened oak desk, in a corner office of MI-5. Patiently he endured this obligatory ritual of British society, wishing for a good cup of coffee. At last Montfort got to the purpose of the summons to his lair. 
“We have bloody hell breaking loose around us, Colonel Moore. German agents keep cropping up all over the place. So, as the most proficient rat catcher, I’m putting you in charge of sniffing out the Huns and bringing an end to their dirty tricks.” 
Brian hid the elation he felt. He would have given himself this task, in order to gain access to the rogue travelers who dealt with the Nazis. “That’s ... a big assignment. I hope I shall not give cause for you to lose trust, sir.” 
Sir Hugh smiled warmly. He actually liked this young man. “Oh, I daresay I shan’t. I’m afraid there aren’t many active files on these bleeders. You’ll have to do those yourself. Pick as many of our people as you need. Up to five, that is.” 
Brian repressed a smile. What with the capitulation of France, and Hitler’s boasts of invading England, there never seemed to be enough manpower to go around. Up at Sandhurst, in a special area, MI-5 turned out counterintelligence agents by the dozens. Yet training took time, weeks in fact. Those shortages reflected in the availability of men and women for permanent assignment. Brian felt flattered to be offered five.
“Thank you, sir. I’ll make do.” 
“I’m sure you will. Ah—this Miss Trillby, Lieutenant Trillby? How’s she working out?” 
For a moment Brian wondered if everyone in MI-5 knew he and Samantha were sleeping together. Then he realized that Sir Hugh must be referring to her professional ability.
“Fine, sir. She has expressed the opinion that she is merely spinning wheels in monitoring for unauthorized radio transmissions. Though what actually annoys her is doing background checks on military and government personnel with Germanic surnames. She says that most of their families came over here back in the time of Ger—er—George Third.” 
Brian bit his lip. He had almost let slip German Georgie, an anachronistic, purely American sobriquet for the most despised of English kings. They still taught that bit of historical trivia when a thoroughly confused half-breed Brulé Sioux boy named Steven Whitefeather had been suddenly transported more than a thousand years beyond the time Sam Adams had coined it for one of his broadsides against the Tyrant King. He recalled his bewilderment in that Temporal Warden novice school, as he sat in the eighth grade classroom, wearing the uniform of white shirt and short pants. It brought a red tinge to his coppery complexion. Montfort appeared not to have noticed the slip. 
“Nothing to worry about. All new agents enter the Service fired up and ready to take on whatever enemy is out there. I’ve read your summaries, but I’ve not had opportunity to see one of her reports, get the flavor of how she thinks and draws conclusions. D’you think she would work well with you on this new task?”
Even better than he had hoped for. “Yes, I do. Might get her out of her doldrums, too.”
“Fine, then,” Sir Hugh said by way of dismissal. “Cut orders to that effect.”
 
 
Time: 1800 GMT, June 20, 1940
Place: Time Station London, 
Thameside, London, England
 
 
Vito Alberdi looked up when Brian Moore entered the Time Station. “We have a line on one of the rogues, Brian.”
Brian nodded. “That’s good. I need to access the communications terminal.”
“Something come up?” 
“You might say so. I’ve been assigned to tracking down new German agents involved in espionage. And we know they are dealing with the rogues. This makes our job easier. We can go after the ones we want without raising questions about who disappears.”
“Makes a neat package,” agreed Vito. 
Brian sat at the terminal and logged on with his personal identity code: 8668MRE. The monitor screen blanked and came back with the Temporal Warden Corps logo. Quickly Brian keyboarded his route address for Arkady Gallubin. Again the screen blanked and came on in MSGFRM mode. Brian keyed in his information about his change of assignment with MI-5. When he cleared the monitor, he made ready to leave. 
Vito stopped him on the way to the stairs. “Oh, by the way, do any of you James Bond types have a line on a German agent named Freiadler?”
“No, why?” 
“You do now. This came through during the night.” 
Vito handed Brian two sheets of paper. Brian read the brief bit of information. It detailed transfers of large sums of money from the Deutsches Landwehr Bank of Berlin to the Swiss Bank of Bern. It also referred to a Freiadler file in Abwehr headquarters. “Any idea who he is?” 
“None. Or even if it is a he. But if he’s for real, from what they say there, he could make some mighty big ripples in the Timeline.”
“I’m ahead of you on that. Looks like our Free Eagle goes to the top of the list.” 
 
 
Time: 1830, GMT, June 22, 1940 
Place: Rooming House of Sandy Hammond, 
Gloucester Street, Coventry, 
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Sandy Hammond sat on the floor at the feet of Wendall Foxworth in her small flat. She rested the dark brown pile of curls that covered her head against his leg. They had brought home tinned meat pies and heated them in the gas oven in her kitchen. Nothing like homemade, Sandy acknowledged, but hot and filling. Her thoughts drifted to a different place; a different time…
She was thirteen and gawky. Her name was not Sandy Hammond then. And she was not English. She knew the boot of the oppressor, though, when it trod on the backs of her people. Most of them came from an island nation, called the Commonwealth of Great Britain. She hated and feared them with an intensity hard to imagine in one so young. Most of all on this particular day.
She had been forced to stand, along with her parents, in the dooryard of the family cottage to witness the punishment of her older brother. Oh, how she loved and adored Garak. He was strong and handsome, and had a devilish sense of humor. None of it showed now as the occupation troops lashed his arm to the toprail of the picket fence. 
Garak made not a sound as the cords bit into his wrists. His eyes glared defiance. Only a white tightness around his lips revealed his true feelings. Bowed horizontally at the waist, head up at an uncomfortable angle, the girl who became Sandy Hammond looked on in horror as the leader stripped the shirt from the back of her brother. Then a burly sergeant stepped forward and raised the lash.
“Twenty of your best, if you please, Sergeant Major,” the foppish officer commanded.
Later, after the oppressors had departed, stripped of his flesh, bleeding, and in shock, Garak died. When he did, there was born in the eventual Sandy Hammond a fierce resolve to somehow even the score…
… And she had found that way. Brushing off her vision, she looked up at her man, smiling even with her hazel eyes, as he reached down and began to play with her hair. 
“This is cozy,” she murmured.
His light blue eyes fixed her. “Yes, it is. Though my taster is hinting at a need for a pint or two. What say we take in the Blind Goose?” 
Sandy turned slightly to face him. “Do you, really? I thought we’d stay in and ... do other things.” 
Wendall’s eyes glowed. For all his trying, she had never let it get this far before. “Such as?” 
“Ummmm. Fun things, like we’ve been doing, don’t you know? And ... maybe a bit more?” 
Wendall felt his throat tighten. Could it be tonight? He’d only just touched her so far. Stroked one precious melon of a breast, a hand on her thigh. He cleared his throat, though to no avail. His voice came out a squeak anyway. Sandy came to her feet with him. 
“I’ll get us a bottle of beer to split.”
“Good. Bring it to the bedroom.” 
 
 
Time: 2110, GMT, June 22, 1940 
Place: A Row House in Soho District, 
London, England 
 
 
Clive Beattie passed his cool, blue gaze over each of the five men seated with him around a table in the basement of a Soho row house. His sandy-brown hair stood nearly upright above a wide forehead and pair of horn-rimmed spectacles. He carefully kept his expression neutral, masking the contempt he felt for these minor Nazi agents he operated for his control, Major Karl Webber. 
Three of them were convicts. Dull of wit and long on brute force, they had been released from prison by the Gestapo. One, Dieter Ganger, an arsonist, had to be constantly watched. Clive had detailed Reiner Holst to that duty. Holst was the most intelligent of the quintet. Twice he had reported that he had been compelled to physically restrain Ganger to keep him from setting fire to unessential targets. One of them had been a school. 
None of them had any idea about the history of Clive Beattie. Born Gunther Bewerber, in 2575, to parents of German descent, he was an avid reader, of history in particular. He had become a fanatic admirer of Adolf Hitler. In his real persona, Clive/Gunther was the recruiting poster image of the ideal Aryan superman, with clear blue eyes, nearly white blond hair, and fair complexion. At six two, he made the perfect SS type. He also became a rogue time traveler at the age of thirty-one. He made it his goal to “correct” the events of which he did not approve, in order to have a future in which the Germans won World War II.
To that end, he began at once when a sixth agent entered through the street-level cellar door. “Alfred, Hermann, you are to take a boat down the Thames. The bomb will be waiting for you in it. After dark, Hermann will go over the side and take the magnetic mine to the keep of the frigate Trafalgar. Attach it and set the timer. Then swim back to where Alfred will be waiting.”
“At vaht time am I zetting it?” At the best of times, Hermann’s English was heavily accented. 
“Ten-thirty. That’s 2230 hours. Make certain it does not go off sooner. Now, Holst, you and Dieter will take care of that warehouse fire. It is to go off at precisely 10:45.
“Manfred, you and Jergen are to plant explosives on the Dover line, to take out the bridge outside Battersea, with the Night Flyer, loaded with military supplies, on it, at exactly eleven o’clock.” 
“Vaht is the purpose of such prezise timing?” Dieter asked. His low, jutting brow and deep-set, black eyes gave him the look of an ape.
Clive fought down his flare of irritation. “It is intended to cause a great deal of inconvenience to the Home Guard and the fire brigades. That is why.”
It will also direct attention away from the center of London, Clive thought smugly. In particular that jewelry store on the first floor of a certain building in Piccadilly Circus, with that large collection of diamonds of which he intended to avail himself.




 
 
Time: 1025, GMT, June 25, 1940 
Place: Office of MI-5, Bayswater Road, 
London, England 
 
 
Although not a Time Warden, Samantha Trillby proved adept in her intelligence tradecraft. Brian brought her down from Coventry on Monday of the last week of June. She remained unaware that the Nazi agents they sought were in fact rogue time travelers, although it did not diminish her enthusiasm for the work. 
“The first one is the most important and a bit of a mystery. All I have on him is his Abwehr code name, which is Freiadler, or Free Eagle. We will have to concentrate on getting a name and description. Never fail to ask any of those our dragnet hauls in about him. Here’s the second.” Brian showed her a grainy black-and-white photograph of a rat-faced, balding man outside a storefront. “His name is David Cowerie.”
“Does he work there?” asked Samantha. 
“He owns the place. He’s a pawnbroker.”
“It looks rather seedy.” 
“It is. His business with the Germans is his main occupation. Cowerie doesn’t take in more than a dozen legitimate items for pawn in a week. Tony and Hank are watching him now. They’ll call in if anything important happens.” Brian handed her another 8 x 10 glossy. “The third on our list. Brian Gallager. He’s not German, obviously, just an angry Irishman, out for revenge. We’ll find him in Liverpool. No hurry, he’s small fish really. Now comes a tough one. We have a name for him, but no photos. The problem is that he’s so well fixed, we don’t dare put a hand on him at present.”
Samantha looked at him sharply. “Oh?”
“Oh, yes. Friend of prime ministers, invited to Buckingham Palace, a real charmer. He’s also selling information to the Nazis in wholesale quantity. His name is Clive Beattie.”
 
 
 
Tony Bellknap and Hank Simmons slouched low on the front bench seat of the Humber panel wagon, bored, though attentive. A light mist shrouded buildings along the Soho street. They had consumed all the tea in the thermos jug with the resultant strain on their bladders. Tony touched a match to his tenth Players and sucked smoke into his lungs.
“I’d give a fortune for a trip to the loo,” Tony sighed out through a cloud of smoke.
“What’s the matter? Tiny bladder problems?” Hank quipped.
“Get stuffed.”
“My croaker says cigarettes aren’t good for you,” Hank observed. He eyed the dapper, patrician young man beside him. Looked the right proper bloody lord, he thought, though not with rancor. Dressed the part, too. Oh, well, it got them in lots of places they would otherwise not.
“Does he?” Tony responded as usual to the frequent remark by his partner in MI-5. “And does he smoke?”
Hank frowned, recalling. “As a matter of fact, yes, he does. Like a bloody factory stack.”
“There you are then. If it was really that bad, would he be doing it?” Tony stiffened then, raised the brim of his slouch hat. “Uh-oh, don’t we know that chap?”
Across the street and down half a block, a slightly built man who looked to be in his mid-thirties, with a dark smear of beard stubble and wearing a leather trench coat, paused outside the pawnshop. He furtively glanced both directions along the street, then entered.
“Yes, indeed,” Hank gloated. “It’s the one we’ve been calling Hans. Wonder what he’s up to?”
“He’s here to pick up some information, I’m sure.”
Hank opened a notebook. “I’ll log his arrival and departure.” He touched a pencil lead to thick lips to wet it and lowered long, blond lashes over his cobalt eyes.
Tony stared intently at the pawnshop. “I’d give anything to be inside there, hear what they are saying.”
Hank looked up from his pad. “Fly on the wall, eh? Not by half, chum. We haven’t even radios for our cars, let alone equipment to listen in on these traitorous scum.” 
Tony caught at his partner’s coat sleeve. “He’s out already. Going down toward the tube station. Wasn’t in there five minutes.”
“How long does it take to pass over a piece of paper or two, Tony? It’s not like this pawnshop’s doing fabulous business, now is it?”
“You’ve a point, Hank. We’ve one fish in the net. Good thing we know where Hans lives.” 
“That indeed. If we can’t land him here the next time, we can scoop him out of his digs. I wonder how that Chelsea Square flat compares to wherever he came from in Germany.” 
Tony pursed his full lips. “A lot better, I’d say. Most of these Abwehr types are the dregs of the Munich beer halls.”
Hank laughed, a short, sharp sound. “The sewers, more likely, And a good thing. They’re not motivated enough to use those cyanide capsules old Canaris issues them. We’ve learned quite a bit out of them.” “A good thing, too. Let us hope this is a busy day for Mr. Cowerie.” 
 
 
 
By closing time, Tony Bellknap had his wishes fulfilled. Two more known Nazi agents entered the pawnshop during the day. One shortly before noon, the other only five minutes ago. He had not as yet come out. Bellknap glanced uncertainly at Simmons. 
“What do you think, Hank?” 
“We had ought to report in. I’ll get out and keep watch for Ludwig; you go find a call box and ring up the colonel.” 
“Sounds reasonable.” Tony started the engine. 
Hank opened his door and stepped onto the sidewalk. The rain had ceased and blue sky vaulted over Soho, while buildings cast dark shadows toward the east. Tony rolled away down the street. and Hank settled in a doorway. At the far end of the block, the proprietor of the news kiosk was shuttering his establishment.
Five minutes later, the Nazi agent MI-5 had nicknamed Ludwig stepped out on the walk and turned toward Hank. What should he do? Follow Ludwig or wait for Tony to return? 
 
 
 
Brian Moore received the call at 5:25. He listened to what Tony had to say, then spoke crisply. “Might as well scoop up Cowerie now. I’ll be there in fifteen minutes.” When he rang off, he turned to Samantha. “That was Tony. Three German agents visited David Cowerie today. One is believed to still be there. Want to come along?”
“You’d have to fight me to keep me away. I’ll be going back to Coventry next week, to seek the ones on your list. I want to know how to handle it properly.”
“Good on you, Sam.” 
They left the Home Office building five minutes later. With Wigglesby driving, the Austin weaved its way through the evening crush of buses, cars and pedestrians. Wigglesby delivered them in Soho only a minute off Brian’s estimate. Hank climbed from the panel wagon.
“Ludwig flew the coop, Colonel. Cowerie is in there alone.” 
Brian stepped out of the rear seat of the Austin. “Why don’t we join him?”
Samantha trailed only a short distance behind as the three male MI-5 agents crossed the street diagonally and paused only a moment outside the door to the pawnshop. Brian reached into his suit coat and produced his .45 Webley revolver. Hank and Tony drew their Belgium 9mm Browning autoloaders. Brian gave a curt nod.
It appeared to Samantha that Brian took a deep breath before he swung the door inward and the trio crowded inside. She closed the distance to the portal before it shut in her face. In her hand she competently held a Walther PPK in 9mm kurtz. From inside, she heard a whiny voice raised in complaint. 
“I’m sorry. We’re closed for the day. Say, what are you doing with those? Is this a robbery?”
Brian Moore’s voice crackled with intensity. “David Cowerie, you are being charged with espionage. Come with us, please. Men will be sent to search the premises.”
“You can’t do that,” bleated Cowerie. “I’m a British subject, I have my rights. You police cannot arrest me without a warrant, nor search my place.”
Brian stilled him with a glare. “We’re not from the police. We’re with Home Office.”
“OhmyGod. You c-can’t do this.” 
“We’ll take him out the back. Sam, keep watch here until some fellows show up to toss this place.”
She had to smile. He knew she had not stayed outside but had entered. “Right, Colonel.” Dreary place, she thought as she looked around.
Led by Brian, Tony and Hank hustled Cowerie out a rear door. Wigglesby had anticipated them and was waiting with the Austin sedan. Brian entered the rear. Tony shoved Cowerie ahead of him and took the other door seat. Hank got in up front.
Wigglesby looked over his shoulder to Brian. “Where to?” 
“High Street Jail, I think,” Brian instructed. 
 
 
Time: 1810, GMT, June 25, 1940
Place: High Street Jail, Thameside, 
London, England
 
 
An eighteen-foot curtain wall surrounded a three-story keep on a low knoll overlooking the Thames, near the Tower of London. Early evening fog drifted lazily off the oily surface of the river, mantling the light posts along the railing of Tower Bridge. Sgt. Wigglesby pulled the Austin up to a high, iron gate and sounded the horn only once. A gatekeeper appeared and opened a smaller hinged section of the barrier and waved them in.
David Cowerie had recovered himself enough to try bluster. “Where is this place? What is it? Where are you taking me?”
“That is no concern of yours,” Brian Moore told him coldly. “Suffice that you are in our charge now.”
“This is not under jurisdiction of Scotland Yard or the Home Office. Not even the Foreign Office uses dungeons like this,” Cowerie bleated, his stormy mood deflated.
“Get out, Cowerie. Or I’ll have Tony here drag you out.” Brian exited and stalked off toward the heavy oak door to the keep. 
Wouldn’t Dr. Ogilve like this place, he mused. The subterranean jail below the keep had once been a dungeon used to interrogate members of the nobility suspected of being disloyal to the monarch. And it had been so from the time of the Lancaster kings through those of the House of Tudor. “Bloody Mary” had kept Lady Jane Grey here for a while, and Elizabeth I had imprisoned Sir Francis Drake here until he accepted her usurious share demands on the booty and prize money he obtained from the sale of captured Spanish ships. Then, to show her gratitude and generosity, she had him moved to the Tower. Nice lady. He turned back to the others.
“Bring him on down. We have a lot of questions to ask him.” Once we get what MI-5 wants out of him, Tony and Hank can be dismissed, Brian figured. Then he can be made to give up his Home Culture and sent back. 
 
 
Time: 2200, GMT, June 25, 1940
Place: Spencer’s, Trafalgar Square,
London, England
 
 
Brian Moore took Samantha Trillby to Spencer’s for a celebration dinner. A string quartet played discreetly in an ornate alcove, filling the famous restaurant with mellow tones. Muted conversation made surf sounds among the elegant and ennobled who numbered among the clientele. Among them was Sir Rupert Cordise. Brian recognized the corrupt peer immediately and switched chairs so his back was to Cordise. To cover his action, he took Samantha’s hand and caressed it.
Her eyebrows arched at that. “I hadn’t expected public romance with dinner,” she teased.
“There’s someone over there by whom I don’t want to be seen. I doubt that he would recognize me, but it’s not worth the risk.”
Samantha probed. “An old enemy? A rival for some young woman’s affections, perhaps?” 
Brian shook his head and bent to kiss Samantha’s hand. “Nothing of that sort. Sometime I’ll let you see his file. It is quite enlightening.” 
“Who is that?” Samantha persisted. 
 “Sir Rupert Cordise.” 
“You mean we have a file on him?”
“That we do.” 
Samantha looked levelly at Brian. “Wasn’t he an MP?” 
“Yes, he was in Parliament until a nasty accident two years ago.”
Sudden suspicion clouded Samantha’s words. “Were you involved in any of that?” 
“I… don’t think so. I wasn’t even working for the Home Office when that happened. Not until a month or so later.” 
Samantha shaped an “O” with her lovely lips. “You’ve certainly risen quickly in the Service.” 
Brian tried to look modest. “Sir Hugh says I have a knack at sniffing out Nazis. Remember what I told you the first day, ‘Performance counts.’ That’s quite true, you know. I got lucky; the powers above credited it to phenomenal ability and—voilà tout!” 
Extracting her hand from his grasp, Samantha clapped them together. “You speak French,” she said delightedly. 
“No. Not well. German and Spanish, but I’m shaky on French.”
Trying to be helpful, Samantha suggested, “You could go to the Military Language School.” 
“What? And be assigned to the commandos and get dumped in France with all those Germans?”
“Bri—an, that’s not like you. You’re not a coward. I know that. And you are good at what you do. You can make light of it if you wish, but I think it’s wonderful when someone speaks another language. Especially a man.”
That proved an unconscious revelation to Brian. “How is that? Is a man supposed to lack the intellectual capacity? Are we all caveman brutes?”
Samantha wrinkled her nose. “It’s not that, Brian. Really, I mean that. It’s just that, as a woman, I see men much as other women do. You are all supposed to be involved in business, or a military career, or science. You know the typical image of the British gentleman.” She closed her eyes and quoted. “They are always saying, ‘If I speak slowly and loudly enough, the blighters will have to understand. The nerve of these native louts, too lazy to learn the King’s English.’ One doesn’t expect to see an Englishman speaking foreign languages.” She stopped to silence a giggle with her napkin.
“You’re teasing me.”
“Yes, and I love it, Brian. You look so… so stricken.” This time the titter escaped.
They ate in silent appreciation of the excellent meal. The wine was superb and, after dessert, they enjoyed coffee. Brian called for the check and they departed. Samantha would be leaving at the end of the week. In spite of that, Brian found himself reluctant to rush her off to his apartment. He took her on a stroll through Hyde Park instead. A sidewalk orator had attracted a smattering of crowd and began to wax eloquent as Brian and Samantha approached.
“Hitler’s a monster, yes,” he bellowed. “He is also not truly a Socialist. Real Socialism as defined by the Communist Party International, and the leadership of our friends in the Soviet Union, is the natural champion of the working class. Not until you English drag down and exterminate the decadent aristocrats who oppress you, will you throw off your chains and join the liberated workers of the world.”
“Shut your pinko mouth!” a burly, broad-shouldered, muscle-bulging ironmonger shouted at him. “I own me own business an’ am proud of it. I couldn’t do that in any country run by you communist-socialist scum.”
“That’s tellin’ him, Alf!” another spectator encouraged him.
“I love the King, too, God bless ’im. You talk about our draggin’ him down an’ killin’ ’im. I oughta come up there and knock yer block off.”
“Do it, Alf. Do for him right now!” a man near the front urged. 
“Running dog of the capitalist vermin. You are a part of what’s wrong with England today.”
“Get stuffed,” Alf snarled. “Or I’ll up an’ do it for you. Look at yer. Yer a sorry piece of work.” 
“Good on yer, Alf.”
Samantha looked up appealingly to Brian. “Oh, dear, haven’t we, as a people, something better to get excited about?” 
Brian thought over the hundreds of years of history that spanned the gulf between himself and this perceptive, sensitive young woman and sighed. “Sometimes I wonder.”
 
 
Time: 1800, EST, June 30, 1940
Place: Jagdfliegerführer II, Beauvais, 
Occupied France
 
 
At long, long last. Colonel Werner Ruperle climbed eagerly aboard the Ju-52 transport. An improved model of the old Fokker Tri-Motor, the powerful three-engined aircraft had become the workhorse of the modem Wehrmacht, providing cargo transportation and a platform for paratroopers. He fitted his frame into one of the webbing seats and leaned back against the sparse padding affixed to a metal strip that ran the length of both uninsulated outer walls. Sighing, he stretched his legs full length across the duckboard deck. Only he and three couriers would be aboard. 
After a week and a half delay, his leave papers had come through. Damn well about time, he thought again angrily. A short hop to München, the train home, and he would be in the arms of his family before nightfall. His only regret seemed insignificant. to that prospect.
He felt badly about leaving the squadron in the hands of Captain Ludwig von Gruder, replacement for Captain Ferdy Kleiber, who had been promoted and given a squadron to acquire command experience. Musing, Ruperle noted that Ferdy saw it as a demotion. Metal clanged as the passengers climbed in the wide side door. A moment later, the starter cartridge ignited with a bang and the fuselage-mounted center engine coughed to life, the throttle came out, and the three-bladed propeller spun lazily. 
His heartbeat increased. To him he was headed the correct way. In their last raid, his aircraft had taken several terrible tears in the fuselage. A fragment of shrapnel from one of them had slashed the throat of his waist gunner. The poor boy had died before the squadron reached the coast of England. For an irrational moment, fury had bridled Col Ruperle. It drove out reason and caused him to wish fervently he could release his load of bombs over the nearest English city.
Immediately ashamed of himself, he had said a prayer for young Reisheimer, a Catholic boy from near-to-home Prier, on the opposite side of the Ammersee. Then he had so perfectly led his squadron to the target, his fifth beyond leave eligibility, that not a bomb fell off the factory complex. On the way back to France, he allowed himself a brief time to grieve for Reisheimer. 
It all came flooding back now as the engines began to throb and the Ju-52 rolled onto the taxi strip. He had written Reisheimer’s parents. Perhaps a personal call would be in order. After all, the boy had been on his aircraft. Yes, that is what he would do. It would make them feel better, he knew, even if it would not erase the tiny, cold spot of misery in his own heart.
 
 
Time: 1321, GMT, July 5, 1940
Place: Coventry, Warwickshire, England
 
 
Back in Coventry Samantha set up surveillance on a man suspected of operating a directional beacon for the Luftwaffe. For two days she tagged along through the streets of the city from his home to the shop where he worked as an accounting clerk. She even ate her noon meal from the same greasy fish and chips stand. On the third day, his routine changed unexpectedly.
At noon, he left the shop, as usual, then bypassed the wheeled barrow of the fish vendor and went directly to his house. There, a short while after he entered, a dim light appeared in the small window of the attic. Samantha made note of the time and kept watch from half a block away. 
When the half hour of his usual lunch break passed without his leaving the house, let alone returning to work, Samantha felt a thrust of interest. Another ten minutes went by. Then she heard the all too familiar, distant drone of aircraft engines. The Germans were coming. And Samantha did not need a radio or radar to know that they would bomb the rail yard at Birmingham again.
Nazi squadrons passed by close enough to Coventry that Samantha could make out the shape of the individual aircraft and name them. Once they had gone by, the sudden appearance of her subject on his doorstep caught her by surprise. He left, walking briskly, and she set out to follow.
Samantha tailed him to a narrow alley, between tall, brick buildings. That stopped her momentarily. She knew she dare not enter directly behind him. It went against all her training. Gnawing on her lower lip, she forced herself to walk past the alley. When she reached the mouth of the dark passage, she gave a quick glance down its length.
Her man had completely disappeared. Quickly she turned into the opening and advanced along the alley. Walking on tiptoe to avoid the loud ring of her low, sensible heels, she neared the midway point. Suddenly a hand and arm flashed out of a dark, recessed entryway and yanked Samantha off her feet and into an unlighted room. She hadn’t even time to cry out before a chloroformed gauze pad clamped tightly across her nose and mouth.




 
 
Time: 1520, GMT, July 5, 1940
Place: High Street Jail, Thameside, 
London, England
 
 
Brian Moore returned to the High Street Jail. He had been sweating David Cowerie for three days past a week. So far the results had been far from productive. Any ordinary man caught in the act of what could be called treason might be broken down easily. Not so this traitor from the future. One by one, his other interrogators had dropped out, convinced that nothing would be gained, short of a little old-fashioned torture. Brian entered Cowerie’s cell alone, certain that today he had the leverage that would break the man.
He began without preamble. “Tell me, how much did you expect to make for this?” Brian produced a glassine envelope that held a three-gram piece of germanium. “And when?” 
Although obviously shaken, Cowerie tried to bluff his way past the surprising disclosure. “I don’t know what you’re talking about.” 
“There aren’t any computer chips in 1940, Cowerie. You’ll have to wait a good forty more years to peddle it in the here and now.” Cowerie blanched an even sicklier white and his rat face grew more drawn and narrow. “I’ve been told it’s worth a quarter million an ounce in our Home Culture. I imagine you’re looking for a similar payoff?” 
Cowerie swallowed hard and his mouth worked a moment before he could force words past his protruding, buck teeth. “Y-you’re not from now?” It came out more an accusation than a question. 
Brian shook his head. “No more than you are. I’m with the Temporal Warden Corps. You have been a bad boy, Cowerie.” Brian raised one closed fist and ticked off Cowerie’s crimes with his fingers. “Use of unauthorized, bootleg Beamer; buying up artifacts that will be priceless in your Home Culture; operating a navigational beacon for the Germans; and, worst of all, trading secrets for germanium with the Nazis.” He made to add more when the slam of iron bars behind him interrupted. 
A ranker entered with cool efficiency. “There’s an urgent call for you from Coventry, Colonel.” 
“Thank you, I’ll come at once.”
Out in the office, which had once been the squad room for the Beefeaters, Brian lifted the handset from where it lay on a much-stained blotter. “Moore here,” he announced. 
“Colonel Moore. This is Agnes Whitney, at the Coventry office. Miss Trillby has failed to make her routine check-in call.”
“For how long?”
The disembodied voice gave him the bad news. “For the last two. It’s been an hour since the second was missed.” 
“What was she on to for today?” Brian asked tightly, aware of the danger that lurked out there for anyone in their trade. 
“Same as the past four days; surveying these blokes suspected of spying.” 
Brian thought for only a moment. “I’ll leave at once.” 
 
 
Time: 1535, GMT, July 5, 1940 
Place: Le Paradis Restaurant, Covent Garden, 
London, England
 
 
Sir Rupert Cordise entertained guests at a luncheon in a small, semiprivate restaurant off Covent Garden. Most of those attending could usually be found this time of year taking the baths at Brighton. But with the U-boat scare, they had remained in the city. One figure stood out as an odd choice for inclusion—Neville Chamberlain, with whom Sir Rupert was conversing when the maitre d’ approached with a small square of paper on a silver salver.
“… so you see, Neville, it wasn’t German agents like the sensationalist journalists claimed. I have no idea who the hit-and-run driver was, and the police have been of not the least assistance. I remained in seclusion last year after my release from hospital and am only now getting out and around again. Truth is, I might even stand for Parliament again…” 
“Pardon me, Sir Rupert,” the head waiter purred. He offered the notepaper.
Sir Rupert took it and read, then turned to the former Prime Minister. “Excuse me, Neville, it seems there is someone who rang me up on the telephone that I simply must speak with.” 
He strode away, back erect for all the discomfort it caused him. Across the room, Clive Beattie watched with interest as their host departed for the hallway. No one who knew him would have recognized him. He had a thick, leonine shock of snowy white hair, deeply receding into a dramatic widow’s peak; the dark skin of an East Indian; and eyes made indistinct and watery by black, round spectacles. What could that be about? he wondered. Something important to take the old rogue away from his flattering bevy of young women, surely. Beattie made note to find out if he could. 
In the hall, Sir Rupert lifted the handset of the French style telephone from a small, round, Queen Anne table and dialed a number. When the party answered, he spoke crisply, albeit in a low voice. “Cordise here.” Words crackled in his ear.
“Tell me all you can about this woman.” He listened briefly, then ordered, “Find out everything you can from her. Who has been compromised, how much is known by MI-5, if my name has come up. Then dispose of her promptly.”
 
 
Time: 1610, GMT, July 5, 1940 
Place: M-43 Highway, London to Coventry 
 
 
On the road to Coventry, Sergeant Wigglesby had the poor timing of being in a chatty mood. The topic of his monologue was his eldest child, a boy of thirteen. Distracted by his thoughts about Samantha, Brian paid his driver scant attention. 
“Little Ralphie’s up for his Confirmation come Sunday next. It’s at St. Mary’s of Bow Bells, which is good since it will also confirm him as a Pearlyman, sir. The missus has got him a right proper suit, white it is, and shoes to match. Thing is, the little blighter has up and taken himself off to his uncle Tom on our family’s cockle barge.”
“Is that so?” Brian muttered distractedly. 
“Sure as I’m drivin’ this car, sir. What makes it hard, sir, is that they’ll be dredging cockles off Sprit Head for a good two weeks. Tom’s got him an icehouse hold aboard and can keep his harvest until it amounts to a great many guineas, instead of a paltry few coppers.
“But it means the boy’ll miss his Confirmation class, what’s put the missus out a goodly bit. Tom’s wife and our mother cook up the sea snails and me missus sells them from a barrow, half a crown the paper twist, along with chips, of course, and a fiery Jamaica sauce that would blister a proper Englishman’s tongue, it would.” Wigglesby paused a moment. “Funny,” he observed, “how all these foreigners and wogs crowdin’ in because of the war ragin’ here and yon, always bring along their tastes in food, and it’s us what’s got to adapt.” Wigglesby’s voice sang with a Cockney accent that grew thicker with each word.
Brian’s concern over the disappearance of Samantha overrode his usual amusement with the rambling tales of his driver, When Wigglesby momentarily ceased his verbosity, Brian broke in brusquely.
“Why don’t you take a day’s leave, go to Sprit Head, and hire a boat? Then go out and bring the boy back. That would make your wife happy, and maybe give you a little peace of mind.”
That apparently didn’t sit well with Wigglesby, He worked his mouth into a shape of rejection. “I’m not all so sure that would work, Ralphie would not be too keen on it either. And, after all, the boy is near a man grown. If you don’t mind, sir, I’ll have to work out something else.”
 
 
Time: 1630, GMT, July 5, 1940
Place: Hamphill Aerodrome, RAF Base,
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Sgt. Wendall Foxworth sucked the stick back into his hard, flat belly and watched the green fields of Warwickshire tilt away as the nose of his Hurricane swung into a near-perpendicular angle and the wind screamed off the wingtips. As starboard wingman to the assistant squadron leader, he looked to his left at the calm face of Lt. Ramsey. 
He always seemed so unconcerned. Yet they would soon be mixing it up with Messerschmitts and bombers and… some of them would not be coming back. Wendall always thought of that. But not Ramsey. He lived to fly and to fight, to drink, and boff all the good-looking girls for miles around the aerodrome. Well, there would be fighting enough for anyone this afternoon. 
According to the briefing they received in the pilots’ ready room, there would be three echelons of German bombers, escorted by four squadrons of Me-109’s and Fokwulf 84’s. A flicker of movement came from the cockpit to the port side. Ramsey gave the thumbs-up signal and they leveled out. That provided Wendall time to marvel over the superb source of intelligence that let them know when the Jerries were coming and where they would bomb. Did they have a spy right in the heart of Göring’s office? Wendall liked the idea of that. It would serve the Nazis right if we had a way to know their every move. How else could they get such reliable information? Sgt. Foxworth broke his concentration to search the sky. He’d get plenty of the Germans soon enough. 
More stray thoughts came to him. He’d see Sandy tonight at the Blind Goose. He could not believe that only three weeks ago she had allowed him to reach inside her blouse and touch her gorgeous breast for the first time. It had been so soft, so yielding, so silken. He had trembled with arousal as he cupped it and squeezed gently. Now they had slept together. Often and energetically. What’s better, it had happened every night for the last six nights. He felt a growing tension in his loins and sought another, safer subject to think about. 
He soon found it. Swiftly, he raised a trembling hand to his throat mike and keyed it. “Messerschmitts! Bombers at one o’clock high.” 
 
 
Time: 1720, GMT, July 5, 1940
Place: Rooming House on Gloucester Street, Coventry
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Sandy Hammond hurried home from her air raid duties and climbed the stairs on past her room to the door to the attic. Hastily, she unlocked the door. Inside, she went immediately to a low shelf, behind a rank of apple boxes. There she crouched on the dusty floor. With exaggerated care, she reached up and disconnected two alligator clips from the leads to an antenna laid out on the bare rafters of the house. She used equal care when she turned off and wrapped a small, black metal box in a discarded blouse and replaced it in the wooden shell of an old foot-treadle sewing machine.
Wonderingly she looked out the dormer window at the columns of black smoke rising in the distance. “Lor’ love a duck,” she said aloud in awe. “If these raids continue to increase in number and frequency, I’ll soon have more money than I can ever know what to do with.” 
Where could she go to spend her new wealth? Where could she be happy again? Could she dare take Wendall with her? No, that would be impossible. He could never handle the truth.
 
 
Time: 1745, GMT, July 5, 1940
Place: Warwickshire Movers’ (MI-5 Office), Coventry,
Warwickshire, England
 
 
After the air raid ended, Wigglesby returned to the road and drove on to Coventry. Brian arrived at the office of MI-5 as the people were thronging out of the underground shelters. He recognized Agnes Whitney and walked to meet her. 
“You certainly made it quickly, sir,” she advised him.
“Would have been sooner, if the Germans hadn’t paid a visit. Now, what is the latest on Trillby?” 
“Not a word, sir. At least up to the time the air raid whistle blew. Shall we go to the office?” 
They walked along silently. Inside the small cubicle that served Samantha Trillby as an office, Brian went through her daily journal, to see what she was working on. A meticulous person, she had made excellent entries. Brian jotted several names and addresses in on a notepad. Principal among them was Marvin Burroughs. Then he read the last lines. 
“Well, sir?” Agnes prompted.
“Not so simple as that. No smoking gun or pointing finger. I have several leads, but none of them solid enough to go right out and find her.” 
“I do hope there is nothing seriously wrong,” the plain-looking civil servant in her mid-thirties declared.
“Sorry, I’m afraid that’s bound to be wishful thinking. The first one on the list is Bertram Hudnutt. D’you know anything about him?” 
“Can’t say that I do. His name carne from a list provided by you, didn’t it?” 
“Yes,” he replied with relief. Samantha was not unnecessarily spreading around the names of the suspected rogue travelers. “I’m going to go have a look at him.” 
 
 
Time: 1810, CET, July 5, 1940 
Place: Munich, Bavaria, Germany 
 
 
Colonel Werner Ruperle tightly clutched the briefcase that contained his leave papers as he deplaned from the Ju-52 transport plane to München. A Gefreite, a pudding-faced youth actually, drove him to the railroad station in a Panzerkampfwagen, one of the ubiquitous, light-armored, open-topped scout cars, which Ruperle considered incongruous. Werner thanked the young corporal and handed him a five mark note. 
“Buy yourself a beer.” 
Right outside the Bahnhof he was stopped by the Gestapo, who questioned him about his destination and checked his papers. 
“Only routine, Herr Hauptmann,” the sallow, gaunt-faced, mustached man in black leather trench coat and slouch fedora explained. The bleak smile he offered failed to reach his eyes. 
“We’re winning and you have to worry about deserters?”
“No, Herr Hauptmann, it’s the Juden.” His lips twisted with distaste. “These rich Jews seek every means to get out of the Reich.” 
And too bad more of them can’t make it, Werner Ruperle thought bitterly. “They are devious vermin, nicht wahr?” He forced a chuckle. 
“Oh, yes. You are going to Diessen am Ammersee?” 
“Yes. To my home.” 
“Heilsam Reise, Herr Hauptmann.” The Gestapo agent wished him a good journey and gave him the straight-arm, Nazi salute.
 Although the platform swarmed with people, he found the train to the resort lake country scantly occupied, and his first-class compartment blessedly to himself alone. By dinnertime, he would be home. He could almost taste the potato soup—his favorite—he knew Hilda would have for him as a first course. Then some Kassler Ripkin, potato pancakes with apple sauce and Buskohl. For dessert, Sachertorte. He would stuff himself! It seemed that all their Luftwaffe cooks knew how to prepare was sausages, boiled potatoes, and black bread. Outside the car, the blare of a loudspeaker banished all thought of food.
“Achtung! Achtung! All passengers who have boarded trains, please have your travel documents ready for inspection.”
Liebe Gott! Where is my Germany? Werner wondered.




 
 
Time: 0945, GMT, July 6, 1940 
Place: Rumpole Street, Coventry, 
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Brian Moore thumbed the bell push again and looked around the neighborhood from his vantage point on the stoop. So far the street showed no more sign of liveliness or occupation than the residence of Bertram Hudnutt. From inside, the dim sound of what must be an irritating buzzer came to Brian’s ears. Next door, a roller shade flickered to reveal a swatch of white, lace curtain. Brian shoved the button again.
“Pardon me.” The voice, somewhat shaky and hesitant, came from the porch next door. “Are you looking for Bertram, young man?”
Brian turned to find himself facing a silver-haired woman, her face a road map of years. “Yes, I am.”
“He’s not home. Has not been for three days now.”
“On holiday?” Brian asked. 
“Oh, no, he died suddenly.” 
That sat Brian back joltingly. “Heart trouble?” 
“No. I’m not sure what caused it. Only that a constable came by, with two men in suits. I suppose from the CID. They entered his house, and when they left I asked what the trouble might be. They told me that he had died.” 
“I see. Thank you.”
Brian left. He had nothing else he could do. At least not in daylight, with a nosey dowager right next door. 
 
 
A phone call to the local CID office informed Brian that Hudnutt had not died of natural causes. Although they had not handled the case, they had been included in the distribution list for the report. Brian said he would be over to see it.
After producing his identification, Brian was allowed to read the report. Bertram Hudnutt had been shot by a sentry at Hamphill Aerodrome. Hudnutt had scaled a fence and entered the airfield illegally. He had explosives with him and an incendiary device. Brian put the brief report aside and looked up at the CID inspector. 
“Would you have any idea why I was not on the list for this?” 
Showing an indifferent expression, the CID inspector replied neutrally. “This came down to us by the usual channels. I assume it originated with your superior.”
When Brian returned to the office, he asked about the report of the shooting incident. Agnes left her desk to check the file cabinet. After rummaging through dozens of folders, in several drawers, she came up with a copy.
“Here you are, sir. It had been misfiled under military bases. It is so hard to get competent help these days,” she added by means of explaining all failings. “It should have been in the file on the dead man.”
Half a day wasted, Brian thought angrily. Brian took it from her and read it rapidly. As an internal memo of MI-5 the brief report contained far more detail. Bertram Hudnutt had been climbing a fence when a watchdog alerted sentries to his presence. Hudnutt resisted, shooting one man before being shot dead. The explosives he carried had detonated and there was not enough of him left to bury in a matchbox. Brian decided to access his second suspect.
 
 
Time: 1510 GMT, July 6, 1940
Place: Horn and Star Pub, Coventry,
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Liam O’Doul strolled off the campus of the University of Warwick and angled down High Street toward the center of Coventry. He remained unaware of Brian Moore, who had picked him up outside a lecture hall and followed discreetly. Liam led Brian to the Horn and Star, a pub on the riverfront. Although late in the afternoon, the contrast between outdoor brightness and the dark interior of the public house gave Brian the impression he had walked into a cave.
Brian paused, after closing the door, and looked around for his subject. He found Liam seated at a table with three other broody-looking young men. Brian ordered a pint of bitter. When it came, he crossed the room to lean on the ledge of the vertical wooden pole barrier that divided the women’s part from the men’s. The moment he settled in, conversation died. Silently the gathering gave Brian a cold hard eye. 
Judging from the bulky sweaters most wore, they were Irish, as was O’Doul. Goaded by this, Brian tried a subtle bit of subterfuge. Shifting his mug of beer to his left hand he flashed a sign with the right. Index and middle fingers extended, thumb cocked to form the shape of a pistol, followed by an upraised little finger, an old IRA hailing sign. 
At the table, the young men exchanged glances. One of them, a strapping youth with flame-red hair, raised his mug and gestured toward Brian. “Now, would ye be willing to join us?”
“Aye, that I would, I would,” Brian responded, words thick with Dublin accent. “Me name’s Brian Boyne.” 
Introductions went around. “Glendennen. Gower. Fitzsimmons. O’Doul.”
Brian gave each a nod. “Are ye all at the university?” At their nods, he decided on boldness, covered by humor. “And would ye now be about plannin’ the bringin’ down of George Sixth?” 
After that, it all became too easy. The redhead, Fitzsimmons, proved the most talkative. “Not exactly. Sure, though, an’ ye might say we are in a roundabout way, we are.”
Brian fixed him with sharp, gray-green eyes. “What might that be, lads?”
Suddenly suspicious, the black Irish, Liam O’Doul, pinned him with obsidian eyes and probed. “Would ye be tellin’ us what outfit you might be with?” demanded the rogue traveler.
“O’Banyon’s Brigade,” Brian answered levelly. 
Impressed glances went around the table. Again, Fitzsimmons took the lead. “Hoy! Sure, an’ that’s Sinn Fein, for certain true, it is.” 
Still not trusting, O’Doul prodded further, “Sure an’ what’s O’Banyon got hisself up to right about now?”
“Liam,” Fitzsimmons protested. “Go easy, boyo. We invited him to this table after all.”
Brian stared at O’Doul with equal intensity. “About ten years in the King’s lockup, he is.”
“Anyone could know that, he could,” countered O’Doul. “If he’s a copper or a Kingsman in mufti.”
“And I’m neither, I’m not. Now, since that’s the case, what say I buy the next round, then we can let Fitz here fill me in on what you’ve got laid on.”
When the brews came, Fitzsimmons swigged off a long portion, smacked his lips, and proceeded to enlighten Brian. “We’re in the Rescue Service, so’s to speak. What we do is, when there’s German pilots an’ crew what gets safe on the ground or in the water, we goes out and picks them up. Then we take them across to Eire and see they get on their way to their bases in France. Sort of twists the nose of King George, sommat, now doesn’t it?”
“Sure an’ interestin’ it is,” Brian allowed. “The secret of yer game is safe with me, Iads. There’s no love lost between me an’ the Huns, mind. But these pilots and crewmen are young like us, and the way I sees it, there’s no harm in helping them, there’s not.”
Looks of relief went from man to man. Fitzsimmons offered an invitation. “Would ye be wantin’ to join us?” 
Brian sighed, produced mock regret. “I’m afraid I cannot. I only came up from London for a few days, then it’s back to Belfast for me. But it’s good work yer doin’, lads, an’ that’s a fact.” He drank off the last of his beer, came to his feet, and made his excuses. 
Cross O’Doul and his friends off the list, Brian Moore thought as he stepped outside the pub. The IRA had a lot of murderous bastards in its ranks, but he’d not heard of them kidnapping or killing women. At least not in this era. He would have to look further.
 
 
Time: 1745 CET, July 6, 1940
Place: Diessen am Ammersee, 
Bavaria, Germany
 
 
After the five o’clock “lunch,” Colonel Werner Ruperle daily took his family down to the Ammersee to engage in a local tradition. The residents of Diessen rarely had access to their lake on weekends. The village population hardly topped 650, yet occupants swelled on weekends to several thousand. They came from Munich, Augsburg, Regensburg, and other large cities for a pleasant outing in the lake district. So it was that the custom began for families to take an evening bathe in the lake during the week. Changing rooms stood close at hand, for those who shunned parading through the center of town in their bathing costumes. 
Werner and his two sons made straight for the men’s cabana, while Hilda and his daughter, Gretchen, went the opposite direction. Inside, the boys stripped down quickly. Col. Ruperle marveled at how thin Bruno had become. Naked, the tow-headed lad looked even more to be nine rather than twelve. Grinning, Bruno pulled on a skimpy set of racer’s trunks. 
“Rutger and Klaus will be here,” he announced for his parent’s benefit. 
Werner knew Klaus Dieter to be Bruno’s closest friend. At mention of his name, the boy grew visibly less somber. At least there hadn’t been any falling-out there, Werner reflected. Yet something had to account for Bruno’s subdued manner. Yesterday evening; his wife had met him at the train station and hugged him possessively. Then they went up the hill to the tidy, Bavarian style house and into a dinner exactly like the one he had visualized. His children had noisily made him welcome. Yet Bruno seemed withdrawn. Finishing his own change, the Luftwaffe colonel slung his towel over one shoulder and led the way to the swimming dock.
Bruno ran full tilt to the far end and dived cleanly into the warm water. Mannfred held back with his father. At seven, he retained a little hesitancy about swimming. Hilda and Gretchen joined them, laughing. How far away the war seems, Werner marveled. He breathed deeply, luxuriating in the heady air, filled with fragrant blossoms of fruit trees. Not even the ominous presence of the black-suited and trench-coated Gestapo agent, who lounged against one end of a picnic table, could dispel Werner Ruperle’s good mood this evening. Bruno paddled up and splashed him. The water felt good.
“Watch me, Father, I’m going to dive again,” the boy urged. 
“Fine. You do that.”
A gleeful shout came from some children splashing in the shallows. 
“Ducks! Baby ducks!” 
Would God that it could always be like this, Werner mused. Images of the corrupt blossoms of exploding flack shells flashed momentarily behind his eyes. With a harsh effort, he banished them. 
 
 
Time: 0017, GMT, July 7, 1940,
Place: The Beach, Below the Dover Cliffs,
Kentshire, England
 
 
A thin slice of moon sent platinum streaks across the inky waves of the English Channel. Long, slow swells gave a false impression of the incredible power of that mighty sea. When angered, this passage could be far more devastating than the Pacific Ocean. Far back in Neolithic times, that body of water that became the North Sea ate its way through the limestone and chalk cliffs of an old river course, thus dividing the British Isles from the continent of Europe.
Currents then formed, only a scant few feet below the benign-looking surface. They still remained and raced the length with the force of a tsunami. Only the genius of man could prevail against such raw nature. And then only on rare occasion.
That proved so on that night when the pacific surface boiled white with foam and bubbles. Gradually, a black object rose from the depths. In less than five minutes, the towerlike structure had risen enough to reveal the long, sleek tube formation below. The U513 had come. 
She confidently rode the swells, nose pointed to the west to provide the least profile. Two sailors in the blue-and-white uniforms of the German submarine force dragged an inflatable rubber boat from a hatch on the foredeck and secured it alongside the pressure hull. An officer climbed down the ladder from the conning tower. He scrambled gracefully down into the rubber craft and cast off. A small, muffled outboard engine sputtered to life.
Ten minutes later the rounded prow nudged up on the sand and pebbles under the hauntingly glowing Cliffs of Dover. A man stepped out of the shadows and walked to the uniformed officer. His jet-black hair was combed straight back and so pomaded that the scant moonlight glistened off it. He wore a conservative suit and walked with a slight limp, brought on by the insert in his right shoe. When the captain of the U-boat acknowledged his presence, the landsman raised his arm in a stiff salute.
“Heil Hitler!”
“Heil Hitler!” the sailor responded. 
“It is good to see you again, Herr Kapitän,” said Clive Beattie. “I have something for you. It came from the top, so it’s guaranteed,” the rogue time traveler continued in fluent German. 
“What is it, may I ask?” 
Beattie produced a rueful grin. “Better you learn it through channels from Admiral Raeder.” Then he changed his mind. “Only, since it affects you, I can tell you that it has to do with the new North Sea convoy routes. It also details the changes in convoy dates and code designations.”
“Wunderbar! It could not come at a better time. Our last patrol, we fired only two torpedoes and one of them missed. The big convoys are not there when we expect them. This should give us a chance.” Smiling, Capt. Horst Niedermann produced an oilskin-wrapped parcel. “Oh, I have something for you, too.”
Avarice glowed in the eyes of Clive Beattie as he reached for the small package. “Thank you, Captain Niedermann.” After pocketing his payment, Beattie snapped to attention. Stiff-armed, he saluted again. “Sieg Heil!” 
“Yes, Hail Victory,” Niedermann returned.
They shook hands and Beattie turned away toward the path that led to the top of the cliffs. Behind him, Capt. Niedermann removed his crushed officer’s hat and scratched idly at his thinning hair. For whatever does that närrisch Englishman want common mica? 
 
 
Time: 0323, GMT, July 7, 1940 
Place: A Cellar of a Building on Dryden Way, 
Coventry, Warwickshire, England
 
 
Samantha Trillby looked up from the lukewarm bowl of porridge. The sticky oatmeal made her want to gag. To make it worse, this disagreeable troll always sat with her and watched her eat. So far they had not harmed her, beyond the first time they clapped the chloroform-soaked rag over her face. How long ago had that been?
It didn’t feel like a day had passed. Yet they had fed her four times, always the same disgusting gruel. In between feedings, they had put her under again. Disoriented and anxious because of it, she decided to try to gain some knowledge.
“Where are we and why did you bring me here?” 
A dark scowl twisted the ugly features even more. “Do not talk. You are here to answer questions, not ask them.” 
“But why? What could I possibly know that would be useful to you?”
“Silence!” Menacingly he came to his feet, snatched the bowl from her grasp, and clapped a chloroform rag over her mouth and nose.
It seemed only an eye-blink when Samantha awakened again. This time another man stood behind her brute jailer. Marvin Burroughs, the man she had been following.
His voice held an oily whine. “Well, Miss Trillby, I don’t think we’ll need to detain you much beyond another two days.” 
Two days? Had it been that long? Her body didn’t feel like it. She matched his cold, deadly stare with a twin glare. Briskly massaging his palms, he took a step toward her. When he reached a spot that impinged upon her personal space, she involuntarily jerked backward on her backless stool. Water dripped from the gray, stone walls that surrounded them. They were underground, she knew that much. He smirked at her reaction, then he started talking to her again.
“If you cooperate, you will suffer nothing more than a bit of discomfort. If you fail to assist us enthusiastically, we can make it extremely painful for you.”
Samantha kept her face calm. “I don’t know what you are talking about.”
“Corne, Miss Trillby. Isn’t it a fact that you work for MI-5?”
“What is MI-5?” Before the last word had left her mouth, his hand lashed out viciously and the palm crashed against her left cheek.
“Enough of that. Evidently you did not take me seriously earlier. We deal with truth and reality here. The truth is that you are an agent of British Intelligence. The reality is that not even your own mother would recognize you after I finish inflicting pain if you persist in being obstreperous. Now, shall we begin anew?”
Samantha looked him hard in the eye. “Go bugger yourself.” 
This time she got a backhand, with a cruel signet ring on one finger that laid open a three-inch gouge on her right cheek. Warm blood trickled down to the point of her chin where it dripped into her lap. Her eyes teared but did not overflow. Her left cheek had already begun to turn a sickly yellow-green around a scarlet center.
“Tell me about MI-5, Miss Trillby.” 




 
 
Time: 2300, GMT, July 7, 1940 
Place: Apartment of Brian Moore,
Threadneedle Street, 
London, England
 
 
Stymied by his inability to trace Samantha in two days’ effort, Brian had Wigglesby take him back to London. They drove in silence to Brian’s apartment, where he dismissed his driver. 
“It’s late,” Brian observed with a yawn while he gazed across Barenson Mews and, a quarter mile away, Big Ben tolled eleven. “Go home to that family of yours, Mr. Wigglesby.” 
“Coor, that’s Sergeant Wigglesby, if you please, sor.” 
Brian laughed aloud as the Austin’s taillights dwindled in the distance. Then he climbed the sandstone steps to the front door. Inside, he quickly changed into the workman’s clothing and left again.
At a matchbox-tiny garage, he retrieved his Morris Garage roadster. The black, squared-off, speedy roadster hugged the cobbles of the streets a scant four inches above their polished surface. The ride took only seven minutes. Brian parked outside the sham travel agency and ran a chain from the steering wheel to a lamppost, which he secured with a padlock. The building was dark.
Brian used a key to enter. Frank Matsumoto snored softly in a corner, his head on the desk, cradled in folded arms. Brian slid past him without disturbing the security guard. Downstairs, Brian located Vito in the Tech’s personal quarters.
Still muzzy with sleep, Vito Alberdi knuckled one eye as he looked up at the Resident. “What’s the rush, chum?” 
“Pressing business,” Brian evaded, not revealing it to be personal business. Damn it, he had decided while checking out worthless leads in Coventry, he could not leave Samantha in a dangerous situation and simply walk away from it. If routine MI-5 procedures did not work, he had an alternative. He tossed Vito his trousers and went into the operating center, flicking on lights as he entered. 
“It’s the middle of the night,” Vito protested as he ran fingers through his black hair to straighten it. 
“Right, and I want you to scan the history log forward to see if you can find any information on a Miss Samantha Trillby. You are to determine if she is deceased, and if so, where her body was found.”
Vito blinked. “How long do you expect this to take?” 
“I don’t know. All I know is she has gone missing and we have to find her.”
Cocking an eyebrow, Vito spoke dryly. “That could get tricky. And how do we justify the expense?”
Brian had not considered that. “I’d say we were checking into one of the rogue time travelers.” 
A snort escaped Vito. “Boss, d’you think Director Gallubin will buy that?” 
“Arkady will scream at the expense.”
Light flashed on the Beamer console and the transport device shimmered into life. Vito stared at it as though it had reached out and kissed him. What came next got a rise out of both Warden Corps men. Brian’s voice spoke from the front of the Beamer as the core collapsed and the containment field whined down to dormancy.
“You don’t need to worry about that.” Brian’s other self stepped into the room. A green indicator light on the console indicated that a Temporal Collision Avoidance Field was in operation. “I came back here from two weeks in the future. Samantha’s body has been found on a weed-covered lot on the bank of the river, near the north end of the city. She had been tortured and mutilated.” 
“How are you going to explain the cost of this little expedition?” Brian asked his other self. 
“Spread the power expenditure around a little, eh? A short jump from now will cost a lot less than ahead and back again, right? We’ll come out in Coventry wherever you want, two weeks from now, and can come back when we choose.” 
That made sense. Brian admitted it with a sigh. “All right, get it ready, will you, Vito. And—ah—you and Frank take tomorrow morning off, okay?” He gave Vito a wink. 
Grinning, Vito rubbed his palms together. “Sure, Boss. Whatever you say.”
 
 
Time: 1000, GMT, July 21, 1940
Place: CID Office, Police Post, Coventry,
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Brian and his future self advanced to early morning on the date of the finding and, after driving to Coventry, the future Brian presented himself at the local CID office.
A ruddy-faced, jowly Criminal Investigation Division sergeant peered up beyond the identification offered him and cocked his head to one side. “Didn’t know we’d attract the attention of the Yard so early in a case.” 
He sounded as though he resented Brian’s presence as an intrusion. Yet he was secretly pleased to have the expertise of this Assistant Superintendent Brian Moore on this case. A particularly sticky one, as he saw it. And the way MI-5 was poking around a couple of days back, it could be the dead girl was some sort of spy. A regular Mata Hari, he thought. So let the Yard get their fingers burnt. Better them than him. 
“Sergeant Telford, is it? Right. I would very much like to get a look at the crime scene.” 
Telford raised an eyebrow. “Y’mean now? Why, it’s time for the regular mid-morning tea cart to be around. They’ve got some cream buns I’m particular’ fond of.” 
Brian eyed the broad expanse of Telford’s middle. “Yes, I’m sure you are. And, yes, now. You can snag something on the way out.”
Grumbling under his breath, Sgt. Telford got up from behind his desk to follow Brian out.
 
 
Time: 1340, CET, July 7, 1940
Place: Ruperle Home, Diessen am Ammersee,
Bavaria, Germany
 
 
Colonel Werner Ruperle sat on the porch in a hand-carved wooden chair, propped back against the wall of his house. He had been in Diessen am Ammersee for two days now and enjoyed it thoroughly. Though Bruno still seemed a bit withdrawn. He would find out about that this evening.
Hilda brought him a bottle of Spaaten Lager, his favorite beer, the ceramic stopper hinged back out of the way. She poured for him and sat beside her husband on a bench. “Werner, I am so happy that the war will end now that France has fallen. Surely, the Führer will rethink this invasion of England.”
“I’m not so sure, dear. The question is, if we do suspend hostilities, will the British do likewise? I am not inclined to think so, and neither is Hitler.” He lifted the heavy stein and took a long pull.
“I worry so about you. I know you could not write me about it, so it came as quite a shock. To be flying over England nearly every day. What a terrible risk that is.”
Werner patted her dress-covered knee. “Not as much as you might think. The RAF has only a finite number of aircraft. We’re whittling them down steadily. And the Americans are not sending nearly so many as Churchill would like everyone to think.”
“Will America get into the war?”
“I doubt it. Particularly if you have your way and the fighting ends now, with the surrender of France.”
Hilda cocked her blond head. “Somehow I don’t find that funny.”
“I really hoped you would. Now, enough about the war. It is what’s going on here that interests me. Bruno seemed ...” He shrugged. “Reluctant, I suppose I could say. He acted as though I were a stranger. Not only when I first arrived, but ever since.” 
“I don’t know what to say. Talk to him, Werner. See if you can find out what is on his mind.” 
Ruperle nodded. “I shall. Have him come out here now.” 
Bruno came at his father’s summons, and his mother tactfully withdrew. Werner Ruperle examined his son with care, and growing interest. The boy took after his mother, had her flax-white hair and cobalt eyes. Always small for his age, he looked more to be nine, Werner thought again, than the twelve years he could claim to. Werner knew him to be a sensitive child. One given to daydreams and stargazing. The last in a most literal and tangible manner. 
For his last Christmas, Werner had purchased a telescope for the boy. Bruno had spent hours since, peering at the southern sky out the dormer window in the high, peaked roof over his bedroom. He had made star charts of the heavens, some of which had been meticulously copied and shyly sent along in letters to a proud father in a far-off air base near Dresden. Now that summer had come, Bruno set up on the postage-stamp front lawn and worked the northeastern quadrant. He cut furtive glances at his equipment while standing before his father.
Col. Ruperle took a long puff on his pipe and exhaled. “Do you want to tell me about it, Bruno?”
“Sir?”
“What is it that’s bothering you?”
Internal anguish crumpled Bruno’s face. “It’s the other boys. At the Gymnasium, sir.”
“I thought you liked your school.”
“I do. I am second in my class. And the teachers are nice. Except for Herr Wittenauer. He keeps after me about joining the Jugend. All of the other boys who have turned twelve have joined.”
“What does your principal say?” Werner prompted.
“Father Gerhart attends their meetings,” Bruno said miserably. “Many boys who have just come from Grammatik Schul, some as young as ten, have joined, too. They hear Wittenauer going on at me and they pick on me too. They call me Jew-lover,” Bruno went on, lowering his eyes in embarrassment.
Ruperle read his son’s emotions clearly. “Do you think it is proper, then, to hate the Jews?” 
A startled expression illuminated the face of Bruno Ruperle. “Oh, no, sir. You taught me…”
The colonel halted his son with an upraised hand. “l thought I also taught you to hold your tongue around that kind.” 
“And I have, sir. I never speak out in defense of a Jew. But I don’t engage in hate talk about them, either. And I don’t participate in the Jew-baiting the others enjoy so much.”
“You don’t regret what you are doing?”
“Oh, no, sir. It’s only…” Tears sprang to life in Bruno’s deep blue eyes and began to spill over. “These boys are my friends—used to be my friends, I guess. I want to have friends, like anyone else. It’s only… only that I don’t want to join the Hitler Jugend.”
“What made that so difficult to talk about with me?” 
Bruno mopped at one eye, his thin-lipped mouth twisted into a grimace of mental anguish. “It seems like you’ve been gone forever. And I’m a little afraid of you because you are a soldier, a hero of the Fatherland, an officer. You have to be a party member to be an officer, they teach us in school.”
“That’s true.” Ruperle reached out, drew his son close to him. He rested one big hand on a slim shoulder. “You need not be afraid of me, son. I am a member of the National Socialist German Workers’ Party, but that does not make me a Nazi. Nor a Jew-hater. Not in here.” He thumped his chest. “Or here.” Another tap of a finger to his head. “It’s what is in your heart and mind that makes you a National Socialist, or any other person for that matter. I have told you this before. Why is it troubling you now?”
“Because… I want… want you to find some way to keep me from having to join. I need your help, Father.”
Pain burned in the chest and eyes of Werner Ruperle. He sighed heavily and embraced his son. “I am afraid that, given our Germany today, I have very little to encourage you, son. It may well be that you will have no choice. That, like me, to survive, you will have to join. And God have mercy on us for it.”
 
 
Time: 1025, GMT, July 21, 1940 
Place: The Quay, Coventry,
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Two weeks in the future for Colonel Ruperle, Brian Moore examined the crime scene. The place where the body had lain had been cordoned off, and additional barriers placed around the entire lot. It took Brian only seconds to reach the same conclusion as Sgt. Telford. 
“It’s obvious she was not killed or tortured here, Sergeant.”
“Yes, sir, that’s what I put in me notes, sir.”
“She also wasn’t brought here in plain sight of anyone who might happen along.” 
“Hummm. Hadn’t considered that, sir. Why do you say so?”
“Simple logic. Since no one has reported anyone carting a corpse around, no one saw anything of the sort.” 
“Could have done it in the middle of the night,” Telford suggested. 
“The weather’s been good here of late?” 
“Yes, sir. Right seasonably mild.” 
“And when do the brooks and browns surface to feed?” 
Surprise and confusion lighted Telford’s face. “What’s fish got to do with it?” 
“Everything, my good Sergeant Telford. Just tell me when they feed.”
“Why, late at night, by moonlight.” 
Brian pointed to some Y-shaped stakes driven into the riverbank nearby. “If I’m not mistaken, those are fishing rod rests. Put there recently, I’d say. Very likely last night. If the body had been here it would have been found by the fishermen. Those boys did it easy enough coming down at daylight.
“She may have been dead three days, but she was kept somewhere else. Then brought here early this morning and dumped, after the fishermen left.”
“Whatever for?”
“We may never know, Sergeant. Anything else unusual about the body?”
“No, sir. Wait! We collected some fibers off the palms of her hands. Seemed to be dyed wool. There was more under the fingernails and toenails.”
“What did you do with it?”
“Took it to the lab to be analyzed. Answer should be back by noon.”
Brian checked his wristwatch. “Let’s go see if it is.”
 
 
 
Back at the police station, Brian soon learned that the report on the fibers had indeed come in. He read it carefully while Sgt. Telford glanced meaningfully and often at the large clock over the desk sergeant’s dais.
“’Fibers in question are consistent with fibers found in the manufacture of certain Oriental rugs. Among those submitted,’” the dry language of the report droned as Brian read it aloud, “’were found seven strands identical to rugs known as Kirmans. Five were identical to strands from Isfahans. Nine came from Adanas, made in the city of the same name in Turkey. Matching fibers were found in the samples of hair taken from the scalp and pubic region of the corpse.’ Odd. What’s that tell us, Sergeant?”
“That it’s time to get us a bite of lunch, wot?” Telford offered suggestively.
“No. I think it says she was carried there in one or more Oriental rugs. And that she had lain on those or some others for quite a while before being abandoned in the lot. Now, who might you know among the rough element in Coventry with a taste for Oriental rugs?” 
“Ain’t none, as I could say, Inspector. But there is an Oriental carpet shop on Dryden Way, along the river quay. Not two blocks from where the body got found.” 
Brian brightened. “Have you the address?” When he had that in hand, he became briskly efficient. “Now, Sergeant Telford, I suggest that it is time indeed for you to have that spot of lunch. First start an inquiry for information on those who run the shop. Then round up a squad and go there to make the arrests.”
“Very well, sir. You’ll not be…” Telford asked hopefully, surprised that the Scotland Yard sod would not want to hog all the credit. 
Brian shook his head. “No. I have other matters to attend to that will make certain a conviction when you’ve made the arrests.”
Making all good time back to the grove of beech trees on the outskirts of Coventry, Brian activated his “phone booth” PTTD and made his final hop, back to his present and the London Time Station.




 
 
Time: 2320, GMT, July 7, 1940
Place: Time Station London, Thameside, 
London, England 
 
 
Vito Alberdi looked up as both Brian Moores materialized in the usual place. “Find what you were looking for?”
Brian could not suppress the grin. “Sure did. Exactly where they have her.”
“Have who?”
The Brians dismissed it. “Oh, never mind.” 
“C’mon, no secrets from a partner in Time.” 
Real-time Brian answered. “We’re off to rescue a damsel in distress. She’s not one of us, but she does work for me at MI-5.” 
“The good-looking one from out of town you’ve been squiring around?”
“You’ve been snooping?” 
“Nothing more than your Trac Link can reveal. Go on, my friend. This one’s worth saving. You need some help?”
“We’ll take Frank. You, I need monitoring things here.” 
With Frank Matsumoto barely awake in the left seat, Brian I sped off in the MG roadster toward Coventry. Brian II followed in the Morris Minor sedan. Their destination: the Oriental rug shop at 23 Dryden Way Road.
 
 
Time: 0150, GMT, July 8, 1940 
Place: Oriental Rug Shop, Dryden Way, 
Coventry, Warwickshire, England
 
 
Brian Moore, I and II, and Frank Matsumoto cruised slowly past the carpet store. It was ten to two in the morning. At the end of the block, Brian I parked the MG and they walked back to join Brian II. Together the trio headed for the silent, blacked-out store. Brian’s vibrating lock-pick, another product of the future, quickly gave them access. Frank found a blond, square-jawed SS type asleep at a desk in the rear.
With the blackjack from his hip pocket, Frank put the German into a deeper sleep. Brian came up to him. “Just like you, Frank,” he whispered.
“What do you mean? I never sleep on duty.”
“What were you doing when I came in earlier tonight?”
Frank pulled a straight face. “Resting my eyes.” 
“You always make that sawing wood noise when you rest your eyes?”
“Get stuffed, bucko.”
“You’ve been hanging out with the Irish again,” Brian teased. Then he motioned to search the shop.
Their scrutiny produced nothing except a closed door that led to the basement. Brian removed his shoes and went soundlessly down the stone stairs. Frank followed. A penlight flicked on and swept the black pit before them. Wooden frames stood in ranks, filled with rolled carpets. It looked as though they filled the entire area.
Brian walked the length of the central aisle and found it did not correspond to the street floor. It seemed to be some three paces short. “Brian,”—talking to himself seemed odd—“Frank, take that other aisle and the far end and pace it off. Tell me what you think.”
He then took the third and last. They met in the cross-passage at the blank wall. “Too short,” Frank announced. Brian II agreed.
“That’s what I come up with. There’s another room back there. What we need is to find a way in.” 
It took Brian ten minutes to locate a thin seam which he traced to form a rectangle. A little careful study showed him the way to open it. He pushed a large brass nail head and a soft click sounded. Soundlessly, the panel swung inward.
Glaring actinic light shot out from beyond. It revealed three men in shirtsleeves bent over a chair. With a curse of surprise and alarm, the one with his back to Brian jumped aside. The occupant of that chair, Brian quickly saw, was Samantha Trillby. Through pain-teared eyes, she focused on her rescuers.
“Brian! You took long enough to find me,” she croaked throatily, still game for all her torment. 
One of the three men reached behind his back, and produced a Luger pistol. Brian I had already filled his hand with the heavy .45 Webley revolver. It cracked with ear-punishing loudness in the confined area. A black-rimmed hole appeared in the center of the German’s chest. The Luger left the Nazi’s hand to slam off the floorboards overhead.
His face twisted into a grimace of pain, the German agent slammed backward into a table and overturned it. He left a long, wide swatch of crimson on the top surface as he slid to a sitting position. A small, wet stain spread on his shirtfront while his heart pumped out the last of his life. With a roar, an agent with a mustache leaped at Brian II, arms extended, fingers clawed.
Before the Temporal Warden could react, the revolver was wrested from his hand. A fist crashed solidly into the chest of Brian II, momentarily winding him. When he staggered back, his opponent swung again. This time, Brian II moved his head only a slight bit to the side and let the fist whistle past. Then his foot came up in a front kick that smashed into the sternum of his attacker.
Brian II did a turkey-hop maneuver and his left foot lashed out, heel leading, to smack into the same place. The Nazi went flying. Brian II followed. A knife glinted in the harsh light. Brian sidestepped, pivoted, and delivered a side kick. The keen-edged blade put a burning slash on his calf. Enough of this, Brian decided. 
With lightning speed, his arms and hands described a hypnotic design in the air before the baffled eyes of the German thug. When he saw the first stupefied flicker of his adversary’s eyes, Brian II struck. Folded knuckles cracked into a vulnerable forehead, then a blade hand hacked at the base of the Nazi’s neck. With a short, sharp jab, Brian II drove a palm heel into the point of his attacker’s chin. 
The thick-shouldered spy went up and over, and his head landed on the concrete floor with a loud crack. With only a slight hesitation to draw a deep breath, Brian II turned to look at Brian I as he knelt at Samantha’s side, freeing her bonds, then he switched his gaze to the third man in the room. 
He found that one competently covered by Frank, who menaced the astonished man with his American .45 Colt automatic. Brian II relaxed and looked closely at the only upright member of the group who had administered those grisly injuries described in that coroner’s report he remembered, that would now never be written. 
“He’s the one I was following,” Samantha said, still plucky despite her ordeal. 
Brian I put a name to the face for the first time. “Marvin Burroughs.” 
“Yes, you said he was high on the list.” 
Brian I released Samantha’s last fetter. “Frank, take Mr. Burroughs upstairs and sit with him in the MG. I’ll be along shortly. There will be some people coming soon. Whatever you do, don’t let them see you. We want this scum back in London to question at our leisure.” 
After Frank Matsumoto escorted Marvin Burroughs out of the basement torture chamber, Samantha glanced questioningly at Brian. “He’s half Chinese,” Brian explained away Frank’s Japanese origin. 
Auburn curls shook violently. “No, that’s not what I’m confused about. There’s—there’s two of you. Are you twins?” 
Neither Brian had given thought to that; they had simply gone in to get her out. Brian II gazed at her uneasily. Brian I thought faster. “No, Sam, we’re not twins. It’s something extraordinarily secret, genned up by MI-5. Sorry, but you are not on the Need-to-Know list.”
Both Brians wondered if she would buy it, as Brian I lifted Samantha to her feet. He had to support her as they climbed to the street floor shop. He turned the penlight on and located the telephone. He limped over to it and called the local MI-5 office. He had a short, urgent conversation. When he finished, he turned to Samantha. 
“They’ll be here in five minutes.” 
“Good. I’m hungry,” she added with an impish expression. Then she giggled. “Oh, dear, I think I’m in shock.”
Then Brian took her in his arms and kissed her with an intensity that astonished the both of them.
Brian II cleared his throat. “If everything is under control, I think I’ll collect Frank and Burroughs and head back to London.”
A grinning Brian I agreed. “Good idea. You can let Frank go on back; you know where to take Burroughs.”
“Oh, yes.”
After Brian II departed, Brian I gently kissed Samantha again, sat her in a chair, smoothed her hair and stroked her neck. All the while he made the same ineffectual sounds a man uses when a loved one is hurt. It seemed no time until two Home Office agents arrived to take charge. They quickly and efficiently dressed Samantha’s burns and bruises. Then the ranking one nodded toward the basement and its gory content. 
“We’ll dispose of those bodies in a flash, sport—er—sorry, Colonel. How about you, Lieutenant? Feel up to coming along?” 
Samantha shook her head. “No. I think I’ll ask Colonel Moore to take me around to my flat and fix myself something to eat. I haven’t had a decent meal in three days.” 
“I’ll see to her needs,” Brian suggested, his mind relieved at not having to fit four people into the two-seater MG. 
 
 
Time: 0415, GMT, July 8, 1940 
Place: The Pig and Garter Club, Coventry, 
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Sgt. Wendall Foxworth and Sandy Hammond climbed the cast-iron stairs to street level. The cellar club they had just left stayed open after hours. They served breakfast of choice, the most popular being bangers and mash. Foxworth had consumed two helpings of the thick, pork link sausages and mashed potatoes. Sandy had dabbled daintily at a serving of bacon and scrambled eggs. Fortified by the food, Foxworth summoned the reserve to address a subject he had dreaded to bring up. 
“I won’t be seeing you for a while, ducks,” he informed Sandy. 
“Why, Wen?” 
“We’re for a school at Teddingham. Aerial gunnery refresher course. Be there two weeks.” 
Sandy pouted, her lips vibrant without the need of cosmetics. “I’ll miss you awfully.” 
“Ain’t my idea to go. You’ll be on my mind all the while I’m gone.” 
Sandy twined her arm with his. “That’s sweet. Why do you have to take this course right now?” 
Foxworth hesitated, torn between his love for Sandy and his sense of duty. “It’s… it’s ... We’re not to say anything about this, but promise you’ll not say a word to anyone?” 
Sandy gave his arm a squeeze and bumped her hip against his. “Of course. You know I won’t.”
“We’re getting new aircraft. More and different armament. The Jerries have cannon in those Messerschmitts. The new planes will even the odds somewhat.” 
“I’ve never heard of any British airplane with a cannon.” 
“These are American, P-40’s. Fifty caliber machine guns in the wings and a fifty-seven millimeter cannon in the nose. Real beauties. We check out in them first, then learn the guns.” 
Sandy’s scowl wrinkled her nose. “You sound as though you like these terrible machines of war.”
Nonplused, Wendall Foxworth responded with genuine enthusiasm. “What I love is being a pilot. They say these planes are a dream to fly. Very maneuverable, even at high speeds. Only drawback is they have a lower top speed than the 109’s.”
Although they walked slowly, Wendall and Sandy had covered most of the distance to her apartment. Thinking quickly, she sought to keep him on the topic. “Come up for a glass of wine?”
Wendall freed his arm and put it around her waist. “Love to. We have to make the most of it. These two weeks are going to seem like forever.”
Upstairs, Sandy poured two glasses of rich ruby port. They sipped off half of it, then kissed. Wendall needed no coaxing to proceed from there. He reached out and turned off the light to the accompaniment of Sandy’s approving murmur.
 
 
Time: 0613, GMT, July 8, 1940 
Place: Time Station London, Thameside, 
London, England 
 
 
Dawn washed the sky a pastel pink. The splendors of the rising sun could not be witnessed from the small, stone-walled cubicle where Brian Moore towered over a diminished Marvin Burroughs. They had returned to the London Time Station, rather than to MI-5, two hours earlier. So far, Burroughs had proved most uncooperative. At last Brian resorted to the naked truth to shake his prisoner.
“I’ll not mince words, Burroughs. This is not an interrogation cell at MI-5. This is a Time Station. If you cooperate, I might reconsider not sending you back to your Home Culture.” 
Burroughs remained blank-faced. “I don’t know what you are talking about.” 
“Oh, but you do. Your real name is Martin Niebhoff and you came back here to muck around a little. But mainly to profit from the war.”
Although he blanched alabaster, Burroughs remained tightlipped. Brian tried another question. “Do you know of a German agent named Free Eagle—Freiadler?” Again, Burroughs said nothing. Brian balled the front of Burroughs’s shirt in both fists and yanked the man off his chair. 
“I’ve had enough of you. The next stop is in the future.” 
Panic at the immediacy of that threat loosened the tongue of Burroughs. “You can’t do that. You don’t even know when I came from.” 
Brian’s smile formed in a nasty line. “That’s the trouble with you bootleg Beamer users. You know absolutely nothing about Time Travel theory. When you are transported with open coordinates, you go back exactly to when you should be. Now, get moving.” 
In the central room of the basement under the travel agency, Brian stood Burroughs before the Beamer and gave the high sign to Vito. An enormous surge of energy activated the Time Field. It pulsed and hummed and formed a shimmering curtain inside the framework of the Beamer. When the containment field stabilized it, Brian gave Burroughs a shove toward it. 
“No, I...” Stumbling toward the iridescent swirl, Burroughs finished his sentence hundreds of years in the future. 




 
 
Time: 1012, GMT, July 10, 1940
Place: Offices of MI-5, Bayswater Road, 
London, N.W. 1, England
 
 
At mid-morning, Brian received a surprising phone call. Sgt. Parkhurst entered his office as he was lowering a half-eaten, cream-filled Danish to the plate. Quickly Brian wiped his lips and sipped from a satisfying cup of coffee he had brewed himself. “There is a Lady Allison Wyndamire on the blower for you, sir.”
Brian had never heard of a Lady Allison Wyndamire before. Frowning, he reached for the handset of his telephone. “I’ll take the call.”
Static crackled in Brian’s ear as Sally Parkhurst connected the line. “Is this Sir Brian Moore?” an all too familiar voice inquired before he could speak. 
Brian brightened instantly. “Dianna! What’s the occasion?”
“Meet me for lunch and I’ll tell you.” 
“Where?” 
“The Admiralty Inn. Eleven-thirtyish?” 
Grinning broadly, Brian promised, “I’ll be there.” 
“There’s a small, stand-up bar on the top floor. You’ll find me there.” 
“I think I can locate it.” Brian hung up and stared out the window.
Something must be about to happen that is terribly wrong for Arkady to have sent in Dianna Basehart, Brian reflected. She had been in Brian’s class at the Temporal Warden Corps. They had been friends and frequently partners in the physical training phase. A year after their graduation, they had become closer than casual friends. Then, after a particularly hazardous mission, they had become lovers. Over the years, due to the nature of their occupation, it had become more of an infrequent affair than a torrid romance. Their friendship had endured. Brian found himself looking forward to their lunch date with growing expectation. Meanwhile, he had MI-5 work to attend.
Over the past week, other agents of the Home Office had rounded up some genuine German agents. Brian told Parkhurst to hold all calls and reschedule all appointments for afternoon. Then he left his office by another door and descended to the basement of the building.
 
 
 
Brian gave a hard look to the first of the Nazi agents. “You know, we generally shoot spies. I think this time is going to be different. We are going to hang you and your friend in there.” 
Blanching, the agent who had been using the cover name Robert York bit at his lower lip. “Hanging is what we did to the Communists in the Fatherland. It is a degrading way to die.” 
“Thought you might see it that way. We see little difference between you and the Communists. All a bunch of bloody tyrants.”
“Hanging’s a good idea, Colonel,” the other interrogator piped up. “I saw a bloke hanged at Newgate once. All his sphincter muscles let go. Fouled himself right messily, he did.”
“Yes, well, our little Nazi here is going to get a firsthand experience of it, if I have my way.”
Thoroughly cowed now, the inexperienced spy made a hesitant inquiry. “What—what do you need to know? Something that would have a mitigating effect on my condition?” 
Brian hid the pleased smile. “To whom do you send your information?” 
“I… don’t know. It’s a receiving station on the coast. Near Calais, I think. From there it is sent to Abwehr headquarters in Berlin.”
“How often do you transmit?” 
“Whenever I have something.”
“No, ah, schedule?” Brian probed.
“Yes. I have to check in every two weeks, whether I have something or not. The reporting day of the week changes each time.”
Brian went a new direction. “From whom do you collect your data?” 
Their prisoner produced a wry smile. “A lot of it comes from simply reading your newspapers. In the Reich we would never permit such loose conveyance of State secrets.”
“No doubt. But you communicate with other persons, I’m sure. I want names, addresses, meeting places.”
Robert York gave them up. Of course it helped that he had been deprived of sleep for five days, fed only once each day, and yelled at and tossed from one burly MI-5 agent to another for hours, all of them former Rugby players.
When the session ended, Brian arranged for another agent to ask the exact same questions, but in different order, and so on until York’s story checked out. Then he went for the other Nazi. He enjoyed similar results and left the dazed “Germany spy” to the tender mercies of his jailers. Brian climbed to the street floor at a quarter past eleven and hailed a taxi for the ride to Parliament Square and the Admiralty Inn.
 
 
Time: 1134, GMT, July 10, 1940
Place: Admiralty lnn, Admiralty Lane, 
Parliament Square, London, England
 
 
The Admiralty Inn had been in existence since the Lords of the Admiralty of the Royal Navy occupied offices in the same building. In other words, since the late 1600’s. The ground floor housed a public restaurant of the same name. The first floor was bright and airy, though a bit stuffy to the American eyes of Brian Moore. It had a dining area of companionable tables for six, where MPs from the house of Lords could dine.
On the second floor was a boarding school style, refectory dining room; complete with dark wood-paneled walls; open beams; trestle tables; and service through the long, narrow opening in a sidebar. Burgundy drapes framed the mullioned windows at the far end. It was reserved for Members of the House of Commons.
The top floor had a small, private dining room, intimately appointed, and the stand-up bar. There was but room for four at the bar itself, and no tables or chairs. In the crush of the noon hour, with the MPs present, revolving lines formed for the quartet of spaces and the barman did a brisk business. Someone in Commons must be exceptionally long-winded, Brian Moore surmised when he entered and found the accommodations nearly deserted. 
At the top of the narrow, winding staircase, he spotted Dianna at the bar. Her striking, raven hair had been done in the latest style of the upper class. She wore a summer dress of diaphanous pink, with a huge, matching picture-frame hat. The combination set off her cobalt eyes and faintly tanned complexion nicely. Brian winced when he recognized the concoction in a stemmed glass she held in one gloved hand. A pink gin. She saw him and waved the other hand expansively. Brian started forward, then hesitated when Dianna broke the stately silence of the room.
“Brian… darling!” she called loudly. 
Brian took a breath, and advanced gallantly. He took the extended hand, kissed the glove. “Di—your ladyship. Imagine my surprise when you rang me up.”
Her full, sensuous lips curved in a teasing smile, and her deep blue eyes sparkled mischievously. “No doubt.” 
“What brings you to London?” 
“Dark and sinister doings. I’ll tell you all about it over lunch. Do they still make that marvelous steak and kidney pie? You know, with the mushrooms, pearl onions, and garden peas in it?”
“I’m not accustomed to eating here. But I imagine they do. It’s the main staple for those in Commons.” To the barman, “I’ll have a Glennlivet.”
With glasses in hand, Brian and Dianna/Allison walked across the room to look out the windows at Admiralty Lane and the small park in front of Parliament House. This time he asked her in a voice so low as to be a whisper.
“What’s all this about? Why the Lady Wyndamire persona?”
Dianna playfully patted him on the shoulder. “We’re after big game. Arkady has received disturbing news. If unchecked, it could do irreparable harm to the Timeline. Your old friend Sir Rupert Cordise is going to stand for Parliament again. Commons, of course. And according to the history logs of ’46 and ’47, he is going to win.”
Brian frowned. “There’s no way he can rally support to oust Churchill. Besides, he disappears entirely in ’41.”
“No, that will change if he’s not stopped. He’s up to some devilment that’s put some ripples in the fabric of Time, and I’ve been brought back to derail his plans. That’s why the Lady Wyndamire thing. And, with you being a baronet, it lets us mix in the same circles.”
“How do you propose to counter him?”
Dianna studied Brian for a moment. “You get more handsome every time I see you, Whitefeather,” she evaded.
Brian laughed. “Neither you nor I can remember half the times we’ve seen one another. But is that how you’re going to do it?”
Dianna assumed a coy expression at his innuendo. “It might be that the old monster sex will rear his ugly head. Though there are several other ways. He can’t keep everything in his brain. There will be a journal, or diary files, perhaps. When I have him properly set up, we expose the old traitor and put an end to it once and for all.”
“Yes, and you’ll be in a Beam Back and disappear before I can even kiss you.”
Dianna wrinkled her nose. “Don’t count on that.”
Yet Brian knew that Dianna had no doubt been fitted with an Automatic Retrieval Implant. She would accomplish her mission and it would be automatically activated. She would vanish in the here and now and go back to the future from whence she came. Brian abruptly ended that gloomy Iine of thought when a change in tone warned him that Dianna had changed the subject.
“After we eat, you can come back to the travel agency and help me select a suitable wardrobe for Now.”
“I have a job here, you know.”
“Of course, Brian. And quite a helpful one. It lets you do your work for the Corps so much more easily. I gather you have something to do.” 
Brian brushed at his bristly regimental mustache. “Yes, I have. Appointments, one with my boss in MI-5.” He would have preferred to spend the afternoon with her, and his expression showed it.
Dianna read his emotions clearly. She touched a hand to his arm. “You’re sweet. I’ll see you this evening?”
“Yes. I’ll be around about six.” 
“Marvelous. I’ve a suite at the King’s Court. I can hardly wait.” 
“Neither can I.” He meant it, too.
 
 
Time: 1340, Warden Central Time 
Place: Temporal Warden Central
 
 
Arkady Gallubin scanned the printout that had come from 1940 London. It requested the real name and Home Culture of one Clive Beattie. Also a holograph of his true appearance. They had accomplished that easily enough. Arkady had it in a neat holographic disc on his desk, in the place usually reserved for a plate of his beloved blini. He thought of what the Corps had developed and, not for the first time, it chilled him. 
Clive Beattie had been born Gunther Bewerber, thirty-two years earlier in the Germany of his Home Culture. Clive/Gunther had been well educated, raised in the home of his parents, his father a mid-level civil servant. Gallubin had also found out recently that Beattie also had the uncanny ability to look like and impersonate anyone. But most of this was already known to Steve Whitefeather. He had been briefed on his last visit to Warden Central.
What was disturbing to Arkady and had to be immediately passed along was what a search of timelines nearer to 1940 had discovered. Beattie/Bewerber was about to do something that would create a great rift in the future.
He and a group of five other German agents, with the assistance of Sir Rupert Cordise, were going to assassinate Churchill. The first disturbance was logged as beginning April 11, 1941. That’s the day Clive Beattie would blow the brains out the side of the head of Winston Churchill.
 
 
Time: 2017, GMT, July 10, 1940
Place: Rule’s, Maiden Lane,
London, England
 
 
Brian and Dianna went out that night for dinner and dancing. Brollies and bowlers, on knobbed wrought-iron and brass hangers, lined the paneled walls of the foyer in the famous restaurant that had been founded in 1798. Neither the address, the decor, nor the menu had changed since the establishment first opened its doors. Being new to the era, Dianna noticed a decidedly forced gaiety in the conduct of the denizens of London’s nightlife. Over a huge wedge of Stilton cheese and biscuits, she and Brian discussed the fact that at the least he had exposed himself to the enemy, and to the rogue travelers, as an agent of MI-5, if not as a Time Warden.
“You’ve made yourself a target. And you well know, if you die here, you’re dead for good and all time.”
Brian made little of it. “I think you are overreacting. Spies, professional espionage agents, rarely kill one another. That is one of the reasons Arkady gave me for my assuming this persona. A young, healthy, physically fit man not in uniform would stick out glaringly in the midst of all this.” He gestured to the plethora of uniforms in the central dining room.
Their discussion of the topic was interrupted shortly after by the wall of sirens and shrill of whistles. The Germans had taken up night bombing lately, and even though the bombing was restricted to military targets, precautions had to be observed in the event of stray bombs. Brian and Dianna spent an hour and a half huddled in a nearby station of the London subway, the Tube, as it was lovingly called. For half that time the tile floor under them shook from repeated explosions in the distant industrial district.
Over the next two days, he mulled over that tense ninety minutes. Although Dianna had afterward agreed that it was necessary for him to have believable cover employment to function as Resident, she seemed unshaken in her worry about his safety. The third day after, he had this forcibly brought back to him. 
 
 
Time: 1347, GMT, July 13, 1940
Place: Victoria Way, London, England 
 
 
In early afternoon of a bright, sunny day, Brian walked along the sidewalk outside Victoria Station. On his way to meet with Tony and three other MI-5 agents, he took the usual precautions. That allowed him to be aware of something strange, that had the potential for being ominous.
For the past two minutes, Brian had noticed a sleek, black Aston-Martin that idled along the curb, headed the same direction as he. He increased his pace. The vehicle moved faster. At the next intersection, he abruptly turned the corner and cut diagonally across the street. The sports roadster followed. Brian slid his hand under his coat and gripped the butt of his .45 Webley. He walked even faster. 
Suddenly the Aston accelerated and raced up alongside of him. Two shots blasted the silence of the early morning scene. One cracked past Brian’s head, close enough he felt its passage. By then he was on one knee, the Webley coming up and out. The second slug screamed off the building front behind and above his derby hat. With a shriek of rubber, the Aston-Martin rocketed down the street. 
Brian stepped off the curb and fired three rounds, two of which went through the double rear windows. At once a bobby’s pipe hooted shrilly. A moment later the tall, stout officer in his blue-black uniform and high domed helmet bore down on Brian. 
“Here now, I’ll have that pistol, if you please,” he demanded in a rumbling bass, confident of immediate unquestioning obedience.
“It’s all right, I’m MI-5, with the Home Office. Please get out of my way, I can stop them.”
To his credit, the bobby stepped slightly to the side. He continued to glower at Brian. “Wot d’you mean, stop them? You’ve already fired five bullets from that thing. Don’t you know that’s against the law?”
The Aston-Martin disappeared around the next corner. “Damn it! They’ve gotten away. And I fired only three rounds. They fired at me, first.”
The bobby remained unswayed. “I didn’t see it that way.” 
“Then you need glasses.”
Abruptly the bobby gave Brian a gimlet eye. “Just exactly who is this ‘they’?”
“German agents,” Brian offered. 
“Bloody rot. You’re coming along with me.” Again, he blew into the tin whistle, one that did not warble, rather gave out a two-tone note much like a flute.
Another bobby appeared and relieved Brian of the revolver. Together the policemen frog-marched him to the station house. There Brian faced the humiliation encountered by any common felon.
They searched him first. Then he was photographed and fingerprinted. At last, the desk sergeant and a lieutenant studied his identification. While he wiped off the ink that smudged his fingers, they consulted a list and placed a phone call. 
Twenty minutes later, Sir Hugh Montfort came through the door. He cast only a casual, indifferent glance Brian’s direction. “That’s my man, right enough. What possessed you to detain him? There is a war going on, you know. The police are supposed to be on our side. Especially the London Metropolitan Police.”
Looking half unconvinced, the arresting officer tried to save face. “But he was shooting at a car on my beat. Five shots he fired.”
“Three!” Brian shot back angrily. “Did it ever enter your mind to examine my weapon?”
If the bobby experienced any embarrassment, he hid it well. “Wot for? You’re the bloody fool did the shooting.” 
Sir Hugh stepped between the glowering men. “I think it a good idea if that were done, Patrolman.” 
The lieutenant did so and found only three expended cartridges. His face held enough embarrassment for himself and his officer. “That’s right, only three fired. He did claim they shot at him first.” 
Sir Hugh produced a thin, condescending smile. “They missed, didn’t they? I’m sure he did not.” 
Brian had still not cooled down. “One more bullet through that rear window and I would have popped the driver.”
“Good heavens!” the young lieutenant exclaimed from the doorway to his office. “We could have had a disaster on our hands. Crashed cars and injured civilians.” Then he realized he did not know the identity of this other gentleman and inquired. 
“Sir Hugh Montfort,” the director of counterespionage snapped. “Now, be so kind as to release Colonel Sir Brian Moore here.”
Outside, Sir Hugh broke into unaccustomed laughter. “Did you see their faces? A right proper dustup that, wot?” 
Brian compressed his lips. “I didn’t think so. I was on my way to meet Tony Bellknap.”
“I know. And when you didn’t show, and he heard the shots, I was notified. We were expecting something when the police chappies rang up.”
Brian put heat on his irony. “Glad you could spare the time. Now I had better find Tony.”
“He’s at the Star and Yardarm. He’ll have a pint waiting for you.” 




 
 
Time: 2013, GMT, July 14, 1940 
Place: The Bold Stag Pub, Soho District, 
London, England
 
 
With Dianna Basehart on the scene, Brian experienced a twinge of conscience as he sat opposite Samantha Trillby at dinner the next evening. Dianna had feigned indifference when he had explained that he had what he called a business dinner appointment. Well, it was more or less true. He and Samantha had discussed her progress against German agents and sympathizers around Coventry. Now, as they dawdled over cordials, he made up his mind to bring her into the major problem facing them.
“Sam, there’s something hot come up. Don’t ask me the source, but I have it on excellent authority that our elusive Clive Beattie is in the process of planning the assassination of Winston Churchill. How, or with the help of whom, the Service does not know.” He kept Sir Rupert Cordise out of it. Dianna was handling that aspect. “For the time being, the two of us will work on it alone.”
Samantha’s face drained of color. “That’s horrible.” Then she flushed hotly with anger and resolve. “We simply must stop him. Only, how are we going to locate him? I have descriptions of Clive Beattie that range from a portly, white-haired old man who prefers white linen suits; to a young man with long, black hair and gray eyes; to a clerk type of middle years, blond, with his hair parted in the middle. That’s quite a range of discrepancy for but a single man. Even given the inaccuracy of eyewitnesses.”
Brian touched her arm lightly in assurance. Then he quoted from the information provided by Arkady. “He’s only one man, be certain of that. And we now have a photograph of what he really looks like. Though that might be of little help. Beattie is a master of disguise. He can look, talk, and act like anyone he chooses to study long enough to perfect his impersonation.”
“Master of disguise,” Samantha repeated. “It sounds like something out of one of those American gangster flickers.” She sipped on her white crème de menthe.
“Believe it, Sam. He is that good.” Since the subject was assassinations, he reluctantly decided to tell her about the attempt on his life the previous morning. When he concluded his recount, her reaction totally surprised him. 
She was furious. “Brian, you are taking entirely too many risks. You are supposed to be a deputy director. You should stay in your office and—and direct.” 
“No,” Brian countered. “I can’t work that way. I need to be in the field. I’m new at this job, nearly as much so as you. Sitting behind a desk and sending others out to take chances with their lives doesn’t sit right with me.” 
“But you must. It is your job.”
“Which I have held for only eighteen months now. I can’t, I won’t be relegated to the position of a coordinator.” Brian found himself glowering.
Driven as much by her love for him as her sense of the rightness of her reasoning, Samantha would not let go of her position. Their discussion rapidly turned to an argument. By the time coffee came, it had grown to a quarrel. Suddenly, Samantha sprang to her feet and stormed out of the restaurant.
A baffled Brian watched her leave. Only to be more confounded ten minutes later when she came contritely back to their table. “I’m sorry, Brian. It’s only that I—I love you so, I can’t bear the thought of losing you. You were magnificent when you saved me from those Germans. Now that I’ve been spared, I want us to have as much time for ourselves as this damned war will allow.”
“Which requires me to stay out of the way of stray bullets, right?”
Samantha forced a smile. “Don’t be so touchy, dearest. If you insist on working in the field with the rest of us, who am I to say otherwise? After all, you are the boss.”
Greatly relieved, Brian put an arm around her shoulders and gave a squeeze, much to the consternation of the other patrons. After settling the bill, they left for Brian’s apartment, where they made deliciously long, sweet love until four in the morning.
 
 
Time: 1621, GMT, July 15, 1940 
Place: The Tiffin Shop, Trafalgar Square, 
London, England
 
 
Late the next afternoon, at the stylish Tiffin Shop, Dianna Basehart sat across a small, rosewood table from a buxom dowager with a whitely powdered, overly made-up face that failed to hide the basic iron-hardness that so accurately described her personality. In pursuit of an introduction to Sir Rupert Cordise, Dianna had to endure this high tea time in a patience-trying meeting with the society page editor of the Times. She smiled vacuously and watched Helene Carstairs-Upton from behind lowered lids. Carstairs-Upton gushed when she spoke.
“Lady Wyndamire, it is so nice to see you back in London,” the gossip columnist prated over the rim of her teacup, although she hadn’t the faintest idea who this person might be. “Where have you been keeping yourself?” 
“In Canada, and please, do call me Allison.” Resuming, Dianna followed the cover story created for her. “The family has farm properties in Alberta. Although I must say, I spent more time supervising affairs from the shops in Victoria and Vancouver than out on that dusty plain.”
They shared a girlish laugh, although the society editor had to be twice Dianna’s age. “Allison, may I inquire what could have brought you back to England during this terrible time?”
Dianna formed a sad smile. “Father was suddenly taken ill in Canada. With my brothers and husband in the armed forces, I am all he had left to manage the home front. I came as soon as I could book passage.” 
“Your husband, Lord Arthur…?” 
“Archibald, my dear,” she corrected, with a hasty invention. “Lord Archibald Wyndamire. I suppose I should say Commodore Lord Archibald, R.N. He’s with the fleet out in the Far East.” 
Carstairs-Upton reacted swiftly to cover what she saw incorrectly as a social gaffe. “Oh yes, that Wyndamire. Will you be in London long?”
“I certainly hope so. Far better than our country place. And I must say that I’d not shy away from the social events, provided a suitable escort could be arranged.” 
An enigmatic smile threatened to crack the cosmetic facade of Carstairs-Upton. “I think that is entirely possible, Allison. All it should take is a word or two in the right places.”
They chatted through the rest of teatime about inconsequentialities. Dianna did not mind. She had achieved what she had come to do. Considering the reputation of her target, she had little doubt she would soon be close enough to do what her job required. 
 
 
Time: 1143, GMT, July 16, 1940
Place: 10 Downing Street, 
London, England 
 
 
On the day after Dianna had her meeting with Carstairs-Upton, following his masterstroke in May of taking off the troops from Dunkirk, Winston Churchill was to be made privy to the most closely held of State secrets. Several months earlier, cipher experts at MI-5 had cracked the codes used by the German High Command. Called Enigma, the encoding and decoding machines enabled the British forces to know in advance every move the enemy made.
Their successes, triumphs, and more important, failures, defeats, losses in personnel and equipment, troop and ship movements, and the names of commanders and their locations were shared by a limited few in MI-5. Brian Moore came to 10 Downing Street as part of the delegation to impart this achievement to the Prime Minister. He was the most junior of the group, headed by Lord Walter Cuthbert-Hobbs and seconded by Sir Hugh Montfort. They astounded Churchill.
Surprising to all, rather than his first response being criticism of being kept in the dark, the PM came right to the point. “What can it do for us?”
Lord Walter quickly supplied an answer. “It provided the operations order for the triumphant parade of General Field Marshal Keitel’s army down the Champs Elysées. It has also identified and positioned the three air fleets of the Luftwaffe that are currently attacking us.
“They are,” he went on, “Luftflotte Five in Norway and Denmark, commanded by General Stumpff; Luftflotte Two, in Belgium and Holland, commanded by Field Marshal Kesselring; and Luftflotte Three in Northern France, commanded by Field Marshal Hugo Sperrle.”
Winston lighted a cigar. Blue ribbons of smoke ascended toward the high ceiling. “Could you give me squadron leaders’ names?”
Sir Hugh took up that question. “Yes, of course, for any of those who have had communications regarding their status. For instance, there is a Colonel Werner Ruperle commands the Thirty-four Squadron located outside of Desvres, in the Artois Department. He recently completed a ten-day leave to his home in Bavaria, a resort town on a lake, called Diessen am Ammersee.” 
Stunned, Churchill reached for a brandy snifter. “You get all of that? Such intimate detail?”
“Yes, sir. That is only a part of what Enigma can do.” 
The PM beamed. “What a brilliant strategic coup. Your men are to be commended.” At last Winston got around to the obvious. “But why was I not informed of this earlier?”
“It is our most tightly guarded secret. If the Germans found out we knew they would change codes. So access is strictly on a Need-to-Know basis. It would take another year or better to crack a new code. Thousands of lives could be lost unnecessarily. As it is, we know in advance when the U-boats put to sea, every air raid, where it is going and who is flying the mission. Which is the reason we are informing you at this time.”
“Pray, enlighten me.”
Lord Walter did so.
“With the Huns stepping up the raids, greater numbers of bombers every day, we are able to intercept with ease due to Enigma. Now, speculation is going around that if we are too diligent and efficient in countering them, the Germans will figure out that we have advance information. The result would be the same as though Enigma had been leaked.”
For thirty long seconds, Winston Churchill paced the confines of his book-lined study. “We don’t want that, of course. What is it you expect from me?” 
“A decision, Mr. Prime Minister,” Sir Hugh offered. “It is the thinking among our espionage mavins that if we continue to put out long-range patrols, who scurry back toward the coast when the Jerries come out to play, backed up by the Spitfires and Hurricanes, who only arrive in time, the Germans will never figure out we knew their destination all along. So what we would like is a directive from you, to all wing commanders and squadron leaders that they are not to take the fighters up until the first wave of German planes crosses over to dry land.” 
Churchill thought on that a tense moment. “Tight timing.”
“Yes,” all three MI-5 men agreed.
Then Winston proved his worth as a great leader. “I don’t like the increased danger to civilians, and our heavy industry. But the advantage it gives us over the enemy far outweighs such considerations. Yes, I’ll help you protect your Enigma.”
 
 
Time: 1840, EST, July 16, 1940
Place: Aerodrome of Luftflotte 34,
Outside Beauvais, Occupied France
 
 
Colonel Werner Ruperle pushed back the metal plate. Sausages, boiled potatoes, and black bread again. He no longer doubted that he was back at Luftflotte 34. For a moment, he longed for his home in Diessen. He turned his swivel chair to the stack of papers waiting his signature.
“Report of the Morale Officer.” There’s an exciting one, he thought. After reading the glowing report of the enthusiasm of the men for carrying the war, to the English, he seriously wondered if the author had written fiction before joining the Luftwaffe. Col. Ruperle had been shocked upon his return to see the gaunt, hollow faces and flat eyes of the young men in his command.
Day after night of living in terror of antiaircraft and enemy fighters had drawn their youth from them. Sleeping through the day kept the night crews from even minimal sun. They looked as though recently discharged from the hospital. Fear rode their backs every moment. How in hell could this idiot, Lt. Strubbel, say they “cheered and sang” as they loaded into their airplanes to fly over the “helpless fields” of England? More than five hundred aircraft had been shot down or blown to pieces. Thirteen hundred would be going on this night’s raid. How many would fall from the sky? How many would disappear in a white-orange flash?
Boys, some of them not four years older than Bruno, forced into uniform and sent off to serve the Reich. And what a Fatherland it had become! Sorry, frightened wretches skulked through the alleys to avoid the State Secret Police. He believed that the Geheimnis Staats Polizei, the Gestapo, had far exceeded their authority. They had become a scourge for all the citizens. But who was to say what that authority encompassed? The Führer constantly changed his mind about who were the current enemies of the German State. Or could that be the doing of Himmler and Hess? A knock sounded and he discovered he had been staring blankly at the third report.
“Hierhin!”
Captain Moen entered. “Herr Hauptmann, I regret to report that four of my flight’s aircraft are still inoperable. We will not be able to participate in tonight’s raid.”
Ruperle raised an eyebrow. “Impossible. Are there no spare parts? Do you lack mechanics?”
“No, sir. We are backlogged two weeks on general maintenance. Every aircraft needed something done. Not all were damaged by enemy action. Brakes were worn, cables slack, bearings out of round, or collapsed. With our schedule, two entire squadrons, fully half of them, are in the air day and night. Machines wear out,” Moen ended lamely.
“I am aware of that. Very well, have your flight stand down. I will have a talk with the ground crews tomorrow.”
Unable to conceal his relieved expression, Moen saluted and left the room. Col. Ruperle glanced down at the next report. In a cynical tone he began to read aloud. “Maintenance programs are ahead of schedule. Parts supplies are ample.”
Abruptly, Werner threw down his fountain pen on top of the printed form. Globs of ink spattered it. “Lies!” he barked aloud. “But the sort of lies the Führer expects—no, insists on hearing.” A look at the unforgiving clock across the room informed him he had less than an hour before they took off.
 
 
Time: 0014, GMT, July 17, 1940 
Place: ln the Air Above the English Channel, 
Off the Coast of Portsmouth, Hampshire, England
 
 
Cruising along in the chill thin air of 7,500 meters, Col. Ruperle raised a gloved hand to rub at his eyes. The soft, red glow from the instrument panel did not rob him of his night vision. The stars glowed in thick clusters above the English Channel. Ruperle stifled a yawn. Night flying, at least when not close to mountains, made him sleepy.
His eyelids drooped. Suddenly his reverie disintegrated in ballpeen hammer blows against the starboard side skin of his Me-110. A moment later; the orange flare of an engine exhaust cut across the right edge of his vision. The Plexiglas in the side windows blew inward in a shower of jagged shards.
Beside him, his copilot screamed soundlessly for a fraction of a second before his head exploded in a shower of blood and tissue. Ruperle fought the controls. Dimly he heard the chatter of his waist-gunner returning fire. A red stream of tracers drew lines in the sky, slanted upward from under the clear dome of the bombardier’s position. He sensed impacts on the tail section through the control column, and then his stomach lurched as the aircraft skidded through the air. 
“Liebe Gott. Wir sind gestarben!” the flight engineer/ bombardier screamed in his ear.
“Yes, we’re going to die, Horst,” Col. Ruperle snarled back. “If you don’t calm yourself and take those goddamned controls and help me fly this airplane.”
Horst’s panic ended as though he had been slapped. He unbuckled his seat belt and pulled the corpse off the copilot’s control column and released the harness. Then, with grunts and a soft moan, he pulled the dead flyer out of his seat. Blood still dripped from above. Gingerly Horst took the right-hand seat. With the controls freed, Col. Ruperle painfully regained command of his wounded bird.
Shivers still came to his fingers from the damaged control surfaces on the twin rudders. A quick glance told him they had lost 690 meters of altitude. He pulled back on the wheel. Immediately the nose began to vibrate. Another roar of bullet impacts came a split second before the yellow-orange flame of a Hurricane’s exhaust flashed past above the cockpit. A whimper came from Horst.
“Shut up!” Then he keyed his microphone and spoke to his squadron. “Attention. Continue to the target. We have been badly hit. We are turning off. Do not follow.”
Slowly, biting his lip in apprehension, Col. Ruperle began a shallow, slow turn to the left. The anxiety that bloomed in his chest came not from the condition of his aircraft, but rather from watching his squadron drone on past without him to lead them.




 
 
Time: 0630, GMT, July 25, 1940
Place: Time Station London, Thameside, 
London, England
 
 
Dianna Basehart’s courting of Helene Carstairs-Upton paid off handsomely. She received an invitation to a soiree given by Sir Rupert Cordise at the Imperial Hotel. Smugly, she showed it to Brian Moore and Vito Alberdi. Brian appeared unimpressed.
Miffed, Diana snapped. “I don’t see you getting an invitation to one of our target’s affairs.”
Brian pulled a droll face. “I don’t have a body like a candidate for Ms. Solar System.”
“Ms. what?” a puzzled Dianna asked.
Smiling lightly, Brian explained. “From my studies of the twentieth century, I discovered this quaint annual ritual. Something called a ‘beauty pageant.’ First came one for ‘Miss America,’ and eventually one for ‘Miss Universe’, meaning the whole world. I was only extrapolating to include Luna and the Mars colony.”
Dianna’s eyes sparkled. “You’re not making fun of me? You really think I look that good?”
Face made solemn, Brian answered honestly, “Any day of the year.”
“You’re sweet.”
Brian had the grace to blush. “When is this revelry?”
“Early tomorrow afternoon. Sort of a luncheon, to be exact.”
“What is the occasion?” Brian had real curiosity about this aspect.
“It is a celebration to announce his candidacy for Parliament. Cordise has ‘stepped down,’ as they put it, from his knighthood, in order to serve the nation in the House of Commons. The signature count on his petition was verified two days ago.” 
And some time after that he conspires with Clive Beattie to put a major disturbance in the fabric of Time, Brian thought angrily. “Have a good time, Di. And drink some champagne for me ... lots of champagne.”
“Oh, I will,” she responded cheerily.
 
 
Time: 2213, GMT, July 25, 1940 
Place: Rooming House of Sandy Hammond, 
Gloucester Street, Coventry, 
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
For the first time, Sandy Hammond received a lengthy transmission on her hidden radio set. Rusty from lack of practice, she meticulously took down the five-letter code groups, placing them in blocks of five lines each. Then she turned off the transceiver and went to work deciphering the five-character crypto sets. As the words became clear on her code pad, a cold chill formed along her spine.
“Urgent(x) Urgent(x) You are to immediately discover and identify by number the squadrons protecting the Birmingham/Coventry area(x) Also to provide the type and number of aircraft and the names of the pilots, their family status, and other pertinent information(x)” 
Quickly she transposed the signature block. “Canaris.” 
“Oh, God, the Spymaster himself,” Sandy muttered to herself. “If I give up Wendall’s name and his parents, he’ll suspect something, sure as the sun rises.”
Thoroughly shaken, she memorized the message, concealed her codebook, and touched a match to the flash paper sheet of the code pad. That, she knew, was the only easy part. If she didn’t do what the admiral wanted, the Nazis would be after her fanny. If she did, the Brits would identify her and hunt her down. As a civilian, she would be hanged. She certainly did not relish dying by any method, especially on the gallows. Not in this Where and When.
 
 
Time: 1525, GMT, July 26, 1940
Place: Grand Ballroom of the Imperial Hotel,
London, England
 
 
“War’s a magnet. It always draws in the rogue travelers like fleas to a dog,” Dianna recalled Arkady telling her during the briefing. It seemed to attract no small number of homegrown profiteers, she considered as she eyed
the gathering in the private dining suite at the Imperial Hotel. In a single glance, she recognized two minor industrialists involved in the manufacture of munitions, and a doctor notorious for the ease with which he issued medical deferments for the rich, young, and pampered. At the far end, a string quartet played Brahms and Haydn on a dais framed by tall, narrow, lancet windows. All supporters of Sir Rupert Cordise, the occupants wore formal attire that sparkled with medals, jewels, and gold necklaces.
Dianna, as Lady Allison, made her own dazzling entrance. Diamonds formed a bow for her cloche hat; a jeweled feather boa draped fashionably around her neck and fell like cascades front and rear. She gave up her mink stole to a diminutive young woman in gray short skirt and blouse, with flaring white cuffs and collar, and an apron of the same snowy, starched linen. A mobcap of corresponding color and trim covered a cluster of small, tight, blond curls. She curtsied and hurried off with her burden to the cloakroom. Brian had been right, Dianna noted as she strolled into the center.of the room. Cordise had provided plenty of champagne. All of the highest quality. 
Served in magnums, Dianna noted the expected Château Neuf Rothchild champagne. Also several other Château bottled labels, such as Côte du Rouen and Brabbant. There was a champagne fountain in operation, using the less expensive Mumm’s Cordon Bleu. On
the same table, highlighted by a pin spot, rested a huge crystal bowl in a larger one of ice, mounded with beluga caviar. Idly she wondered if the Abwehr received a detailed accounting of expenses from Rupert Cordise. Their host stood at that table, helping himself at regular intervals to toast points amply loaded with the processed sturgeon roe. He spoke animatedly to a dowager who dripped diamonds, pearls, and furs. From his words, Dianna surmised he responded to some criticism of such ostentatious opulence. 
“Ta-ta, my dear Dame Agatha. People of our class never suffer shortages. I’ve had this ten-stone tub of caviar in my cellar for ages. The champagne is some of the last to come out of France before the Germans took over. It was rescued for me by my dear friend, Brigadier Hartley, what? Thank the Lord for that.” 
Her expression hard, the light in the eyes of Dame Agatha could have blistered paint off the hull of the Ark Royal. “You are quite ... ingenious, Sir Rupert.” 
Rupert Cordise disregarded the implied criticism. “Thank you. One must keep up appearances. And we do have so much to celebrate today.” He turned away to find himself within two feet of Dianna Basehart. He gave her a long, careful appraisal, all of it favorable. His eyes grew hot with sudden lust. “And you are?”
“Lady Allison Wyndamire.” 
“Oh, yes, Helene told me all, about you. And, I must, say, shame on her. She didn’t advise me that you were such an enchanting beauty.” Suavely he shifted gears. “You’ve kept yourself away in Canada far too long. We’ve quite forgotten your face. Come, let me introduce you around and welcome you back into society. Then you simply must join me at my table for the buffet.” His bald pate glowed pinkly above the salt-and-pepper tonsure. 
While the champagne and sherry flowed, Dianna found herself the center of attention for the traitorous peer. Granted, he opened many doors for her, and invitations to call or to take tea poured out as generously as the wine, but he made her skin crawl. If Cordise had not been the target, she might enjoy a full social whirl that season.
When everyone lined up for the buffet, Cordise hovered over her. She selected some cold Yorkshire ham, a small dove pie, and asparagus in aspic. Cordise seated her on his left, the second place of honor. The right side had been accorded to the largest contributor to his campaign war chest. Conversation around the table progressed with conviviality. Dianna frequently found the tuxedo knee of Sir Rupert pressed tightly against her own. 
At the conclusion of the meal, when the others had excused themselves to seek out cordials, brandy, and cigars, Dianna and Sir Rupert remained alone at the table. He boldly took her hand and gazed into her eyes.
“What about our taking in a small, intimate supper following the festivities? I have to make a speech, naturally, and there will be more back patting and flattering the dowagers, but we can get away at say… sixish?”
Dianna made her eyes big and round and pursed her lips coquettishly. “Why, that would be terribly daring, don’t you think?” 
You have been in Canada too long, Sir Rupert thought, though he had a well-rehearsed, ready answer. “I think it would be lots of fun.”
Dianna forced her nose to wrinkle. “So do I.”
Quite unexpectedly Cordise asked a question that momentarily unsettled her. “I understand you have a husband?” 
Quickly gathering herself. Dianna made a studied reply. “Yes, he’s in the Far East with the Royal Navy. And I’ve been alone for sooo long.”
“Fine then, supper it is. Just the two of us,” Cordise added with a leer.
 
 
Time: 2117, GMT, July 26, 1940
Place: D’Estange, off Piccadilly Circus
London, England
 
 
During the repast of cold squab and salmon in aspic, Dianna regularly found the hand of Cordise on her knee. He leaned toward her, his body language all but describing the superlative wonders of his bed. Distractedly Dianna chewed at the dark breast meat of the squab. Cordise set his fingers to kneading her knee. With some effort she changed her position and moved his goal out of reach. Quite suddenly she realized he had been speaking intently to her about something of which she had not the least idea.
“I’m sorry. My mind must have wandered for a second. What is it that you were saying?” 
“Generally speaking, how do the people in Canada take what’s going on over here? Hitler threatening invasion, the bombing, all of that.”
Dianna had to improvise from her briefing. She had never in any time been in Canada. “Most people are angry, of course.The Empire is threatened, the terrible bombing, that sort of thing. They also feel that with an ocean separating them from the enemy, the Atlantic on this side, the Pacific on the other, they ought to stay clear.”
“That won’t last for long.” Then he began to probe. “Yet how about you? How do you feel about it all?”
Instantly alerted, Dianna realized that throughout the day Cordise had been talking around something besides getting her into bed, and she was sure she knew what it was. He sought to sound out her ideas and where her loyalties lay. She hesitated, and feigned giving the matter serious thought.
“I ... fear for my husband. Thank God there is little fighting in the Orient so far. I’m worried for my country, certainly. Angry at the indifference of the rest of the world, more than at Herr Hitler.”
Cordise pounced. “Why’s that?” 
Adroitly, Dianna made it up as she went along. “I ... don’t know exactly. Germany has always been an aggressive nation, expansionist. Hitler is an unusual person. He’s ... compelling. Some of what he says, about other people, other races, and how scandalously his country was treated after the last war, has the ring of truth to it. Yet he is menacing our homeland.” She eased off, shook the bait a bit, not yet ready to set the hook. 
“What if someone in authority—a Member of Parliament, say—were to tell you that the Germans do not represent a true threat to Britain? What if this person were to suggest that an amalgamation with our Anglo-Saxon—er—Aryan brothers in the Reich would be for the greatest good of England?” Cordise eased back in his chair. His hand found her knee again. 
“I ... I don’t know what I would say. I would need time to consider the proposition. Weigh its pros and cons, so to speak. It would certainly take some getting used to. And a lot of proof.” 
“Naturally. All in good time, my dear Allison. Of course, my little exercise was purely hypothetical.”
Dianna nodded. “Certainly. I understand fully.” Their meal demolished, Dianna took a final sip of champagne. “I’ve had a wonderful night. The afternoon, as well. I hate to dash off like a schoolgirl with a curfew imposed by a, stern poppa, yet I would like to get back to the hotel before—ah—in the event there is another air raid tonight. They frighten me terribly.”
Cordise roused himself as she came to her feet. “I understand perfectly. Where are you staying, by the way?”
“At the King’s Court, on Queensway, off Bayswater Road. It’s one of the newer hotels. Lovely accommodations. I’ve a suite there.”
Always the gentleman, Cordise extended an invitation. “I’ll summon you a hansom and see you home.”
“That would be Iovely.”
Twenty minutes later, the driver reined in his cab outside the wrought-iron and marble facade of the King’s Court. Cordise stepped down and handed Dianna from the carriage. “I must beseech you that we’ll meet another time.” 
“I would be delighted,” Dianna responded as Cordise kissed her hand. She sent him off quite happy and walked up the steps to the tall, glass-paneled front door. Inside the lobby, surrounded by the high, marble columns and domed ceiling, her frozen smile melted.
 
 
Time: 0600, GMT, July 27, 1940 
Place: Apartment of Brian Moore, 
Threadneedle Street, London, England 
 
 
Dianna Basehart arrived at Brian Moore’s apartment half an hour before his usual departure time for the MI-5 office. Her bubbly attitude and the broad smile on her lovely face telegraphed her success. Quickly she told him of her afternoon and evening with Rupert Cordise. She concluded with a detailed account of his pro-Hitler probing. 
Brian beamed with genuine appreciation of her talent. “Good work, Di. What’s your next move?” 
“I’ll give him a couple of days after the election, then send a note to the House of Commons suggesting lunch.” 
“Excellent. I recommend you follow up on some of those invitations you described. All we know now is that Cordise, Beattie, and unspecified individuals are going to create another ripple in the fabric of Time by killing Winston Churchill. Some of these women who invited you to tea might have undergone a similar scrutiny, which they passed, to Cordise’s satisfaction. We can’t afford to let any eventuality slip past us. In the meantime, I have something by way of a diversion for you.”
Intrigued, Dianna leaned forward. “Such as?”
“There is a student group which has been doing historical research in Birmingham and got caught up in the war. A couple of them have been injured in earlier bombings. The industrial section of Birmingham is due to be bombed in two days, according to accounts found in the Temporal historical log, and verified by Enigma. There’s going to be widespread destruction on a big-time scale. 
“You can help me round up the students and their professor, and. get them out of there and safely back to their Home Culture.” Brian paused, allowed his enthusiasm over her success to drain off. “I know, this is scut work stuff, even Vito could handle it. But I think it wise for both of us to get lost in routine for a while, not stay so focused on critical events. We need to clear our minds, gain new outlook and vitality.” 
Grinning, Dianna shook her head in mock criticism. “I swear, you do a great Arkady Gallubin.” 
Brian’s face fell. “Am I that transparent? I got a holoprint to that effect from Arkady late yesterday. Fact is, I think he’s right. So, what do you say?” 
Dianna drew herself up and made an exaggerated salute through a muffled titter. “For the Supreme All and the Temporal Corps. Count me in.” 
Brian yelped with laughter, Dianna joined him. So violent did their mirth become that they had to cling to one another to keep from rolling on the floor. 
 
 
Time: 0955, EST, July 25, 1940 
Place: Headquarters, Luftflotte 34, 
Outside Beauvais, Occupied France 
 
 
Across the Channel, in the tin shed that served as an office for Colonel Werner Ruperle, the squadron leader looked over the papers and maps spread on the desk before him. The scowl he wore related to the cancellation of his request for emergency leave.
Hilda had fallen ill. Seriously so, according to the doctor. Bruno had written him that it had something to do with her liver. Jaundice, the pill roller had called it. A nasty, dangerous condition, she would have to be hospitalized. Considering his recent, close call over the Channel, and with Bruno at only twelve and two children under ten, how could they refuse his request? The answer lay in the orders before him.
Sent by General Field Marshal Hugo Sperrle, from his Luftflotte III headquarters at Saint-Denis: “There is a planned escalation of the bombing of England. Elements of Luftflotte II, in Belgium, and Luftflotte III will be conducting around-the-clock bombing raids, commencing 29 July. For the first time, large-scale bombings of civilian targets are being considered.”
It went on to name the units and give a schedule of engagements. Ruperle read over the orders again, then studied the aerial photographs and maps indicating the targets for his squadron. As usual, the hardest, the most dangerous. Nothing even slightly resembling a walk to the Biersteube. Hell, half of the boys he would be leading into that solid wall of antiaircraft and fighters had never been in a proper beer hall. A chill struck him as that thought recalled his late copilot. 
An hour later, when Col. Ruperle read the orders aloud. to his pilots, they cheered wildly. Though not nearly with the enthusiasm of their predecessors when told they would be joining the Condor Legion in Spain during the recent civil war. Now Werner knew why he had his leave cancelled.




 
 
Time: 0957, GMT, July 28, 1940 
Place: Hotel Showalter, Birmingham,
Shropshire, England 
 
 
Brian and Dianna spent the next day bounding around Birmingham in an effort to round up the time travel students and head them for London. From the beginning, they knew they were in for a hard time. A short, stout moon-faced man with the smooth, swarthy complexion of an East Indian bustled up to them in the lobby of the hotel that housed the students. He wore the traditional collarless jacket in an off-white; with matching, loose-legged trousers; highly shined, narrow, black wing-tipped shoes; and curly-fleeced, fore-and-aft cap of the same dark color. 
In one hand, he grasped a large square of white handkerchief, which he used frequently to mop at his wide brow, although it was much too cool to cause anyone to perspire so profusely. Thick, bushy, black brows knit so extremely they met over the bridge of his hawk nose, the only prominent feature on his round face. He began to gesture in an uncoordinated manner when he came up to where Brian and Dianna stood. 
“What is the meaning of this interference?” he demanded. “I must insist that I cannot permit it.” 
Brian brushed past the professor’s objections. “I’m sorry, but we’ve come to take you and your students back to the future.” 
“Impossible! Absolutely not. We’re here doing vital research. Legally here, I might point out. We simply must remain. You have no authority—“
Brian raised a hand to cut off the professor. “Ah, but I do, Professor Ghotas.”
Guptra Ghotas stared at this young whelp who defied him so openly. Accustomed, for over thirty years, to the slavish obedience of students, Dr. Ghotas could not accept such defiance. His features ballooned as he prepared another verbal onslaught.
“Exactly who are you that you think you have this authority? I demand a satisfactory answer, or you will be required to cease harassing us at once.”
“I am Steven Whitefeather, London Station Resident, Temporal Warden Corps. This is my associate, Dianna Basehart. Now, please tell us where we might find your students at this hour.”
Ghotas decided on a new tack. “As one who appreciates the unique opportunities offered by time travel, certainly you can understand my position. My students have a singular occasion to study war at close hand. You know better than anyone that the era of the Korean Conflict, Vietnam, and the Third World War are closed to all but Wardens. And what follows can hardly be compared to one of the truly global conflicts. This is the last such open for study.”
“Perhaps, Professor Ghotas, yet need I remind you that your class has overstayed your allotted time? You were supposed to be out of the era in March, well before the Battle of Britain began.” 
Ghotas bristled, remained adamant. “Nonsense, I tell you. We could not pass up this golden moment to see, taste, smell, and feel the ravages of war. Only a month more, that is all I ask.” 
Brian responded rigidly. “Can’t be done. We have a chartered bus waiting outside for you. Now, tell us where we can find the students.”
Ghotas looked as though he might weep. “I—I—this is an outrage. Y-you cannot compel me to terminate so rewarding an experience.”
For answer, Brian took the smaller man by one elbow and shoulder and frog-marched him out through the entrance of the hotel, to a bus waiting on the curved drive. Dianna preceded them and entered the bus first. She went to the rear. Brian brought the still-sputtering professor to her and forcibly seated the little, round man. Dianna produced a pair of handcuffs and secured him to the round metal rail atop the seat in front by one wrist. 
“I want to know where I’ll find your students,” Brian growled.
Professor Ghotas shot upright and waved his free arm in an agitated manner while he shouted at the bus driver. “Driver! Driver, help me. These people are kidnapping me.”
Brian’s voice cracked like an explosion. “Sit down and shut up, Ghotas, or you’ll go home with a broken jaw.”
To add emphasis to Brian’s threat, Dianna used her skill in Guai Gee Do. Deftly, she applied a pressure hold that shot intense pain through the chubby body of Guptra Ghotas. Then, in order not to be overheard by the driver who was not a Temporal Corps agent, she leaned close to his round, brown ear and whispered softly.
“You must be gone from here, Professor Ghotas. Birmingham is due to be bombed again tomorrow. A chemical plant will be hardest hit. Corrosive gases that escape will kill you all if you remain here. And, remember, if you die in the past, you are equally dead in your Home Culture.” 
Quickly, the words spilling from him, Professor Guptra Ghotas informed Brian Moore and Dianna Basehart where his students could be found. “They are… all over, the city. Most should be out near the industrial park, and the rail yards, recording the damage, measuring bomb craters, that sort of thing. I urge you, please hurry and find them.” Then he sighed. “Although, it is such a shame to lose this opportunity.” 
Brian thanked him. Then smiling, he and Dianna left Ghotas chained to the seat back.
 
 
 
They first located a trio of husky, clearly athletic youths who wore the letter sweaters of their university Tri-Goal varsity team. Technically it was a breach of time travel regulations, yet a harmless one. Athletic letters had not yet invaded English universities, so the anachronistic design could easily be passed off as from the United States. The three young men had gathered at the rim of a ragged-edged bomb crater on Haymarket Street.
“Must have been a stray,” a burly member of the group surmised as he waved a hand at the lack of surrounding damage.
Another thick-necked student, albeit one with a more scholarly expression, added to the pool of knowledge. “Yes, what the military types call corollary damage.”
Brian stepped over to the group. “Excuse me, we’re here to take you back.” 
“What? To the hotel?” the burly one demanded. 
“No, to your own time.” Brian and Dianna met with immediate opposition.
The burly student made their position clear. “We’re not going back unless the professor says so.”
Another made feeble protest. “We’ve only come over from Oxford to research in the cathedral cemetery.” 
“Spare me the cover stories, fellows,” Brian snapped. “You are four months overdue. Another two weeks and you’d be declared rogue travelers.”
Two of the three exchanged glances. “What’s this sod talking about, Harry?” the larger of them asked his companions.
Harry offered his opinion. “Bloke’s around the bend, you ask me, Bart.”
“Nice act, but it won’t wash. I’m the Temporal Resident at the London Station. You are all headed for your Home Culture.”
All three examined this intruder. Bart, the one who had mouthed off earlier, put fists on hips. Insolently, he gave Brian a slow once-over from top to bottom. He worked his full lips into a sneer of contempt. 
“Not bloody likely. Y’know, I don’t think you and the fringe combined”—he cut his eyes from Brian to Dianna—“are man enough to make us. The prof said we could stay and here we stay.”
Brian nodded to their jackets. “I also played Tri-Goal at my university, Bart, my friend. The six of us on my varsity team carried a four handicap. My other sport was Guai Gee Do.”
Dianna assumed the fencer’s en garde initial stance of the martial art and saluted with balled fist to open palm. “Mine, too,” she stated simply.
“Bloody hell,” said the one named Harry. “It’s all up, lads. It’s only candidates for Temporal Warden School that get to take Guai Gee Do. The way I see it, the lady here could take all three of us. We might as well go with them.”
The other pair had paled noticeably. The controlled, quiet actions of the two Temporal agents had convinced them. Brian smiled and eased the tension with an explanation.
“That’s wise of you. You might as well know this, Professor Ghotas is already aware. There will be a bombing tomorrow in which you would all have been killed.”
His belligerence cooled, Bart, the apparent leader, raised his hands, palms up, in surrender. “Nice of you to let us know. We really hadn’t studied this part of the war. Sort of playing it by the nose.”
Brian corrected Bart. “By ear, I believe the contemporary expression goes.”
The trio accompanied them in the search for more students. It didn’t take long to find them.
 
 
 
Two young women sat in the shade of a large old oak in a park along the Severn River. They chewed thoughtfully on thick sandwiches made with generous slices of Cheshire cheese and a coarse, yeasty white bread. Their faces held expressions of close to erotic bliss. A wicker jug of a Spanish wine rested its neck against the five foot diameter tree trunk.
Approaching them, Brian overheard, one exclaim to her friend, “It tastes soo good. So rich and creamy. Why can’t we have something like this at home?”
Her companion formed her face into that expression of condescending patience that one uses addressing a small, not-too-bright child. “You know that the eating of animal tissue or fat is prohibited by the Federation Health Secretariat, Jenny. It causes heart disease, it’s carcinogenic, it’s dangerous, it’s disgusting and dirty. It’s ... it’s unnatural.” Then she paused and gave a giggle. “But it tastes delicious. And I’ll simply die when I can no longer have roast beef and Yorkshire pudding.”
Jenny and her friend looked up and recognized their fellow students. Jenny’s smooth, youthful forehead creased when she took in Brian and Dianna. She recovered first. 
“I don’t believe we’ve met.” 
“Steven Whitefeather, London Time Station Resident. I’m sorry, but something has come up that makes it necessary for you to come with us. You are to be returned to your Home Culture.”
“So soon?” Jenny bleated. “That’s not fair. We haven’t finished our lunch.”
Brian made a suggestion. “Bring it along.”
“Can we?” Jenny brightened. 
“Of course. You’ll be put through detox when you get home anyway.”
Jenny’s friend looked disheartened. “And we were to have fish and chips again tonight.” 
“Better to miss out than to stay here and die of chemical poisoning tomorrow,” Diana prompted.
 
 
 
Five male students had pitched in to assist in a rescue attempt. A pile of smoldering brick rubble lay where an electric power substation had once stood. Air raid wardens had heard voices from inside shouting for help. The risky task had almost been completed by the time Brian, Dianna, and their entourage of future scholars arrived. Brian asked the air raid warden in charge a few quick questions.
“That’s right, guvner, There’s three or four folks inside, callin’ for help they are.”
“Could you use some help?” Brian made that decision quickly.
“Gor, that’d be a rum go, wot? Yes, we can use all the help we can get.”
Brian turned to the clutch of students. “You wanted to stay in Birmingham a little Ionger. Here’s your chance. Get busy and dig those people out of that rubble.” 
They went at it with a will. Bricks began to fly and soon became a hailstorm of debris. Within twenty minutes a grubby hand, followed by an equally soiled arm, and at last a smeared face appeared in the small opening to one side of the foundation. Harry and his athletes quickly widened the gap and pulled the man to safety.
Two more were soon recovered. They reported themselves to be the only ones in the building. With the grateful thanks of the restored workmen and the praises of the Home Guard ringing in their ears, the students set off to find more of their kind.
 
 
Time: 1800, GMT, July 28, 1940 
Place: Hotel Showalter, Birmingham,
Shropshire, England
 
 
By six that evening, the last student had been located and escorted to the bus. The young scholars had fortified themselves for the trip with fat, squat bottles of beer, cold potpies, newspaper horns of fish and chips, and other choice delicacies. The partying began before the door closed behind Brian Moore. They sang and chanted and ate and drank gustily, while the overburdened vehicle ground through the gears and slowly rolled over the crowded, cobbled streets. A final stop was required at the hotel to pick up their possessions. That consumed an hour.
Jenny could not find the argyle sweater she had purchased as a souvenir. In his haste, Bart upset the bag of golf clubs he had bought. He scrambled after the sticks as they skittered down the stairs. Harry could not find his store of exposed holocorder discs. And so it went.
Another sixty minutes inched slowly by when the engine refused to start. The frustrated driver fussed over the front engine compartment, endlessly tinkered with the coil and spark plug wires, then gave up in defeat. He went to summon help from the mechanics at the bus park.
Finally a repair van appeared and the mechanic replaced the battery. By then, despite the best efforts of Brian and Dianna, the students had scattered in search of more food and drink. Forty minutes later, the last of them struggled back. Which found the heavily loaded bus barely clear of the city limits before the darkness of a moonless night descended upon the road. 
Twenty minutes later, the sirens wailed and the lights went out all over Birmingham and the surrounding countryside. The Germans had come back. The bus abruptly swerved to the side of the road and stopped. A couple of the young women began to whimper. 
“Why don’t we go on?” Brian demanded. 
“See that little bit of light up ahead, guv? Home Guard with an electric torch. He’d have me license if I didn’t stop.” So saying, the driver put out the headlights.
Brian gave it a quick thought. “Hang on here, let me see what can be done.”
“There ain’t much you can do, guvner.”
“Wait and see,” promised Brian.
With a metallic creak, the accordion door folded back. Brian stepped onto the ground and advanced toward a darker form in the faint afterglow, which immediately headed his way. The domed, flat-brimmed helmet bobbed in rhythm with the waddling older man’s steps.
“There’s a raid coomin’,” a voice thick with regional accent came out of the dark. “Stay wi’ yer carrich, if ye please.” 
Brian produced his identification. “I’m with MI-5, Military Intelligence. We have a busload of prisoners pack there. Can’t keep them where there’s a chance of some making a break.” 
The Home Guard man pondered that a moment “Captured Huns, be they?”
Not wanting to lie openly, Brian nodded. A little lie, the way he saw it. The slitted lens of the flashlight glowed brightly a moment and pinned Brian’s ID. Reflection illuminated the Home Guard’s lush, white mustache. The yellowish beam rose, touched Brian’s face. 
“Yer wha’ ye say, right enough. It might be ye could get through. More like, you bring Jerry doown on us.”
Brian made a suggestion. “We can run without lights until we’re far enough from the flight path.”
After some serious thought, the warden returned Brian’s identification. “Aye, it might work. An’ good to get the Jerries oot of here. Go aboot it carefully, Colonel. An’ God go wi’ ye.” 
Back at the bus, Brian urged the reluctant driver to start up again. With a loud grind of gears, the unstable vehicle got under way. A tense silence hung over the students from the future while the carriage wheezed down the road. Gradually, the young people returned to their orgy of drinking and eating. The singing went on until one by one they fell asleep. 
Luck blessed Birmingham that night. The target of the Luftwaffe was the industrial center at Leeds, to the north.




 
 
Time: 1414, GMT, August 8, 1940
Place: The M-43 to Coventry, 
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Although some minor civilian targets had been bombed, Hitler held to his opinion that “terror bombing,” the indiscriminate killing of English civilians, was not to be part of any strategic or tactical planning. In a directive dated August 1, Hitler declared the strategic goal of the Luftwaffe was to grind the RAF into the ground, destroy its means of production, and pave the way for the invasion. Through the dwindling days of July, when losses for the RAF mounted to fifteen to twenty killed or seriously injured daily, Brian Moore and Dianna Basehart went about rounding up the rogue travelers and dispatching them back to their futures. Their efforts carried them into August. Try as they might, Brian reflected, they could never develop a solid lead on Clive Beattie. 
Elusive as ever, the time rogue evaded every effort. Take any three different Nazi agents who had done jobs with Beattie, and they received three different descriptions. Or, for that matter, ask any noninvolved citizen who had met him and the result would be the same. None of them conformed with the holocorder printout sent by Gallubin. A German captured in a dragnet for rogues admitted that Beattie spoke German with a Hessian accent, which verified what had been learned of the man from the future.
On another front, while their success grew in their work, the romance between himself and Samantha increased in its intensity. Brian found himself fighting the urge to confide in Sam about his dual life. On his way to Coventry that early afternoon in August, Brian vexed himself over the precarious position to which his emotions had brought him. 
Of necessity, he had to keep secrets within secrets. His work for the Warden Corps so nicely dovetailed with what he did for MI-5, yet had to be kept strictly separate. If one side found out about the other, Brian could not imagine the amount of trouble that would follow.
“That Lady Wyndamire seems som’at taken with you, sor, if you’ll pardon my making so bold as to mention.”
Wigglesby’s words brought Brian out of his reverie. “As if I didn’t have enough to keep track of,” grumbled Brian.
“Beggin’ yer pardon, sor?”
“Oh, nothing important, Wigglesby. When we get to Coventry, drop me at the office and you can have the rest of the day off. Return to London when you’re ready, I’ll be staying the night, and come back by train.”
“Very good, sor.”
In the silence that followed, Brian returned to the subject of his romantic involvement with Samantha. He felt particularly grateful that he had a male birth control implant from the future. Wouldn’t do, Brian allowed, to have one or more of his offspring sprung several centuries before their time. A new thought arose.
What possible sort of life could they expect together? He had no idea how long he would be assigned to London Station. No doubt until the end of the war. After that, back to the Warden Corps Home Culture, a couple of months vacation, then a new assignment. Another good reason for not leaving behind fatherless children in the world he knew would come after 1946. Then again, it might be nice to enjoy the pleasures of parenthood.
Lately Brian had been visualizing children, two or three, or even more, playing about in a yard on a nice street in a country village. It could happen. His implant could be removed. Vito could do it easily. And he would, even though it was a violation of regulations. Vito and Brian had become close friends since his “official” arrival in March 1938. It would be temporary.
That’s it, take it out long enough for the fertility blocker to leave his system, conceive a child, and put it back. If he wanted to. Brian gave a self-critical snort at the direction his thoughts took him and forced his mind to fasten on the scenery beyond the window of the Austin as it sped along the highway.
 
 
Time: 2250, GMT, August 8, 1940 
Place: Apartment of Samantha Trillby, Coventry, 
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Brian Moore thought again of his implant while he sat alone, late that night, in the living room of Samantha Trillby’s apartment. He wore only a towel draped around his waist and sipped from a bottle of Bulmer’s Cider while he smoked a Players. The cigarette burned down to within an inch while he reflected on whether or not it would be worth the risk to have a child, or children, with Samantha.
Lord knows he loved her enough, and she him. Their work with MI-5 might make it a bit sticky, and certainly the Warden Corps would view it darkly. He would be in peril of a demotion at best, if Arkady found out. The worst could be dismissal, a mind-wipe, and a life in the labor camps with a room temperature IQ. And how would that benefit an abandoned Samantha and their then fatherless children? Self-contempt at the prospect robbed him of temptation. But, by Wakan-tanka, the Great Spirit, how he loved her! He stirred slightly at the whisper sound of bare feet on the hardwood floor. 
“There you are,” Samantha breathed softly. “I awoke and you were gone.” 
“Taking a breather,” admitted Brian.
A teasing light blossomed in the hazel eyes of his love. “Don’t tell me you’re getting old. We used to go rumpty-dumpty three times with barely a pause for breath between. Am I getting to be too much woman for you?” 
Brian sought to avoid the subject matter of his reverie. “I’ll get you a cider.” 
“Too sweet. Get me a Watney’s.”
Thinking of the tingling bite of the hard apple cider, Brian wrinkled his forehead. “What’s so sweet about the Bulmer’s?” 
“You’re all the sweetness I need tonight, luv. Go on, be a good boy about it. And a glass, don’t forget.” 
In the process of rising, Brian turned full face to her. Samantha eyed him with an expression of adoration. 
“Oh, my, you are such a beautiful man. Come here to me.” Rayon rustled as Samantha let slip her dressing gown.
Her own healthfully glowing body rewarded Brian with an engaging view of her superb figure. Long-legged, she walked eagerly into his open-arm embrace. The beer and cider forgotten, they kissed hungrily.
Through the night, they made long, delicious, ultimately enervating love. Not even when the final coal panted out the last of its orange life did they stir; the night’s chill held no threat for either.
 
 
Time: 0730, GMT, August 9, 1940 
Place: Brian Moore’s Office, MI-5 Headquarters,
Bayswater Road, London, N.W. 1, England
 
 
Early the next morning, upon his arrival at his office, Brian was handed a transcript of intercepted Enigma messages. The third one down brought a frown to his forehead. Carefully he went back over it.
It proved to be a query from the headquarters of Field Marshal Sperrle to Luftwaffe headquarters, Berlin, requesting clearance to conduct an area survey for a proposed future bombing of Coventry. To Brian’s relief, the reply reiterated Hitler’s objection to indiscriminate civilian bombing, which eased his mind for the moment. Yet in the back of his mind lurked the certain knowledge that in a series of intensive bombings, over a period of four nights, Coventry would be reduced to rubble. Thousands would die and hardly a building would remain standing.
While he read on, the dualistic nature of his life and the problems it brought to his day-to-day existence struck him again. There to protect the Fabric of Time, and those who came from the future—legally or illegally—he found himself getting seriously caught up in this spy/counterspy business. Even though he knew the outcome, he found himself actually taking pleasure in tracking down the enemies of England. Truth to tell, it went further than that.
All was going well for him and Dianna in their quest for the German agents who were connected to rogue time-travelers. He put aside the sheaf of transcripts when he realized that later that day they were to close in on another, one who had been identified by his actions. A buzz on the intercom brought Sgt. Parkhurst.
“Parkhurst, I will be out most of the afternoon. Please route any calls or inquiries to Sir Hugh’s office.” 
“Certainly, sir. Will you be needing Warrant Officer Wigglesby?” 
“No. Not this time, but have him, standing by.” He handed her a slip of paper. “Connect me with this number, if you please.”
His call went through without delay to Vito Alberdi. Quickly Brian explained what they would do that afternoon.
 
 
Time: 0821, GMT, August 9, 1940 
Place: Rooming House of Sandy Hammond, 
Gloucester Street, Coventry, 
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Sandy Hammond awakened beside Wendall Foxworth in her bed. Lemon shafts knifed through the cracks in her shutters, heralded by the sweet, mid-morning, August song of warblers and thrushes. Stretching luxuriantly, she swung her legs over the edge. Wendall stirred and reached out for her. She guided his hand to one of her breasts and bent low to murmur in his ear. Muzzily he considered her words, then cleared his throat. It took an effort to speak. 
“What do you mean, ‘why can’t I stay through the day and to night?’”
Sandy looked at him as though he had grown another head. “Because your squadron is being changed over to night patrol again, that’s why.”
Wendall made a helpless gesture. “Sweetheart, this day off is to sleep and rest and change our awake pattern. Not to make the beast with two backs until I’m exhausted.” 
“You are getting bored with me,” Sandy accused. Her mouth tasted horrid. She would gladly kill for a cup of Stimucaff, but it wouldn’t exist for another five hundred years. Glumly she realized that she had to settle for that awful English tea.
Black as sin, she thought. She ignored Wendall as she padded barefoot into the kitchen to prepare the pot. And strong enough to dissolve the cup, her grumbling continued. Its bitter flavor haunted her waking hours. Wendall followed, dressed only in his khaki military undershorts. Measuring black leaves into the tea ball, Sandy goaded him even more.
“What’s so important about doing it right now?” 
“Word has come down from the top that things are going to hot up soon. The Jerries are fixin’ to throw everything they have at Britain, come the middle of this month. Hitler’s going to invade.” 
Sandy slammed two thick, white, earthenware mugs on the table. “But why you? Why again so soon? First it was that special gunnery school, now this. What makes your squadron so important?” No act now, genuine tears sprang up in her eyes.
Patiently, Wendall tried to explain. “Because my squadron is the highest rated for night vision.”
Suddenly her anguish disappeared. Now, that information ought to pay for a really big chunk of germanium, Sandy gloated silently.
 
 
Time: 1507, GMT, August 9, 1940 
Place: A Boat Hire Shop, the Boardwalk, 
Brighton, East Sussex, England
 
 
Brian Moore and Dianna Basehart, with Vito Alberdi close at hand, walked up to a boat rental kiosk at Brighton. Due to the persistent U-boat scare, business had not been good. Brian noted it in some flaking, scaling paint on one sunshade pillar, frayed rope coiled, around the newel posts of a short flight of stairs to the rental office. The young man behind the counter was doing a Times crossword puzzle. Brian stepped up to the counter and cleared his throat.
Lazily, the clerk lifted his head. “After renting a boat, are you?” 
“Excuse me, are you Ryan Flannery?”
Looking surprised, the young boat agent nodded. “Yes, I am. What’s it to you?”
Brian raised the hat from his head, the signal for Vito to move in behind their subject. When he spoke, it came out in rapid-fire German. “I’m Colonel Moore, Home Office of MI-5. You are under arrest for espionage.” 
Ryan Flannery/Rudolf Kurtzner made a break for it. Vito clipped him at the knees and took the legs out from under the German agent. Brian pounced at once. He had Flannery’s hands behind his back in an instant. The cuffs clicked into place. Yanked to his feet, Flannery cursed in guttural Low German. Brian stepped around him and surveyed the beach, left and right.
“All clear, so far. Take him off, will you, Vito? Turn him over to Wigglesby. He can be reached at this number.” Brian handed Vito a slip of paper.
Obtaining a match to the striped blazer and straw boater hat worn by Flannery, Brian settled behind the counter. Dianna took a place on a bench a short way off, her face shrouded in a large, floppy hat of insubstantial material. They began a long wait.
At four o’clock that afternoon, an energetic, athletic young man bounded up to the kiosk. He took a glimpse of Brian and his face registered confusion. “I say, old chap, you’re not Ryan, are you?” The accent was as phony as the speaker.
“Surprise, surprise! That is, if you are Mr. David Plumm.” 
“I am. What’s this all about?”
“I’m afraid your spying days are over. You’re on your way back to the future.”
Plumm fought to rearrange his features into indignation. “Are you daft, man? I didn’t even lower myself to read that nonsense by H.G. Wells.”
Brian’s voice came out cold. “Cut the crap, chum. We’ve already bagged your Nazi friend, Kurtzner. Now it’s time to send you back for your just reward. Before you go, though, I’m sure you’ll let us know where you stashed your germanium or whatever you’ve been paid with.”
Knowledge of the rare mineral deflated Plumm. His shoulders sagged and he hung his head. A second later it all proved a diversion. He leaped to one side and made a dash along the boardwalk. Dianna Basehart stood in his path. Plumm tried to straight-arm her out of his way.
Dianna used the leverage of his extended limb to send him hurtling heels over head onto the sand. Brian closed on him before he could draw breath enough to have strength to stand. Brian reached automatically for his cuffs, only to realize he had used them on Kurtzner. Dianna offered hers. 
With Plumm secured between them, they marched him off the beach. Out of earshot of the mildly curious bystanders, a smiling Brian turned his head to Dianna.
“That about wraps up our time interference cases, except for a few in Canterbury and Clive Beattie.”
Dianna answered him sweetly. “We still have to deal with Sir Rupert.”
Brian groaned. “Oh, yes, there is still that.”
 
 
Time: 2235, GMT, August 19, 1940 
Place: The West End, London, England 
 
 
Clive Beattie moved with practiced precision in the darkness between the crowded buildings of London’s West End. His small cadre of agents would be busy to the south and east parts of the sprawling city. Soon fires would flare in both areas. Gelatinite bombs would explode, shattering building fronts and driving the fire brigades and police mad. Also drawing them away from his immediate vicinity. 
Well-pleased with his plans—they had worked perfectly every time before—he raised a gloved finger to scratch idly at the sandy, bristle-cut hair atop his head. Any time now, he judged. In fact, the fuses should already be lighted. From far off, a faint jolt reached the soles of his shoes. Moments later, he heard a dull rumble. His thin lips formed a sharp V, his best effort at a smile. 
Soundlessly he glided to the back door of a ground-floor jewelry store. He considered diamonds nearly as easy to transport as germanium. By the end of this war, he would be able to go back in a single trip and never want for anything the rest of his life. Beattie applied the electronic lock-pick and had the door open in seconds. He went directly to the vault in the rear of the store. 
Another no-challenge task. The suction cup of the electronic stethoscope fitted into place on the face of the thick door. With the fingers of a surgeon, Beattie worked the dial. The first click sounded loud in his ear, enough so to cause him to jerk. As always, the second tumbler fall did not catch him unprepared. Beattie reversed direction of the dial for the third. 
It came sooner than expected. 
Now the last. Clop! Clive Beattie let out his pent-up breath in a long hiss. 
Removing his pickup, he spun the wheel that released the six thick, steel bars that guarded the contents of the vault. With a small grunt of effort, he swung the door away. Inside rested velvet-lined trays on wheeled carts. Each section in every bin gave off blue and white spears of twinkling brightness in the beam of his flashlight.
 
 
Time: 2137, GMT, August 31, 1940 
Place: Bomb Shelter Below MI-5 Building,
Bayswater Road, London, N.W. 1, England 
 
 
At the end of August, Brian Moore witnessed the beginning in earnest of the Battle of Britain, with raids around the clock. What had triggered the escalation had been an error. Late on the evening of August 24, a German bomber squadron made a premature bomb release. Instead of their intended, obvious military target, their load fell without warning on civilians in the heart of London. Churchill’s immediate reaction was to schedule a retaliation raid.
At sunset the next evening eighty-one twin-engine Halifax bombers took off. Their target: Berlin. Only twenty-nine reached the German capital, the rest got lost on the way. The primitive nature of their navigation instruments could be blamed for most of those who went to the wrong place, Brian reasoned. To the relief and pleasure of all, this diminutive raid cost the RAF only eight killed and twenty-eight wounded. Unfortunately, it momentarily cost Hitler his tenuous grip on reason.
Hadn’t Göring assured the whole nation that no enemy bomb would fall on German soil? Now the British had bombed Berlin! He immediately ordered that London be given the same treatment as Rotterdam and Warsaw. The occasional accidental bombing of civilian targets disappeared under the smoke, shattered brick and mortar, and gouts of powdered earth as 330 tons of bombs fell on the city during the day and night of September 7.
The raids went on and on. Hitler and Göring turned their backs on their stated objective in the directive of August 1 in order to maintain around-the-clock terror raids on London. To the relief of the War Ministry, this took the crushing pressure off Fighter Command. The squadrons rebounded quickly and began to take a more aggressive stance in the skies over England. At once, aircraft of both sides began to fall out of the air in greater quantity. That did not deeply concern Churchill and the War Ministry. 
Production of fighter aircraft was no longer seen as a problem. With his foreknowledge, Brian could only agree. Only 157 fighters had been built in January, output had grown to 496 in July of 1940. The focus of the problem had changed. Now the most serious worry was to put trained pilots in the cockpits of the Hurricanes and Spitfires. 
On July 13, Fighter Command, led by Air Chief-Marshal Sir Hugh Dowding, had only 1,341 trained pilots. To challenge the day and night waves of German bombers and escorts, he would have to rely heavily upon the pilots of Coastal Command and the Fleet Air Arm. He also organized and commissioned four Polish and one Czech squadron in the first three weeks of July. That had at the best 620 RAF Hurricanes and Spitfires against 1,137 German fighters. Losses began to mount rapidly. Brian knew that the darkest days of the war lay ahead for England. And for Brian Moore.




 
 
Time: 1620, GMT, September 23, 1940
Place: Whattling Abbey Church, Coventry,
Warwickshire, England
 
 
In Coventry, Samantha Trillby still found herself disturbed by her close call with death. She had spent two months in conscious effort to shake the powerful images of torture and grueling interrogation she had undergone. Even the love and support of Brian Moore had failed to let her completely take leave of her horrors and get on with her life. After Brian’s last visit, she decided to do something about it.
Particularly now, with the Germans bombing civilian targets, she sensed a greater vulnerability. Her nightmares intensified. Which is what brought her here, to Whattling Abbey Church, on the edge of Coventry. The vicar, Rev. Raymond Mull, had long been a friend of her father’s. A kindly gentleman in his late fifties, and far from dotty as yet, he took an immediate interest in her problems.
Unwilling to reveal her connection with MI-5, and unable to disclose the very real circumstances that engendered her fears, Samantha contrived a story about “dreaming” of being grabbed and tortured, nearly killed.
“It started about nine weeks ago,” she began. She told it with consummate skill and concluded with a revealing admission. 
“I always wake up before anything… permanent happens, but I am always frightened. It is affecting my work with the movers concern where I’m employed.”
Kindly Vicar Mull, his substantial girth encased in gray suit, black dickie, and clerical collar, reached for one of her hands, which she had been wringing, and clasped it between both of his. “My dear, I’m afraid we’re dealing with something far more disturbing than dreams. I would suggest that you are not having dreams at all.”
Shock registered on Samantha’s face. “Why, whatever do you mean, Vicar?”
Rev. Mull’s dark brown eyes shone with concern, and just a hint of good humor. “You are involved in something very dangerous. Something that you really shouldn’t be mixed up in. Your father, the brigadier, was the last man who would ever willfully divulge secret information, or violate the Official Secrets Act. But he dearly loved you. 
“Shortly before he died, he came to me when you decided upon the course you have followed. It was painful for him, but he told me ... everything.” He paused at her startled expression. “What you should remember is, like a barrister or a doctor, anything you confide to me is privileged. I am not obliged, nay, my vows make it so I cannot divulge it to a soul.”
Shyly, Samantha raised her eyes to gaze steadily into his. She swallowed hard to force way for the words, then spoke in a low, measured tone. “You’re right, of course. I’ve been working for MI-5. Father tried to prevent it. And you’re correct in saying that it was just before his heart seizure. I sometimes feel as though I caused that to happen.” 
“Don’t take on an unnecessary burden of guilt, my dear. Your father told me they had discovered an irregularity with his heart at his last physical, a year ago. Talk was he would have been invalided out, had not Hitler invaded Poland. Now, what is it you do for Lord Walter’s office?”
Surprised that this rural cleric knew the name of the director of MI-5, Samantha covered it well. “I’m in the Home Office, Counterespionage. And, so far, I’ve been compelled to kill several men. German agents, but still human beings.”
Fully expectant of resounding condemnation from this clergyman, she was completely astounded at his response. 
“Splendid! You are doing a very courageous thing. Though, mind, that does not detract from the danger you are in constantly.” He cleared his throat, poured a bit of sherry for both of them, and leaned back. “Now, tell me the rest.” 
Her surprise complete and genuine, Samantha next found herself telling Vicar Mull about her relationship with Brian and how much she loved him. Mull listened fixedly, then spoke quietly.
“How did you and this Brian Moore meet?”
How like her father, Samantha thought. “Through my work.”
“At the movers?”
“No, the other. He’s my superior. A colonel and a baronet. He’s quite handsome and very good at what he does.” Samantha paused, tried, to rein in her willy-nilly thoughts. “We ... we have ... sinned together.”
Vicar Mull pulled a serious face. “Do you wish to confess this before God?”
“I—I don’t know how I can. If I do, I’ll have to admit that I don’t feel shame for having done so… or wanting to do so again.”
Instead of disapproval, Samantha heard only low laughter. “You are your father’s daughter. So headstrong and self-possessed.” 
Samantha frowned. “If that’s so, why do I feel so unable to cast off this terrible experience of the kidnapping and torture and get on with my life and my work?”
Mull shook his head. “That will come. Perhaps with time, perhaps tomorrow.”
“He’s the one, Brian is the one who rescued me. I don’t know how he could have possibly found me, but he came crashing through the door and saved me. He killed two of the Germans, took the other one into custody. Later I learned that one had simply… disappeared. And, the way Brian held me, and kissed me, and took care of me after, I positively know he loves me, too. Vicar? Would it… would it be all right,” she asked tentatively, “for the woman to ask the man to marry her?”
 
 
Time: 1630, GMT, September 23, 1940 
Place: Cellar of the MI-5 Building, Bayswater Road, 
London, N.W. 1, England
 
 
Brian towered over the slightly built German agent he had captured in Brighton. The small, stone-walled cell in the basement of the MI-5 building had a dank, damp nature. Windowless, it let in none of the sun and let out none of the wetness that clung in glistening patches to the rough walls. The light in the room came from a battery of kleig lights on stands around the room.
They had been arranged in such a manner so that no matter where the prisoner looked, one of them bore into his eyes. Snoods and barn-door shutters protected the interrogation team from their glare. Brian had first come here directly from sending Plumm back to the future. He had returned at least once a week ever since. No one else ever spoke to the cornered rat on the stool in the center of the room. That added to the effect of Brian’s voice when he summed up the situation. 
“You are a German citizen, caught in the act of espionage against the British Empire during time of war. For that, you can be hanged.” 
Flannery decided to bluster. “I was not wearing a British military uniform. I wasn’t wearing any sort of uniform. You are not permitted under international law and the Geneva Convention to hang me.”
Brian leaned in close, his Native American hawk nose inches from the button counterpart on the face of Flannery. “Let’s get one thing straight between us, shall we? At the present time, with your country bombing the hell out of the innocent civilians of my country, I can do anything I goddamned well want to do to you.
“For instance”—Brian gestured to one of the other two men in the room—“I can have my associates here pound your skull with a sock full of sand until your brain turns to porridge.” At his nod, the MI-5 agent stepped forward and swiftly slapped Flannery over one ear with a sand-filled cosh. “Smarts some, doesn’t it?”
Flannery had gone utterly pale, except for the tip of that ear, which had absorbed some of the blow. Nervously, he licked his lips. Brian leaned in on him again and Flannery flinched back.
“Or I can have my other associate fire up his blowtorch. I understand your Gestapo has a particular fondness for them.”
With a pop and roar, the brass instrument in the hands of Tony Bellknap came to life. The flame slowly turned blue-white. Flannery made a gagging sound. “You can’t… you wouldn’t. You—you English are civilized.”
“As opposed to your Nazi masters?” Brian taunted. “As I said, you could be hanged. Or you could give up your whole cell and anyone else you know of and simply be interned for the duration. What will it be?”
Flannery seized at that flimsy straw of hope. “Do you mean that? Would you assure that I will not be executed?” 
“Not even a firing squad, old boy. Provided you cooperate fully.”
Flannery sighed and averted his eyes. After a deep breath, and with shoulders sagged in dejection, the words began to spill out of him. First came the names of those in his cell. Only two others were German. The remaining three turned out to be Irish and a disgruntled Scot.
“They gather the information and I digest it and transmit it to the Abwehr.”
“Is that by radio?”
Flannery bit his lip before answering Brian. “Not… always. There have been meetings with submarines.”
Brian pressed his luck. “Do you have a schedule for those meetings?”
Flannery nodded his head. “Yes. It’s in my codebook. You’ll find that in a hollowed brick on the hearth in my flat.” He next discussed the nature of the information that they collected and that he transmitted. Their very best source, he verified, was Plumm. Who was an odd duck at best. Brian perked up at that.
“Such as?”
Flannery raised his eyes for the first time. “The way he wanted his pay. Plumm was obsessed with a mineral. Sort of like mica, only not so plentiful. Germanium, it’s called. There’s plenty of it in Germany, though, not like some other countries.” 
“And you… obtained it for him?”
“Yes, through Abwehr sources.” Flannery looked uncomfortable, frightened now that he had been milked dry. “There’s nothing else I can tell you.” 
“Oh, come, there must be something more,” prompted Brian. “A little gossip among spies could produce a gold mine of information for us.”
Flannery furrowed his brow. “There is one thing. More a rumor than any hard facts. I’ve heard of a top agent, one trained at the Abwehr school in the Schwarzwald, who transmits messages to an Abwehr station in France, and also operates a directional beacon to guide the bombers. Only thing is, it’s a woman. She’s believed to be working for your military somehow, and operating out of Coventry.” 
That last remark confirmed what Arkady had told him. It also chilled Brian to the marrow. An image flashed in his mind, and once more he roughly rejected it. It could not be. Not Sam—not his Samantha—a double agent.
 
 
Time: 1543, GMT, September 27, 1940
Place: Outskirts of Coventry,
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Brian did not want to use Samantha on this one. For one thing, there could be considerable danger involved in the capture of such an important agent. For another, although he had dismissed the possibility when he first found himself falling in love with Samantha, Brian had to accept that there remained a very slight chance that she was a double agent. 
Ruefully, he recalled the lessons he had learned in trust as a child. His parents and grandparents had trusted the American troops. They had gone to Wounded Knee with the belief that there would be food, warm, shelter, and peace for all the foreseeable future. They found instead the promise of death. In the split second before he joined all the rest of his family in the Sky World, a promise from the far, far future had whisked Steve Whitefeather to safety. He had awakened in a world beyond all comprehension. He had to trust in Samantha’s bona fides. For those reasons he took Tony Bellknap and Harrison Wigglesby from the Home Office and two technicians from MI-5.
They arrived in Coventry in late afternoon, driving a mover’s lorry and a plumber’s panel truck. At Brian’s direction, they would set up at right angles to one another outside the city on the south and east. Brian briefed them before they split up. 
“There should not be any radio signals from within the area. Military traffic from outside our sweep area is the only thing you should hear. Whatever signal you detect from inside, no matter how faint, get a bearing on it and report by radio to me. I’ll be with Wigglesby on the south side of town. I’ll plot our bearing, and where the two cross, we’ll find our broadcaster. That’s how the Germans do it, too. They have loop antennas in the outermost aircraft of a squadron, port and starboard. With them, they shoot bearings to two or more ground stations and where they all cross is where the target is. Good luck, and let’s shut this one down fast.” 
 
 
Time: 2116, GMT, September 27, 1940
Place: Penthouse Casino, the Mayfair Hotel, 
London, England
 
 
Dianna Basehart stood at the roulette table in the exclusive private club atop the Mayfair Hotel. Outside, a fierce thunderstorm raged overhead. Wind whipped thick sheets of rain against the plate glass windows, quite unseen behind the blackout curtains. Unconsciously, it caused Dianna to shiver slightly. As Lady Wyndamire, she wore a daringly scooped, form-fitting evening dress in basic black, with a string of pearls her only adornment, save for a wedding ring. Beside. her, in swallowtail tux and onyx studs, hovered Sir Rupert Cordise. The hour was early; Cordise had already hinted at other distractions to follow. Inwardly, Dianna steeled herself for what those might be. 
Cordise heightened her suspicions when he patted her hand where it rested beside a modest pile of tiles. They were of £50 value. “I had hoped to lure you away from all this by now,” he murmured in her ear.
“But I’m winning, Rupert. It’s all so very exciting.” 
Cordise studied Dianna. He had champagne chilling, flute glasses and a long-stemmed rose laid out on the nightstand, the coverlet turned down, and the servants dismissed for the evening. Tonight, he determined, was a perfect night for conquest. Then this fool croupier had to fall for her and use his wheel brake to pad her winnings. Patience, he reminded himself, was a virtue. It would only exacerbate the situation to rush her.
“Perhaps a bit longer,” he relented. 
“An hour? Win or lose?” 
Cordise gazed at her slantwise, sucked on his ivory cigarette holder, and exhaled a cloud of blue-white. “All right, then.”
“Dix-sept, noir,” the stickman intoned. Dianna had won again. 
In earlier days, the wail of sirens, which came two hours later, would not have interrupted play. Now, though, with the indiscriminate bombing of the city, the gaming shut down twenty minutes later and everyone headed unhurriedly to the basement shelter.
Falling less than two blocks away, the first sticks of bombs detonated with a tremendous roar and violent resonance. Concrete dust sifted down from the ceiling. Something primordial deep inside Dianna’s psyche made her want to run, screaming and tearing at her hair. Desperately, she wished for Brian to be there beside her. More bombs dropped three blocks over. Each blast accelerated her heartbeat. 
One 500 pounder detonated so close that glass shattered above and the dimly lighted shelter filled momentarily with bright, actinic light. The enormous sound deadened Dianna’s hearing. She looked around her in the grip of mounting panic. Seated next to her, Sir Rupert bent over, his mouth sagged open, eyes tightly closed, palms over his ears. To Dianna, he had the look of a man who did not believe this could happen to him. Dianna sinkingly realized that there was no one to help her.




 
 
Time: 2145, GMT, September 27, 1940 
Place: Outskirts of Coventry,
Warwickshire, England 
 
 
An hour before sundown, a dense, violent storm cell blew in off the Atlantic, roiled the English Channel, and unloaded on the French coast from Dieppe to Calais and as far inland as Amiens. Its ferocity kept the Luftwaffe on the ground. A sister storm made it a gray Friday when it swept through the Irish Sea and deluged the Birmingham-Coventry area. Needless to say, it likewise dampened the spirits of the MI-5 agents expectant on catching a master spy.
For an hour and a half, raindrops drummed on the bare metal roof of the panel truck occupied by Brian Moore and Harrison Wigglesby. The windshield had become a solid sheet of water, steamed up on the inside by the presence of three persons. From the rear, hunched over his equipment, Derek Treavors grumbled constantly.
“Damned electric discharges’ll blanket even the strongest signals.” He gave not the least indication he knew the Germans would be grounded, at least for some long while. “Damned lightning’s bound to target my antenna.”
A large loop antenna had been fitted into its pre-installed base on the roof of the van after they found an empty lot on which to park at the southern edge of Coventry. Ancient farm buildings of stout English stone nestled in a grove of trees a quarter mile away. Low cottages spread for half a mile along the road to the north, three blocks deep. An ideal location.
Derek Treavors had quickly calibrated his receiver and detection instruments. Then he contacted the moving van by radio and had them broadcast a brief CW message. The dots and dashes, of Morse code came in loud and clear, Derek rotated the antenna until the signal centered perfectly.
“Got it,” the technician sang out. “Bearing, zero-nine-four. This is goin’ to be like spearin’ fish in a barrel.”
“Good on you,” Wigglesby grouched, uncomfortable in the crowded front compartment of the truck. 
Feigning hurt, Treavors brought Wigglesby to task. “Mr. Wigglesby, I’ll thank you not to deride the lower ranks. It’s unbecoming of an officer, sir.”
Wigglesby carne back, a note of humor in his voice. “Effing sod. Watch that mouth, Treavors, I was an RSM when you were still in nappies.” The reference to diapers was not the least accurate; the two men were nearly of an age.
“Stow it, both of you,” Brian advised. “I have the feeling this is all academic. We’re going to have a miserable, wet night and nothing to show for it.” 
Brian’s words proved to be an accurate prediction. In towering ranks, line squalls continued to march inland from the Atlantic, inundating the French coast and turning steel mat runways into mud slides as the rainwater turned the soil beneath them into a glutinous mass. At midnight, Brian gave the order to pack it in and they returned to London.
 
 
Time: 2250, EST, September 27, 1940 
Place: Airfield of Luftflotte 34
Outside Beauvais, Occupied France
 
 
“Pferd scheist!” Captain Gerd Moen exploded from behind the desk in his squadron’s ready room.
“Horseshit indeed,” agreed an affable Oberleutnant Reimer Beck from his chair on the front row of the double crescent of rain-stalled pilots. “We no more get our aircraft in first-class condition and we are baffled by this storm. What a way to spend a Friday.”
“Ja, and it turns not a hair on the head of our beloved leader. To tell the truth, I suspect he is pleased with this. Those runways will not dry out enough before tomorrow night. That should satisfy our dear Colonel Ruperle, at least in part.” 
Beck, the eternal optimist, saw that in a different light. “Colonel Ruperle is an exemplary officer, a dedicated leader and loyal to the Fatherland.”
Moen cocked an eyebrow. “You are siding with him now, eh?” The fire in his black eyes burned into the consciousness of Lieutenant Beck.
They should not be having this conversation in front of the other pilots, Beck thought. Bad for morale. Also strictly forbidden in the Officer’s Manual. But open criticism of those absent to defend themselves had become the norm in the Reich. It began with the Communists, Beck recalled. Then the Jews. Then anyone, superior or inferior to the critic mattered not in the least. Captain Moen had become adept at it. Beck broke their locked gaze.
He spoke in a low tone. “If need be, yes. Remember, he is commanding this squadron.”
Capt. Moen produced a sly expression. “Yes ... but for how long?”
 
 
Time: 1023, GMT, September 28, 1940 
Place: The M-43, London to Coventry 
 
 
Saturday dawned to a thick shroud of ground fog. The thunderstorms had chilled the air and now the heated earth gave off with tendrils of gray. The fog rolled across the fields, dotted with Jersey cows and thick, wooly sheep, at hip height to a man, which caused the curly-backs to blend into it as moving mist. Not wanting to leave any opportunity uncovered, Brian led his action group back to Coventry at mid-morning. Already the puffballs and streamers melted under an unseasonably clear, bright sun. 
Wigglesby commented on it. “Don’t often see it like this. It’s not natural to see the sun before eleven o’clock, I say.” 
“Afraid you’ll sunburn?” Treavors quipped.
Wigglesby snorted. “Bloody hell, you’re a thorn in me side, Derek.”
Once again, they parked in the same lot and set up shop. Throughout the morning the airwaves crackled with background static and nothing else. Brian, feeling the most useless at this point, volunteered to fetch them something at the noon hour. He returned with fat sandwiches of thick, chewy bread, which featured thick slabs of sliced brisket, garden lettuce, and big, full-moon slices of onion. Radishes and homemade pickles provided garnish.
“Lord love a duck, Colonel, where did you steal this?” Wigglesby asked in awe.
“Not far. There’s a pub a short walk from here. The fellow owns it has a kitchen garden out behind. His wife bakes the bread. From what I saw, they have to fight off the customers with a cricket bat.”
“Why din’t you bring us a beer?” Treavors complained. He was one of those career enlisted men who had grown immune to the awesome nature of superior rank. 
Brian brandished a second brown paper bag. “Oh, but I did. Whitbread’s, if you have no complaint.” 
Derek Treavors beamed. “I’ll love you forever, Colonel.” He eagerly popped the hinged stopper and watched a ribbon of blue-gray rise into the interior of the truck. 
They drew another blank through the afternoon. Near evening, the reason occurred to Brian. “If the French coast caught half of what we got, those metal strip runways of the Germans will be sunk in mud. I’m going to call in the other unit and we’ll have a good dinner. No sense in returning to London now. Maybe tonight.”
 
 
 
At a modest-priced open-air diner, Brian Moore enjoyed his substantial-as-always meal with a pint of bitter. The evening speciality of the house was pig’s trotters, mash, and squeak (boiled pig’s feet, mashed potatoes, and steamed cabbage), and all the MI-5 agents, except for Isaac Ruben, ordered it. Isaac settled for a round of rare roast beef with horseradish sauce, creamed potatoes and peas, and something limp and pale green the management passed off as a garden salad. He had to insist on that as a side order.
Of all the MI-5 agents, Ruben bothered Brian the most. A fellow American, it would be easy for the boy from the Bronx to catch a nuance of tone, or some idiom common to both time periods, and realize that his superior could not be a native-born, British peer named Brian Moore. Consequently he avoided as much contact with Isaac Ruben as he could. Brian had deliberately assigned him as radio technician to the other van. 
“Good food,” Derek Treavors said around a mouthful. He added a dab of fiery English mustard to a cut portion of pig’s foot and directed it toward the opening under his full flare of mustache. He paused halfway and gestured with the morsel to a table to his left. 
“Uh-oh, look over there. The lovebirds.” 
Brian Moore turned casually and saw again the same couple he and Samantha frequently encountered at the Blind Goose or Two Dragons pubs and in various restaurants. He smiled in recognition.
“Yes, they’re quite a number here in Coventry.” 
“You know them, then?” Treavors pressed. 
Brian nodded. “By sight, yes. We’ve never spoken.”
“He’s a Hurricane jockey, I’d say,” Harry Wigglesby put in about the young man.
Puzzled by the deductive reasoning of his driver, Brian put the question to him. “Why do you say that?”
“Hair’s cut close, which makes him military at his age. He has the faraway look a flier gets. And he’s not snooty enough to be an officer, so he don’t fly Spitfires. Ah—present company excepted.” 
“Why fighters at all?”
“Easy, Colonel. He’s small, slight build, the sort that’s just right for pursuit planes.” Wigglesby paused, then continued in an embarrassed tone. “I’m—ah—surprised that you bein’ ex-RAF didn’t tumble to it right off, sor. One pilot to another, sort of?”
Brian laughed aloud. “Oh, I tumbled to him when I first laid eyes on him. He was with the same girl and obviously telling a tall tale about flying, hands zooming in the air over the table and all. Yet I was instantly intrigued at your perspicacity. You’ve barely seen the lad, and he’s not nearly so demonstrative, and you come up with everything except the serial number of his aircraft.”
Wigglesby blushed. “Regimental sergeants major have the knack, sor. We can read any enlisted man like a book. Most officers, too.”
Brian tensed only slightly at this. “And me, Wigglesby?”
Wigglesby studied his superior a moment, then spoke with ringing sincerity. “The loss of the RAF was Ml-5’s gain, sor. You must have been one hell of a pilot.”
In his own Home Culture, Brian had flown stratospheric plasma rams since he earned his private license at the age of fifteen. At one point in his teenage years, he had dreamed of becoming a shuttle pilot on the space-station runs or to Luna and beyond to Mars. He had also been checked out on antique, still flyable aircraft of the current period. His only problem: Although he had been briefed, he had never been checked out in or flown a Sopwith Camel. If Wigglesby did, his goose could yet be roasted a crisp, ripe brown.
To Brian’s great relief, the Pearlyman put his mind to rest. “Never been in a flying machine. Don’t know how one works, or why for that matter. Momma Wigglesby’s little boy is crackers for keepin’ his feet on terra-solid-firma,” he concluded redundantly.
Smiling, Brian made an offer he was sure would not be accepted. “If you like, you should come out with me to Heathrow and I’ll take you up.”
Wigglesby paled visibly. “I’d smash our cockle barrow first. Thanks to you, sor, but it’s not for me. If the Good Lord Above meant man to fly, he’duv given him wings.”
Across from them the young couple left their table. Brian heard a scrap of their conversation. “I’ve got to get back, precious. We have an alert.”
“Oh, really?” the girl asked. “With all this rain, l didn’t think the Germans could fly.” 
“They can by tonight. We’ve been—“ And then he stayed his tongue, a shocked expression on his face. 
“D’you mean you somehow know in advance when there’s an air raid laid on?”
“No, Sandy, nothing like that. It’s only the Met people have told us drying winds are coming up out of Spain and the ground should have drained and firmed up by now. We have to be prepared is all,” Wendall Foxworth covered himself carefully. 
Fully aware of Enigma, Brian wanted badly to stop them and question them further. It wouldn’t do to cause an incident in so public a place. He made note of the exchange and decided to contact them later. He finished his meal in silence. Twenty minutes to finish the meal, and they were on the way to their stations. Darkness was falling, and Brian wanted to be in place, in the event the Germans came after all.
 
 
Time: 2117, GMT, September 28, 1940 
Place: Harwick Road, South Side of Coventry
Warwickshire, England
 
 
At exactly 9:17, Derek Treavors stiffened. He reached up and slowly turned the wheel connected to the loop antenna. Back and forth he worked it. Then he paused.
“Coor, I’ve got it. Colonel, if you please, get on the wireless and tell Isaac I’ve got a signal at zero-one-five. Five-by-five an’ damned strong, it’s close.”
Brian transmitted the information to the other car. The radio crackled a moment, then a voice came back. “We have that one, two-by-two and faint. Wait, hold it.” A long pause. “Bloody devils dancin’ on a pin,” came the voice of Tony Bellknap. “We’ve a stronger signal, can’t be more ‘an five blocks from us. What do you say about that?”
Brian thought a second. “Remember I said the Luftwaffe used directional beacons in a corridor effect? Sounds like they will fly right over Coventry.”
“Got the coordinates, sir,” Treavors interrupted.
“Right. What’s the bearing on our fix? Over.”
More static. “Zero-eight-zero.”
Treavors beamed. “Goodo. I’ll shoot the convergence in a sec. Tell them I’ve got theirs at three-five-three.”
Brian relayed the information. “He’s to the west of us,” came the reply.”Got him nailed.”
“Colonel, I’ve got ours, too.”
“Which one do we take first?” Wigglesby speculated aloud. He turned his eyes on Brian.
Brian Moore brooded on that a moment. His options did not look good. If they took one first, the other might be warned and get away. If they tried to do it simultaneously, they might be undermanned. Either way could be a lose-lose situation. What they needed to do was pinpoint their location, then decide. He keyed the microphone.
“Break down your watch and go find your target. Make it exact. Then report in.” To Wigglesby, “Derek will tell you which way to go. Follow it until we have a lock on the signal.”
“Yes, sor.”
Twenty minutes later, the needle on one of Treavors’s instruments rose steadily ten dB into the red zone. Derek sighed with contentment. He raised a hand and pointed at a three-story frame structure with a high, steep roof and dormer windows in the attic.
“Right up there. A positive fix. Drive forward fifty feet, Harry.” Wigglesby did and the needle dropped. “Now back up and go on another fifty feet.”
When Harry had completed this, Treavors nodded in confirmation. “That’s it, no doubt. Now what, sir?”
Brian brushed at the line of sandy, regimental mustache that adorned his upper lip. Time to come up with something. While trying to pluck the right plan from his scattered thoughts, an idea came to him newborn and whole.
Quickly he wrote down the address. “Let’s get out of here. Derek, I’m going to drop you at the corner. Keep an eye on this place. If the bird flies, follow after. Report in when you can.”
“An’ we’ll be doin’ what, sor?” Wigglesby inquired. 
“I’ll reach the others by wireless and find out where they are located and where the target can be found, then we join them. We take that one first.”
 
 
 
At 10:15, five men crouched outside a two-story house near the industrial district of Coventry. Brian Moore had placed Tony’s driver, Cpl. Phil Nichols, to watch the front door, with Isaac Ruben in the rear. Brian and Tony would take the German agent, with Wigglesby as backup. Before they could move, the faint, high-altitude drone of aircraft engines reached their ears. 
Brian exchanged glances with Tony. “They’re coming, right enough.”
Tony Bellknap spoke quietly, “Do you think it could be Coventry this time?”
“I doubt it,” Brian evaded. “There’s still too much of strategic value in Birmingham.” 
Tony gave a shrug and glanced at the house. “I hope you’re right.”
“We’ll soon find out. It’s time to take our friend upstairs.” 
“Right.” Tony drew his Mk 2 Enfield .38 and glanced at the open end of the cylinder. “It’s funny, but I’ve never had to fire this, except at the range.”
Brian looked at him levelly. “The first time is always hard. You’d be surprised how quickly it gets easy. We want to do this without killing him, if possible. So, relax. No matter how tough a person is, he’ll get mighty squirmy when someone points a revolver that big at him.”
Together they walked up the steps. Brian tried the knob, which did not yield. He and Tony put their shoulders against the panel and shoved. The door did not give. 
“Try ringing the bell,” Tony suggested. 
“Why not?” Brian agreed. He turned the little knob that protruded from the center panel of the door. A bell clanged on the other side of the partition.
Brian and Tony tensed as seconds blended into half a minute. Scuffing footsteps neared from the opposite side. The lace curtain pulled aside and a woman’s face appeared, pale and crowned by a nightcap. 
“What do you want at this ungodly hour?” she demanded, voice distorted by the closed door.
“Is your husband in, madam?” Brian asked.
“No. He’s out. Out pub-crawling again, I’ll wager.”
Brian remained persistent. “Is there anyone else in there with you?”
“Our so—No, there’s not. Our son is out with his university friends.”
Brian produced his identification. “It’s a matter of national security. May we come in and see for ourselves?”
She tried bluster. “You’d not believe me? You’ve no right to enter without a proper warrant.”
“Yes, we do. Under the Wartime Emergencies Act, we have the authority to suspend the warrant. Either let us in, madam, or we will force entry.”
“Step back, please, ma’am,” said Tony in a placating tone. “We’re coming through.”
“All right, all right. One minute. I swear, your kind are no better than the Nazis.”
Draw bolts scraped in the frame and the door swung inward. Brian rushed inside, his .45 Webley leading the way. Tony followed. They did not bother with the ground floor, rather started directly for the staircase.
Face pale and strained, the woman of the house raised one hand in an appeal to halt them. “No! Please. There’s no one up there.”
Brian gave her a hard look. “I’ll be the judge of that.” To Tony, “Check out the first floor, I’ll go on to the attic.”
Tony had a warning. “Wait until I get there before you do anything.”
Brian proceeded directly to the top of the flight of wooden stairs. There he paused outside a door. Dim light streamed around the jamb. Tony joined him in three minutes.
Tony made a terse report. “I found the husband in bed. I cuffed him.”
Brian gave him a glance. “Let’s do it.” He stood to one side, revolver ready. Tony squared off and raised a big size-twelve shoe.
With a powerful stroke, Tony kicked open the door. Brian spun around the side of the casing, eyes searching, .45 extended. A startled noise came from a slight figure, crouched over a small black box on top of a dusty table.
“MI-5! Hold it right there!” Brian shouted.
“Gor-blime, I’m caught out right proper,” came a plaintive wail. Then the youth exploded into violent action. 
He hurled the transmitter at Brian, ducked to the left, and made a dive for an old, stuffing-spouting couch. Brian fired a wild round that deadened his ears and missed the slender legs that disappeared behind the piece of furniture. 
Muzzle fire brightened the attic room as the traitor shot back. Automatically, Brian changed his point of aim, fined his sight picture, and squeezed off another round. A low groan answered him and a spray of blood decorated the wall behind the belligerent youth.
“Heil Hitler! Heil Hitler!” shrieked the university lad. He rose up, mouth frothed in his fanaticism and terror, and emptied his 7.63mm Pistole Polizei in the general direction of Brian Moore. 
Brian had gone to one knee and returned fire. Beside him, Tony fired his .38. They proved the more accurate. Struck twice, the boy flew backward to slam into the steep ceiling of the attic and rebound onto the floor. Pale and shaken, Tony Bellknap walked over to him.
“Dead. My God, he’s dead.”
“I certainly hope so,” Brian responded. 
“N-now what?”
Brian looked down at the corpse and sighed. For all his superior knowledge of the present and the future, he could never understand people like this. What drove them to hate their own kind so? 
“We take the man and his wife into custody for espionage. Then we go after the other one.”




 
 
Time: 2255, GMT, September 28, 1940 
Place: Rooming House of Sandy Hammond, 
Gloucester Street, Coventry
Warwickshire, England
 
 
Sandy Hammond finished sending her brief message. Carefully she disconnected the antenna leads and coiled the length of wire. She had hurried home from her air raid warden assignment and turned off the directional beacon ten minutes ago. Quickly she hid it away, choosing her telegraph key and transmitter. As always, she sent in the blind, uncertain that her contact in France was listening.
Not until she keyed the last code groups, MESSA/GE END/SXXXX, did she hear the three-letter group, RCDXX, and know she had been heard. Now the Abwehr knew that 57 Squadron had the best night vision and had just gone on night patrol. All she need do was wrap her equipment, including the encoding machine, and put them back in the old sewing machine box.
She came upright from her kneeling position to do that when, with a splintering crack, the attic door flew inward and slammed against the wall. An instant later, a man filled the opening, a terribly large gun in his hand menacing her.
 
 
 
Surprise registered on the face of Brian Moore as he aimed his .45 Webley dead center at the chest of the young woman in the attic room. He knew her. She was the attractive young Home Guard air raid warden who was dating the RAF pilot. He nearly lost his concentration. Under other conditions it could have proven fatal.
She was slow in reacting. She had barely reached for the finely made Luger pistol when Tony Bellknap brushed past Brian Moore and slapped the weapon from her hand. All thought of resistance fled her then and she dissolved into tears. Her shoulders heaved with heavy sobs, and she turned away from the men who had invaded. 
 
 
 
Sandy recovered quickly. The man who faced her seemed familiar. Then it struck her: She had seen him around town several times. Usually with that attractive Samantha Trillby, who worked for Warwickshire Royal Movers. A sudden chill struck Sandy. She had seen him just this night. 
He had been with five other men in Coultree’s. Had she but known then. Yet the information she had obtained from Wendall had been priceless. She would get ... With quick intuition Sandy realized she would not be getting any more from the Germans. Without a doubt, she would be hanged for espionage. Hope bloomed in the secret knowledge she possessed. 
If only she could reach her PTTD. Then the next stop would be the safety of the Trans-Amazonia Free State far in the future. That was something none of these British counterspies knew about. She had been born during the last years of the crumbling Free State. When chaos replaced order, and the Euro Alliance had sent a peacekeeping force, the enforcers had been British soldiers. The oppression ordered by the Euro Alliance government was horrendous. 
In later years, after the occupation ended, and she had grown to adulthood, she made contact with the underground and learned of the bootleg time travel equipment. Given access to it, she began to plot her revenge, Whatever she had done to harm them now, in their Past, they richly deserved. It would not bring back her beloved brother Garak, but it helped.
Her thought process had lasted only half a second. Now it urged her to instant action. Her hand darted to the top pull-drawer in the sewing machine body.
From it, she took the 9mm Luger pistol her Abwehr control had given her. She kept it loaded, with a cartridge in the chamber and safety on. Her preparations lacked only one element. She had failed to devote regular practice to drawing, releasing the safety catch, aiming, and firing that weapon. That omission cost her dearly.
Sandy hardly had the Luger pointed in front of her when another man dashed into the room in a diving stride and snatched the pistol from her hand. The frightening image of a gallows flashed through her mind and she lost it. Great, wracking sobs came from deep in her chest. Scalding tears coursed down her cheeks and her shoulders slumped in resignation. She barely heard the man she knew as Samantha’s boyfriend when he spoke softly, though firmly.
“MI-5,” Brian Moore informed her. “You’ll have to come with us, miss.”
 
 
 
Outside in the plumber’s panel truck, Brian Moore sat alone and shivered with relief. Silently he cursed himself for even for a second suspecting Samantha of being the female agent in Coventry. Then the realization struck him.
According to Arkady, this one was a rogue time traveler. A search of her apartment soon uncovered several packets of germanium, which verified that. How could he separate her from the others? The rear half of the moving van had been converted to a holding cell. Handcuffed, and in leg irons, the man and his wife and this young woman sat on hard benches along the sides. He would have to pull some sort of magic trick to separate her from the others ... Her papers identified her as Sandra Hammond.
Obviously not her real name. She had the coloring and features of a descendant of pure-blood Portuguese. One of the fair-skinned stock from the northeast. Well, Sandy, Brian thought to himself, you do pose a problem. Whatever the solution, it would have to wait until they returned to London. 
Once there, he could make absolutely certain with a portable mind scanner. Knowledge of the future would register in her thought patterns. Until that had been accomplished, there was nothing else he could do.
Isaac Ruben approached Brian Moore. “What shall we do about those other signals we picked up along the flight path to Birmingham?”
Brian answered without delay. “Coordinate that with Derek. Mark it on the maps and I’ll buck it upstairs to Sir Hugh. He can have them picked up tomorrow. Now let’s secure all the evidence we’ve gathered and head out of here.”
 
 
Time: 0740, GMT, September 29, 1940
Place: King’s Court Hotel, Queensway,
London, N.W. 1, England
 
 
Early Sunday morning, Brian Moore took his dilemma in the form of Sandy Hammond to Dianna Basehart. Over thick mugs of black tea and a basket of flakey buns, Dianna heard him out without a change of expression. She breathed in deeply. 
“I follow your situation easily enough. What have you decided to do about it?”
Ball back in his court. “That’s what I came to you for. Now that she’s been taken into custody, how can I get her out of the hands of MI-5?” 
An amused smile on her full sensuous lips, Dianna considered it. “How about letting them hang her?”
Brian rejected that prospect. “Regulations say we send them to Temporal Warden Central for punishment.” 
Dianna nodded. “By-the-Book Whitefeather we call him. So why not use a PTTD?” 
Brian appeared dubious. “I doubt I’d get to use one. You know how expensive it is. And with fuel for only six hops. Accounting frowns on squandering them on a simple matter like this. We have to get her to the Time Station.”
“Why not take her out for special interrogation and ‘lose’ her?”
“I thought of that. It would jeopardize my position with the Service. If anyone takes a close look at Brian Moore, he is going to collapse like a house of straw.” 
“So that leaves us what?” prompted Dianna. 
Glumly, Brian answered her question. “An engineered escape, or a PTTD. I suppose the thing to do is bump it up to Arkady.”
 
 
Time: 2140, Warden Central Time
Place: Temporal Warden Central 
 
 
Arkady Gallubin scowled over his immense desk at Temporal Warden Central. The source of his discontent lay before him. The message had come in from Steven Whitefeather. It appeared that he had caught the female rogue traveler. Only it had been in the presence of contemporary MI-5 agents and she was being held in their facility. Whitefeather wanted permission to use extreme means of retrieving her and sending her back to Now.
However it came about, it would be sticky. One of the PTTDs at the London Station had been set up to look like a 1938 Morris Minor, a small, ugly two-passenger automobile plentifully available in 1940 London. It had been equipped with a two-cylinder motorcycle engine and ran like an ordinary car. Theoretically, it could be used in the manner described in Whitefeather’s proposal for dealing with the rogue.
Yet Arkady did not like the large element of risk to Master Time Warden Whitefeather inherent in the plan. Should his timing be off the slightest bit, should the guards be more than usually alert, should any number of other prospects occur, it would be all over for Whitefeather. Be that as it may, Arkady Gallubin thought, his fork unconsciously reaching for a bite of blini drenched in strawberry sauce and sour cream, if anyone could pull this off, Steven Whitefeather could. Yes, that’s what he would do. Leave it up to the agent on the scene. Approve, but not recommend. 
 
 
Time: 0945, GMT, September 30, 1940
Place: Offices of MI-5, Bayswater Road
London, England
 
 
Brian Moore reread the message he had received from Arkady Gallubin the previous afternoon with a grim expression. His plan had been tentatively approved, yet without the endorsement of the Deputy Director. Which left it up to him. He got busy on it at once.
“Military Tribunal Court. How may I help you, sir?” The female voice came crisply over the telephone wire.
“This is Colonel Moore. MI-5. We have completed our interrogation of the German agents captured two nights ago. Papers were sent over to your office this morning. I would like to inquire if a trial date has been set.”
“Yes, of course, Colonel. Hold the line if you will, please?” 
She left the phone for three minutes. “Here we are,” she began when she came back on the line. “The Thompsons are scheduled for the fifteenth of October, Prisoner Hammond is due for Monday, the fourth of November.”
“Thank you. I shall see that all witnesses from our office are aware and will be there.” He rang off, vastly satisfied that he had a chance.
 
 
Time: 1537, GMT, September 30, 1940
Place: Time Station London, Thameside, 
London, England
 
 
In the Beamer room at London Time Station, Brian alerted Vito. “Beam me forward to the fourth of November. And be sure to activate a TCAF, because I’ll already be there. I’ll signal on the Trac Link when I want to come back.”
Vito raised coal-black brows. “You got it, Boss. May I ask what this is in service of?”
“We need to know how and when we can snatch our rogue lady and send her back to the future.”
Vito grinned. “I see. Powering up.” 
Brian took his position within the Temporal Field and waited while Beamer droned and hummed itself to life. The shimmering field sprang into existence, and Brian left September 1940 for the fourth of November.
 
 
Time: 0840, GMT, November 4, 1940 
Place: Time Station London, Thameside,
London, England 
 
 
Brian stepped out of the Beamer into the Time Station. The atmosphere felt strange, cool and damp. According to plan, Vito was not present. No need to change clothing, his workman’s garb would serve quite well. He did seat himself at the makeup table and applied a shade darker complexion, along with bushy brows and touches of gray to his temples and mustache. Plain glass spectacles adorned his nose. That accomplished, he climbed the stairs, waved to Frank Matsumoto, and walked out of the travel agency.
A sharply cold November day greeted Brian outside the building. Only a few brown, desiccated leaves clung stubbornly to the trees. A strong breeze whipped along the quay and riffled the water of the Thames. Although neat and presentable, his coveralls and cap had a well-used, worn quality to them. He chose to walk to Hull Street and on to the Assizes Court building, which had been taken over by the Military, located next to the Old Bailey. Not surprisingly, Brian found hardly a soul waiting outside for admission to the day’s proceedings. When the bailiff opened the tall gilt-edged, green doors, only three other persons entered with him. Brian found a seat far back in the gallery, one from which he could see without being seen by the accused.
Presently, three ranking officers, one from the Army, the Royal Navy, and the RAF, entered, bundled about in black judicial robes. They seated themselves at the bench and looked down at King’s Counsel.
“Is the King’s Counsel ready to proceed?” the senior one in the middle inquired. 
“We are, your lordships.”
“Very well, bring in the accused.”
Two burly military policemen led a defeated and dejected Sandy Hammond into the court and placed her in the box for the accused. Her guards, in the uniform of the Grenadiers, stood to either side. A bewigged and robed barrister bustled down the long aisle from the rear of the court, and took his place at the defense table. 
“Counsel for the Defense ready to proceed?”
“We are, your lordships.”
There followed a brief lecture, an admonition more like, to the attorneys. “Gentlemen, let me remind you that this is a Military Tribunal, and that you are military officers. Conduct of this trial, and the rules of evidence, shall go according to the Articles of War. I shall expect you all to adhere to those regulations and not go harping off on some fishing expedition, hummm?”
The two barristers chorused, “Yes, your lordhip—er—no, your lordship.”
Well familiar with military courts from his time in the legal office of the Royal Navy, the King’s Counsel felt constrained to add to that statement. “We shall be right to the point, and by the book, rest assured, m’lord. Although I cannot vouch for what the Defense might do.”
“How’s that?” another of the judges asked.
“No slight meant, m’lord. Only that for the life of me, I cannot fathom what it might be they can present by way of defense, or even mitigating circumstances.”
The senior judge bristled. “Save that for your opening statement, if you please, Sir Frederick. To which, if you are ready, shall we proceed?”
Brian felt in danger of falling asleep. The King’s Counsel droned on about what the prosecution would prove, what the witnesses would disclose, and ended with a damning remark. “Which shall leave this august tribunal with no other conclusion than that the accused is guilty and that she should be hanged by the neck until dead.”
“Rushing things a bit, aren’t you?” the third jurist quipped. “Sounds like a closing argument.”
Sir Frederick produced a tint of pink in his cheeks. “Forgive me, my lords. It’s only when I encounter such a blatant case of treason, I lose control. It won’t happen again.”
“I certainly hope so.” With a birdlike turn of his small head the third Judge indicated he had concluded.
“The Honorable Mr. Rathbone, have you any opening statement?”
Sandy’s defense lawyer rose ponderously, his great girth forcing him some distance from the table. “Nothing at this time, your Honors. Though I do reserve the right to make an opening statement when we put on the defense.”
“Granted. Call your first witness, Sir Frederick.” 
Brian paid scant attention. All he wanted to hear was the verdict and the sentence. The day dragged, with one after another of the arresting party summoned to testify as to how Sandy had been discovered and why she had been charged with espionage. Brian rose and abruptly left the courtroom two minutes before his other self was summoned. 
By evening, the prosecution still had three witnesses to put on. The court was adjourned until the next day. Brian found a small hotel and booked a room. He had not expected it to go beyond one day. The clerk gave him a fishy eye when he checked in without luggage of any sort.
Tomorrow, by noon, he estimated.
 
 
Time: 1400, GMT, November 5, 1940
Place: Assizes Court, the City, London, England 
 
 
Two o’clock the next afternoon found the Honorable Mr. Rathbone, baronet, rising to begin his promised opening statement. It rambled and dissembled, and held as much substance as a zephyr off the English Channel. What could he say? Brian reasoned. We caught her cold. He had only three witnesses. 
First called was Sandy’s landlady. Sandy had rented the second-floor flat in March of 1939. She was known to be clean and neat, no loud parties or Iate hours. When the war began, Sandy had rushed to join the Home Guard. The good woman knew nothing of any suspicious actions, no strangers prowling around or admitted at night to the flat. The ample-bosomed woman concluded with her conviction that some terrible mistake had been made.
“Perhaps Miss Hammond had only just discovered the wicked instruments in the attic when those rude men burst in? And besides, didn’t they need a warrant to do something like that?”
“Objection, calls for speculation, facts not in evidence,” King’s Counsel leaped up to say.
“I quite
concur,” the senior tribune responded. “Are you finished with this witness, Mr. Rathbone?”
“Yes. Nothing further.”
“Cross-examine?”

“No questions. Er—a moment, your Iordships. I do have one. Mrs. Throckmorton, to your knowledge, has the accused any men friends?”
An odd expression lighted the landlady’s face. “Why, I do believe there is one. A nice young man. In the RAF if I’m not mistaken.”
“Thank you. And can you state for a fact that these exhibits—the wireless, the antenna, the codekey—all of this belongs to no-one else in the house?”
“Certainly. None of my roomers would have such things.”
“None, save one, right?” Then, quickly, to stave off the objection, “Don’t answer that, Mrs. Throckmorton.”
That provided the only fireworks for the entire defense position. The other witnesses were from the Home Guard. They testified to Sandy’s dedication to her work, her proficiency as an air raid warden,and her pleasant, easygoing personality. Brian stifled repeated yawns. All that kept him going was his apprehension over the verdict and sentence. As it turned out, he had to spend another night at the hotel. 
 
 
At nine o’clock the next morning the tribunal rendered their verdict to a nearly empty courtroom. The bailiff stepped to the accused’s box. 
“Will the accused please rise!” 
Rising himself, the president of the court read from a single sheet of vellum. 
“In the matter of the Crown versus Hammond,
for the charge of espionage, we, the Seventh Military Tribunal for the year of our Lord Nineteen Hundred and Forty, find the accused… guilty as charged.” 
For the first time, Sandy’s composure broke. She sank to her chair, lowered her head to her folded arms on the ledge in front of her, and sobbed uncontrollably.
“It is now our duty to impose sentence. After due and solemn deliberation, it is the sentence of this tribunal that tomorrow you, Sandra Hammond, shall be taken forthwith from the jurisdiction of this court and confined in the Cotswold Military Prison, where on the tenth day of this month, November, you shall be hanged by the neck until dead. And may God have mercy on your soul. I certainly cannot.”
 
 
Time: 0813, GMT, September 30, 1940
Place: King’s Court Hotel, Queensway, 
London, N.W. 1, England
 
 
Dianna Basehart put down the thick, rich-feeling, creamy ivory card. It had been embossed, rather than printed. And it requested the pleasure of her company for a weekend at the Seaview Hotel in Weymouth as the guest of Sir Rupert Cordise. Magnificent, she thought. The old roue must be set upon a seaside seduction.
Her stomach lurched at the prospect. How cliché that this so devious and traitorous a man was among those who were led around by their organ. She would have to be very careful to avoid his many snares. Another thought entered her mind. It would be fun. 
She could lead him on, taunt and inflame him, until he became a pitiful wretch, panting after her like a male dog around a bitch in heat. The more befuddled he became, the more likely he would let slip some important tidbit about his operations and plans. First, she would agree with his “Friends of Hitler” ploy. Then expand on it, draw him out. 
“Yes, it will be fun,” she purred aloud. “When Brian gets back, his eyes will bug over this one.”




 
 
Time: 0540, GMT, November 7, 1940 
Place: The Crow’s Nest Hotel,
Southwark Quay, London, England
 
 
Brian Moore spent a restless night in a seaman’s hotel named the Crow’s Nest. It was neat and relatively clean, and bought him much-needed anonymity. He did not taste his food, did not even recall the next morning what he had eaten for dinner. A few minutes after sunrise, Frank Matsumoto joined him. Frank would drive the “Morris Minor” PTTD. With so little time to plan, Brian had a nagging suspicion that they might fail. 
Always the optimist, Frank Matsumoto did not see it that way. “Piece of cake,” he told Brian confidently.
“What if there are too many guards? What if one of them puts a bullet in me? Or what if they load her in the courtyard? I should have let them go ahead and take her off, as a dry run, then come back and snatched her off the street. That way we would have known.”
“Yes, and Accounting would be birthing an elephant over the energy expenditure.” Frank’s smooth, Oriental features glowed with
amusement. “What say we grab something to eat before we go at our derring-do?”
Brian winced. “I’m not hungry. Coffee would be good.”
“Jangle your nerves,” Frank teased.
“Can’t be any worse than they are right now,” Brian admitted. He got into the passenger side of the PTTD.
Frank started the motorcycle engine and put the Morris Minor in gear. Unlike Brian, who came from the North American Republic, which used left-hand drive vehicles, Frank had no difficulty with the driving situation in England. When the World Federation of Republics formed, the Asian Republic adopted the Japanese system, which was also right-hand drive. He eased into traffic and followed Brian’s directions to the Assizes Court. 
They stopped on the way for coffee. Frank also had two large, fried sweetbread concoctions. Brian cringed at the grams of fat they represented. How could Frank consume such things in vast quantity and remain so slim? Frank busily licked grains of icing from his fingers as they pulled up outside the court building.
 
 
 
Three minutes after parking at the curb opposite the former Assizes Court building, a sergeant in the uniform of the Grenadiers stepped out and looked up and down the street, then made a hand signal. A large, enclosed van pulled out of the inner courtyard and stopped in front of the door. This was going to be more difficult than Brian had expected. 
His original plan had been to simply snatch Sandy off the sidewalk and shove her into the “Morris” then speed away. Frank would leave the car in a thick stand of bracken on the edge of a small park two blocks away. Brian would jump the PTTD to the absolute future, turn over Sandy, and return to his proper time in 1940. Now it did not look so easy. While they watched, two guards brought Sandy from the temporary holding cell and out the front door. 
With handcuffs and leg irons chained to a band around her waist, Sandra Hammond was literally lifted into the panel wagon. Her guards joined her and the vehicle pulled into traffic. Frank Matsumoto looked at Brian Moore. 
“What do we do now?” 
“Follow. There’s not much else we can do.” 
Their trail led out of London by the most direct route. Brian remained outwardly calm, while his mind went into a furor of quickly formed plans, all of which he as swiftly abandoned. Rock fences and tidy fields replaced buildings. A curious cow stopped grazing long enough to look up at the van. It blinked stupidly at the small vehicle following. Brian soon exhausted his supply of adventurous scenarios.
What he had left surprised even him. It all hinged on such an iffy set of circumstances. He turned to Frank, who had remained silent so far. “Did you bring along that sleepy time cannister?”
“Yes. Two of them, and a flash-bang grenade.”
Brian considered that a moment. “Good, here’s what we’ll try to do,” he began and quickly outlined his fragmentary plan. 
 
 
 
Fortune smiled on Brian Moore.Thirty miles down the road toward Cotswold Military Prison, the sirens began to blow and an air raid warden flagged down the vehicles on the road. The Germans had come again. For the first time since this inconvenience began, Brian felt grateful.
“Couldn’t have happened at a better time,” he observed to Frank. “Now all we have to do is wait for our chatty warden to move on to secure other cars.” 
Frank posed a question that had loomed large for Brian. “What if they won’t open up?”
Brian considered it. He knuckled a side window. “Are these representative of all British cars?”
“I think they are. Plain, untempered glass.”
A smile wreathed Brian’s face. “No problem then. I’ll get the sleep gas inside easily.”
When the warden walked off to flag another automobile, Brian stepped from the Morris’ Minor and reached onto the minute rear seat for one of the dull gray cannisters. Hefting it, he walked off at a brisk pace toward the military van. At a distance of five feet from the front side window, he pulled the safety pin, let the striker snap down on the detonator, and counted four. Then, with all his strength, he hurled it against the glass.
It shattered with a musical tinkle, and one of the Grenadiers inside jerked around to look at Brian. “Wot the bloody hell!” The knockout gas grenade landed at his feet and detonated.
Choking coughs came from inside for a moment, then silence, Holding his breath, Brian reached in through the broken window and opened the door. Quickly he retrieved the keys. With them, he went to the rear to free Sandy Hammond. 
“Let’s get her out of here before that warden comes back,” Brian urged.
Frank agreed matter-of-factly. “You won’t get an argument from me on that.”
The third key did it. Brian swung one door open and attacked the keyhole in the barred barrier behind it. It gave a screech. Sandy lay on the floor of the van, unconscious as the soldiers up front. Brian did not even bother with unlocking her fetters. He slung her slight frame over one shoulder in a fireman’s carry and started for the Morris Minor. From beyond it a voice challenged them.
“I say, what are you chaps doing? Where’s the soldiers in there?”
His task completed, the warden had started back to chat with the Grenadiers. His eyes went wide and round when he saw the chains dangling from Sandy’s arms and legs, the rigid iron bar that separated her ankles. 
“I say, you’re breaking her out, aren’t you? Nothing but bloody criminals you are.” He raised his whistle to his lips. 
Brian glowered fiercely at him. “If you don’t want to end up with that whistle put where the sun does not shine, I’d not blow it.”
Swallowing hard, the air raid warden stepped back and watched in silence while Brian loaded Sandy into the car. Frank already sat behind the wheel. Brian entered after Sandy and they sped off down the road. Behind them, the Home Guard warden took down the license number and make of the car. They’d not get away with that sort of thing on his watch. Not very likely. 
Frank looked at Brian. “Now what?” 
“This car is hot now. So, we go back to the Time Station, then I run this girl forward while you return to September.” 
Frank chuckled. “It’s hard to get used to. That you’ll go forward and back and arrive only a few minutes after I do.”
Brian offered his support to Frank. “You’ll pass the next promotions board and then it will be old hat.”
“I don’t know if I’m ready for fieldwork.”
“Don’t worry, Frank. You’ll do just fine. I couldn’t have pulled this off without you.”
“That’s kind of you, Brian—er—Chief. You’ll use the big Beamer to send her forward, right?”
“Best way. Then I scoot back in this little contraption. Then we can wait for the screams of anguish among the button counters.” 
 
 
Time: 1356, GMT, October 5, 1940
Place: Seaview Hotel, Weymouth,
Dorsetshire, England
 
 
She had been right about his inability to keep from writing down important items about his treasonous activities. Dianna Basehart congratulated herself on her persistence in finding the hidden messages or reminders. Sir Rupert Cordise had absented himself from their suite for his usual afternoon visits to the gentlemen’s bar in the lobby of their hotel. Dianna had immediately set out to search out his secrets.
Sir Rupert kept a diary, also an appointment calendar. A third, small black leather-bound volume held telephone numbers and addresses. All of them contained unexplained groupings of figures, such as 34-11-4 and 143-6-3-5. Obviously a code, Dianna reasoned. Yet, try as she might, she could not crack it. Then, on the flyleaf of the diary was written ODQ 1938. Quickly she copied off the random numbers. Replacing everything, Dianna left the suite for the small, intimate library off the rose garden.
Arranged in ranks and geometric forms, the roses outside the French doors Iooked forlorn and stark this time of year. Their blooms must have died a month ago. She found a copy of the Oxford Dictionary of Quotations. Working swiftly, Dianna soon found the key. The first numeral was the page number, the second the line, the next the word, and finally, if needed, the letter or letters. One of the simplest of codes ever devised. She soon had no trouble transcribing the first notation. 
Meeting with CB about killing WC. An icy chill ran the length of Dianna’s spine when she had the last letters in place. 
Brian had been right. Arkady had stumbled upon a most devilish plot. Quickly she decoded the second message, this one from his appointment calendar. October fifteenth is the day. Am to get CB into place. 
No doubt Rupert Cordise was conspiring with Clive Beattie to kill Winston Churchill. Another entry gave his justification. Serve his father right. How? Dianna wondered. Winston’s father had been dead more than forty-five years. Furtively, she closed and replaced the book. She would decode the others. She returned to the small, decorous sitting room of their suite.
Dianna had barely settled herself when she heard a faint squeak and giggle from outside. Rupert pestering one of the maids again, she thought. He entered moments later, beaming, his face as pink and flushed as his bald pate. 
“I hope you weren’t bored, my dear.”
“Not at all, Rupert. I have the Daily Mail and the Times to keep me occupied. I read in the rural edition of the Mail that there will be a concert here in Weymouth tonight.”
“Would you like to go? I have reserved tickets.”
“You are so thoughtful, Rupert. Yes, that would be nice. Then a quiet dinner after?”
“I know just the place. They make meat pies with a crust as flakey and light as a strudel.”
Dianna Basehart wanted nothing more than to get away from this loathsome creature. Now that she had the proof, she had no reason to stay. Yet she had to remain with him or he would be alerted. She forced a glittering smile and gestured to the small caster-mounted bar. 
“I think I’d like a sherry, Rupert. Then perhaps a stroll on the beach.” 
“High tea is at four,” Rupert reminded her. 
“Yes, I’ll be back by then.”
Rupert brought her a small glass with a deep amber Spanish sherry, which she sipped mechanically. Then she came to her feet, put on a large, floppy sun hat and took her clutch purse. At the door she turned back.
“I should be here by quarter of.” 
“That will be fine.”
Dianna strolled down the boardwalk. She breathed deeply of the salt air and listened to the quarreling of the gulls. At the point where the plank way turned at a sharp right angle, she paused a moment. She did a casual turn and looked back at the hotel. She saw no sign of Rupert observing her, so she went on out of sight of the windows to a public telephone. She lifted the handset and got a dial tone. At least it was working. Quickly she dialed the number of the Time Station. Vito Alberdi answered and the line went dead until she dropped in the required brass, one-shilling coins.
“Vito, did Steven come back?” 
“He’s here now.” 
“Good. I need to talk to him.” 
Brian came on the Iine. “What have you got, Di?”
“First, how did it go with our friend?”
“Excellent. She’s where she belongs. Where are you?”
“I’m in Weymouth, with Cordise. So far, I’ve kept my virtue intact, but it’s becoming difficult. I have everything we wanted. I’ve seen his note system and translated some. Arkady was right. We have to act quickly.”
Brian thought a moment. “We have to catch him in something illegal.”
“What about a notation regarding a meeting to kill the Prime Minister? What about a stated purpose by Cordise that it is to get even with Winston’s father?”
Silence filled the line for a long while. “You’ve got all that?” 
Dianna filled with pride. “Yes, I do.”
“We have to move at once,” Brian decided aloud. “We’ll miss Beattie, but it will destroy the plot before it can be carried off. I’ll be down right away.”
Dianna offered her advice. “We can do it tomorrow. Will you be using our people?”
“No. We’ll turn him over to Sir Hugh. Let MI-5 handle it.”
“If Cordise does not show up after next year, what happens to him?”
Brian laughed sharply. “Us, I imagine.” 
 
 
Time: 1810, GMT, October 5, 1940
Place: Boardwalk, Seaview Hotel,
Weymouth, Dorsetshire, England
 
 
Brian arrived in Weymouth along with Sir Hugh Montfort and four agents of MI-5. They waited on the boardwalk while Brian took a stroll along the beach. Masked by the incoming evening fog, he lounged under an aged, salt-encrusted yew tree. Dianna joined him fifteen minutes later.
“You took long enough,” he jibed. 
“High tea with Rupert. It was all I could do to keep from falling asleep. No, that’s not true. The man’s like a spider. Eight arms and all of them groping at me.” Dianna shuddered. “I feel ... unclean. When do we do it, and how?” 
Brian quickly outlined his basic plan. Dianna would have to acquire the incriminating evidence and then lure Cordise out of the hotel. She would be watched constantly by the MI-5 agents, rotated frequently so that Sir Rupert would not become suspicious.
“I’ve already planted a cover story for you,” Brian explained. “A loyal young gentlewoman, recently returned from Canada. Husband in the Royal Navy. You were offended by what Cordise said about Hitler being a friend, became distrustful of him, and did a little ladylike snooping. Mostly what you can back up with your papers. The documents section did an even better job on yours than mine. The best expert would never believe they were made five hundred years from now.” 
Dianna smiled. “High praise from you, sir. I’ll tell them when I get back. What I wonder is, what is going on with my supposed husband?” 
“Right now, he’s doing routine navy things out in the Orient. He is in the files of the Royal Navy, paid regularly. No one who could detect the ruse has access to the records. Perfect isolation. I brought your mail. You even have a letter from him.”
Dianna raised an eyebrow. “This is a major operation, isn’t it?”
Brian looked a little sheepish. “I didn’t even know about the mail thing. Back to business. How soon do you think you can lure him out onto the grounds?”
“He never rises before ten. Will that be a complication?” She eyed Brian closely.
“Suggest a morning swim, or tennis, something to move him before too many innocent people are up and about.”
Dianna looked upset. “Do you expect shooting?”
“No. But it’s Sir Hugh’s idea, and I concur, that we simply want Cordise to disappear with no trace.”
 
 
 
Time: 0830, GMT, October 6, 1940
Place: Tennis Courts, Seaview Hotel 
Weymouth, Dorsetshire, England 
 
 
“Tennis? I feel ridiculous.” Sir Rupert Cordise balked as he appeared on the terrace of the hotel at eight-thirty the next moming in white flannel trousers, rubber-soled shoes, and snowy polo shirt. “Not even God is awake at this hour.”
“Oh, don’t be such a grouch, Rupert. It is the only time I could reserve a court.”
Rupert glared at her, his irritation a palpable thing. “Small wonder. No one in their right mind is up as yet.” 
Dianna tried a pout. “You said this holiday was for us to do whatever we wanted. Come on, now. Just one set?” 
“Tea. I haven’t even had my tea as yet.” 
“Please, Rupert. Humor me? I promise, I’ll not have a headache tonight,” she added coyly. “It was the music—so loud. I’m sure you understand?”
Grumping, Sir Rupert Cordise started off down the flagstone steps toward the distant tennis courts. Beaming happily, Dianna quickly caught up and took his arm. A hedge of evergreens screened off the clay courts. Cordise held the gate for Dianna, who entered ahead of him. When he secured it behind him, he turned to find more people present than he had expected.
Six men, not dressed in the least for tennis, stood with the net to their backs in the near court, in a semicircle, facing him. He recognized the one in the center from his club. Sir Hugh Montfort. He was in something hush-hush in the government. Suddenly he recalled what Montfort did. 
He was with MI-5. Military Intelligence. Color drained rapidly from Sir Rupert’s face. His hands became palsied. Swiftly he shot a glance to Lady Wyndamire. Her pleased smile had turned to a smirk. My God, she’s with them! The realization of that shook him to the core. Sir Hugh stepped forward.
“Sir Rupert Cordise, you are under arrest for espionage, collaboration with the enemy, treason, and a few others we’ll think up later. Will you come peacefully?”
A sudden rush of rage replaced the fear and horror. “Damn you. Goddamn you all. You have no proof.”
Dianna delved into her purse and produced his diary, appointment calendar and address book. Smiling, she produced the clincher, “I believe you are familiar with the Oxford Dictionary of Quotations? The 1938 edition.”
His chin sank to his chest. All life dried to a withered husk. Slowly Rupert Cordise trotted forward with arms extended to accept the handcuffs Brian Moore held before him. 
 
 
Time: 1645, GMT, October 6, 1940 
Place: Time Station London, Thameside, 
London, England
 
 
Back in London, Brian made a quick check with the historical log. He returned to the Beamer room with an expression of heavy concern. Dianna took a step toward him.
“Steve, is there something wrong?”
“Yes. There is. First, Sir Hugh told me on the way that Cordise will not be given a public trial. He will be kept in a detention center. I found out what will happen to him. He will die of a heart seizure next May at the detention center. But the threat still exists against Winston Churchill. He still may be assassinated.”




 
 
Time: 1124, GMT, October 7, 1940 
Place: Offices of MI-5, Bayswater Road, 
London, N.W. 1, England
 
 
After three weeks of furious activity, Brian Moore welcomed a return to routine. Seated behind his desk at MI-5 headquarters, he abandoned heavy thought to work his way through the mound of papers and files stacked in his in basket. Among some routine translations of Enigma, he came upon one that immediately banished his ennui. It turned out to be an exchange between Luftwaffe Headquarters, Berlin; and the Headquarters, Luftflotte II, of Field Marshal Kesselring at Brussels; and Headquarters, Luftflotte III, of Field Marshal Sperrle now established at Saint-Denis outside Paris. Brian got that far in what appeared a predictable higher headquarters harangue when the next words galvanized him.
“It is hereby authorized for your Air Fleets to activate Operation Über Sturm. The attack will be conducted in daylight on the first of November.” It went on to list the squadrons to be involved. In the margin, one of the code boffins had scrawled the destination of “Over Storm”: Coventry.
From the far side of London, a steady rumble of exploding bombs underscored the icy, skeletal hand that clutched at Brian’s heart. Samantha lived and worked in Coventry. Not only she, but thousands of good and innocent people, some of whom Brian had met and come to like. Although he knew for certain that Coventry would be demolished, his first reaction was natural and normal. They had to be warned in time. Brian reached for the inter-office phone.
“Sir Hugh,” he began without preamble when his boss came on the line, “have you read Enigma intercept 11904?”
“Yes, I have,” came the cool, dispassionate reply. 
“Need I remind you that we have an office there? Nine people are working out of there. I suggest we should get them out before the Germans start to bomb in three weeks. In fact, I’d suggest the whole city be evacuated.” 
“Not possible,” Sir Hugh snapped. 
“Why not? There are hundreds of university students there. They could be moved easily. And circumspectly.”
Sir Hugh put steel in his voice, despite, his own anguish at what he had to say. “And the Germans will find out and Enigma will be compromised.”
Brian wouldn’t give up easily. “But these are civilians, innocent people.”
“Sir Brian,” Sir Hugh began formally, “are you not familiar with the term, ‘acceptable corollary damage’?”
Ice formed in the pit of Brian’s stomach. Of course he had heard of it. That didn’t mean he had to like it. He had also been aware that Coventry was bombed repeatedly during the first two weeks of November, with the resultant loss of over fourteen thousand homes and a thousand lives. But if he could prevail on Sir Hugh to see the PM about getting their people out ... Getting Samantha out, his mind mocked him. 
Brian swallowed the looming sensation of
defeat. “Yes, sir. I understand, sir.”
“Excellent. Then I can count on you to be part of a delegation going to the Prime Minister to urge him to stand fast on his decision to protect our Enigma project regardless of the cost. We’ll be seeing him tomorrow.
“Oh, by the way, excellent work on that Cordise affair.” His voice dropped, became confidential. “I’ve no doubt that after the war there will be a modest little trial, and a firing squad. Bad for morale if we do it now.” 
Brian suppressed a shudder. Did everyone in the spying game become so damned callous? He suddenly realized that Sir Hugh had asked a question, and was asking it again. One that instantly alarmed him. 
“The—ah—lady who turned in Cordise? How is it that she came to you?” 
“I’m a friend of her husband. We were at Eton together.” He hoped the lie would hold up. 
“I took the liberty to pull his file. An excellent record, if a bit—ah—bland. D’you think he could be recruited?” 
Brian was not ready for that. His response came out somewhat jumbled. “No, not at all, sir. He’s not the sort. Abhors desks. And he’s determined to reach flag rank.” 
Sir Hugh chuckled. “A stint with us would not hurt that ambition, what?” 
Brian recalled that Lord Walter Cuthbert-Hobbs had been Admiral Lord Walter before he had become head of MI-5. “No, not at all, sir. But Archie would rather make admiral before accepting an office instead of the deck of a ship.” 
A moment of silence followed. “I’ll trust your judgment on this, Brian.” 
Brian all but sighed audibly at that. “You’ll not regret it, sir.”
“What about Lady Allison, then?” Sir Hugh suggested. 
A groan escaped from Brian. “She’s a socialite, sir. What’s to say she may not take it in her head to be off for Canada again tomorrow? Or to join her husband in the Orient? She’s served her country well this time. I think we should leave it at that.” 
“Hoarding your sources, Brian?” 
“No, sir. Not intentionally. But I’m worried about this planned bombing of Coventry. I sincerely believe we should be allowed to get our people out.” 
Sir Hugh cleared his throat roughly. “So do I. We are on the very sharp horns of a dilemma with this. If we prevail upon the PM to make an exception, and it gets out, then every special interest will demand the same treatment. Which brings us back to Enigma, and the enormous good it can do our side.” Then he grew chatty. “You need not come in in the morning. I’ll meet you at the Residence, eight o’clock, for early breakfast with the PM. We’ll need every gun we’ve got. There’s going to be others there who feel as you and I. They’ll bring tremendous pressure to bear.” 
Well, that was something. Brian rang off. The image of Samantha Trillby swam before his eyes. 
 
 
Time: 2030, GMT, October 7, 1940 
Place: Hamphill Aerodrome, Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Wendall Foxworth took off in the lead Vic of three aircraft with the test of 12th Group’s 57 Squadron. At least Squadron Leader Marsh had long since stopped talking down to them as though they were simpleminded children, Wendall thought with relief. “Vees of three,” for God’s sake, instead of the proper term, Vics.
Although only a mere enlisted pilot, Wendall had thought for a long time that there was something basically wrong with their aerial tactics. To change from echelon left to echelon right required the port aircraft to accelerate, and the inner aircraft to throttle back, and vice versa, during the crossover in order to hold the V formation. Experience had taught Wendall that this made them easy targets for the Germans. 
The Luftwaffe fought in independent flights of a senior pilot and his wingman, joined in combat by another similar pair. This allowed them to do crossovers with ease and no reduction of air speed. They could literally flip and flop in midair, allowing the streams of .303 slugs to flash past them harmlessly, Wendall often wondered how many, if any, people on the ground sustained injuries from these stray bullets. Obviously, the government would never make it public, he accepted. Tonight it would be more of the same, he acknowledged. 
“Able Leader to Able Squadron. Time to clear our throats, lads. Arm and fire a short burst.”
Wendall Foxworth reached down with a gloved hand and flipped the arming switch for his eight Browning machine guns. He closed his right index finger over the trigger and let go a five-round burst. The red-orange of eight tracers, placed every five cartridges on the link belts, arched out and down toward the surf that boomed inaudibly ahead and below. 
“Able Six to Able Leader,” Wendall heard in his earphones. “My guns did not fire.” 
“Rearm and fire again, Able Six.” 
Wendall clearly read the disapproval in the voice of Capt. Marsh. After a brief pause, he again heard Peter Woodcock in Able Six. 
“Didn’t work, Able Leader.” 
“Did your mechanic charge the guns?” 
“Yes, sir. I believe so, sir. I didn’t watch him, Able Leader.”
“Didn’t you check it, Able Six? You are supposed to, you know.” 
A long, tense silence followed. “I—I suppose I forgot, sir.”
“Fine. Tum out of formation and return to base. Maybe you can get them charged and rejoin us when we are headed back here with the Huns on our backs. And—ah—Woodcock, three days confinement to quarters. Except for scheduled patrols.” 
Wendall Foxworth gave silent thanks to God, and all the gods of his Saxon, Druid ancestors that it had not been him. Then the pain struck him. Sandy would not be waiting for him. Mentally he replayed that fateful day. 
They had come to see him the morning after she had been taken. Two men in suits, grim, hard-faced, and his Sector Commander. They went over and over the same questions, about what he had told her, and when. About his relationship with her and how long they had been intimate. When his nerves frayed enough, he angrily demanded to know what this was all about. That’s when the suits dropped their bombshell. 
“It’s about espionage, Sergeant Foxworth. Sandra Hammond is a Nazi spy.” 
They might as well have driven a stake through his heart. Since that day, he had gone through the motions of his daily routine mechanically. Carefully he clutched his wounded feelings to him. Damn this war! Damn it all to hell. Wendall closed his eyes to squeeze back the tears that always came. When he opened them, the Messerschmitts were there. 
 
 
Time: 0830, GMT, October 8, 1940
Place: 10 Downing Street, 
London, England
 
 
Prime Minister Winston Churchill held his legendary caustic tongue when he sat at the large table in the well-lighted breakfast room with floor-to-ceiling windows overlooking a well-tended garden. Already the anecdote circulated around the halls of government, regarding a confrontation between the Prime Minister and a woman of quality who sought a deferment from military service for her beloved only son.
When Winston declined to intervene on the boy’s behalf, the dowager sniffed the brandy-fumed atmosphere surrounding the Prime Minister. In a shocked tone she was supposed to have declared indignantly, “Mr. Prime Minister, you are drunk.” 
To which Winston was reported to have replied, “Madam, you are ugly.”
Shocked, but not to be outdone, the woman replied, “Mr. Prime Minister, you are very drunk.”
To which Churchill had been recounted as saying, “That may be true, madam, but the fact remains that tomorrow I shall be sober and you will still be very ugly.”
For all this reputation, Winston listened with unaccustomed politeness to the imprecations of a delegation made up of members of Parliament privy to the secret of Enigma, who represented the university dons and the city fathers of Coventry; some officers of the Royal Navy; and a number of bureaucrats within the government. After they had spoken, the representatives from MI-5 had their say. Again, Winston listened politely.
Notwithstanding the impassioned and meritorious arguments of those insisting that Coventry be evacuated, the Prime Minister remained steadfast. After waiters had removed the last dish—a puff pastry covered, baked brie stuffed with apple slices, almonds, and grapes—he lighted a cigar and blew slate-gray smoke at the ceiling. For a long moment, he drummed thick fingers on the white linen tablecloth. At last, with much hurrumping and throat clearing, the PM spoke his decision. 
“I can appreciate the logic and sincerity behind your appeals. Which, as I understand it, are shared by Sir Hugh Montfort and at least one other member of his staff. Common human decency demands that we spare suffering to our civilian population. 
“Unfortunately,” he went on, changing position in the large chair, “the exigencies of war interfere in the application of the humanitarian solution you champion. I must stand behind my original decision to protect the secret of Enigma. As much as I hate the potential loss of innocent lives, to do otherwise would compromise Enigma; the Germans would be alerted and change their codes, possibly costing us what the Fleet Street mavins are calling the Battle of Britain, and ... perhaps the war. Let me remind you that we have not once evacuated Portsmouth, Liverpool, or London. The people of Coventry will have to endure what the Germans will rain upon them. I can, and will, insure that the RAF provides extraordinary protection. We can make the Germans pay dearly for the raid. But we cannot let them know about Enigma.” He came to his feet, signaling the meeting to be concluded. “Thank you all for coming.” 
 
 
Time: 0830, GMT, October 8, 1940 
Place: Enlisted Women Personnel Rest Room, Offices of MI-5, 
Coventry, Warwickshire, England 
 
 
Samantha Trillby set aside the mirror after inspecting the light pink smudges of blush that emphasized her cheeks. Her thoughts spanned the distance to London and Brian Moore. She had been back twice to Vicar Mull. He had counseled her well, strengthening her resolve in regard to her relationship with Brian. She now believed the time to be right. This weekend, when Brian came, she would ask him to marry her. It might set him back. But, given a while, he would see the reason behind it. Then they would be married right before Christmas. 
 
 
Time: 1035, GMT, October 8, 1940
Place: Offices of MI-5, Bayswater Road,
London, N.W. 1, England
 
 
Brian returned to his office grossly dissatisfied. The plan to allow Coventry to be bombed deeply worried him. Samantha was there. She could be killed. He also knew that Coventry was bombed. What could he do?
Blinded by love, he thought of violating his directive and notifying everyone in the Coventry office to get out on the evening of October 30. Offer no reason, nothing even hinted at, that could give them a clue as to why. Simply tell them, “When you leave work today, leave town. Do not go back until told to.” 
That would work. And it would also leave him with his rear end hanging way out.
 
 
Time: 2200, GMT, October 8, 1940 
Place: The Sky over Lincolnshire, England
 
 
Messerschmitt 110 Bf-1’s swarmed the sky. It was worse even than the previous night, Sgt. Wendall. Foxworth thought, his palms sweaty inside their flying gloves. The pilots of 57 Squadron swept across their cruciform silhouettes. Streams of tracers sought out and punched holes in the fish-belly white undersides. Wendall Foxworth centered his sights on the wing root of one medium bomber and then slacked off to port to allow for the proper lead. His finger tightened on the trigger.
Hammer blows vibrated the cockpit as the eight .303 machine guns fired in synchronized order. Despite the nearness to the enemy, Wendall looked on fascinated, as eleven tracers disappeared into the point where the wing joined the fuselage. At the last instant, he turned off, circled wide, and blasted the center of the black-and-white Prussian cross on the side of another. A slight raise on the nose and he hopped over that one. 
Around again and in on the one he had first fired upon. This time he stitched four lines along the top side of the damaged wing. The new incendiary rounds did their work on the fuel already spilled by his first strafing run. Tongues of orange flickered feebly, then bloomed into a huge ball as the fumes exploded, ripped the wing off, and sent the Messerschmitt into a mortal tumble through the sky. 
Wendall had to hand it to Capt. Marsh. For all his unpleasant ways, he knew his combat gunnery. At his instigation, the entire squadron had reregistered their guns to converge at 250 yards, rather than the regulation 600 yards. Their kill ratio had quadrupled within a week. It was a tactic worked out by Wing Commander Douglas Bader. One which Capt. Marsh had agreed with wholeheartedly, much to the relief of Sgt. Foxworth. Wendall dropped a wing and turned to starboard to find another target. 
A high-pitched whine alerted him to his sudden danger. An Me-109 had lined up on his tail in a diving sweep that soon put the German pilot “in the slot.” Hail on a tin roof, Wendall Foxworth thought as the 7.9mm bullets tore into his tail assembly. He did not hear the roar of the three 20mm cannons when they fired, though he became immediately aware of the result. His entire aircraft began to vibrate violently, the stick a live thing in his hands. 
“Able Leader, Able Leader, this is Able Nine. I’ve been hit badly. Over.” 
“Able Nine, can you maintain aggressive action? Over.” 
“Not bloody likely. There’s this great bloody hole in my port wing. I’m leaking petrol like a ruptured barrel. Over.” 
“Able Nine, I see you now. Got a one-oh-niner on your tail. Break off. Break right now. There’s a Spit on the way. Able Leader out.” 
Wendall eased his wounded bird to the right and sighed with relief as he saw a Spitfire swoop down from above and take on the Messerschmitt nose-to-nose. The Spitfire won. Wendall knew it when a great orange balloon flashed behind him. The Spitfire dropped his starboard wing and turned sharply. Wendall fumbled with a knob on his radio and dialed the Spitfire squadron frequency.
“You’re a right rare bloke. Thanks, mate. I owe you one. Over.”
“Get yourself home now. You can come up to our digs and stand me a couple of pints in the Mess. Over,” the Spitfire pilot responded cheerily.
“I’ll do that, believe you me. Able Nine out.”
Wendall Foxworth fought the controls all the way to Hamphill. With the loss of nearly half his fuel, the rest mostly burned, he was flying on fumes when the soft blue glow of the runway boundary lights came into view. Slowly he eased downward. Judiciously he applied throttle to maintain air speed. Gradually he lined up the white line down the center of the macadam strip. Three hundred feet now. His port wing kept wanting to rise. Wendall dropped the flaps. Gear down. His air speed bled off in a rush. The stall warning blared at him. He gave it more throttle. The braying horn silenced. A hundred feet. Fifty. Twenty-five. He could feel the ground effect. Twenty. Fifteen.
Wheels down! Abruptly the Hurricane engine gave a polite cough and quit running. The momentum kept the wounded craft hurtling down the runway even so. Only a short way. A Land Rover appeared at an intersection. A yellow flare of torchlight illuminated the FOLLOW ME sign. Wendall applied brake. The plane would not obey, due to no power. He waved at the ground crewmen as the Hurricane flashed past. He would have to let it run itself out.
Ahead the end of the runway loomed large in Wendall’s sight. It grew nearer with terrible swiftness. Then he sensed a slowing, a rocking of wings. With a final creak and groan, the Hurricane came to a stop, three feet from the grass verge. Trembling with exertion, Wendall Foxworth lowered his head to the instrument panel and released the long held breath that threatened to burst his chest.




 
 
Time: 1040, GMT, October 11, 1940
Place: Time Station London,
Thameside, London, England
 
 
Dianna Basehart entered the Time Station twenty minutes after she had called Brian Moore at his MI-5 office on the morning of October 11. The sparkling light in her cobalt eyes testified to her success. She waved a sheaf of papers under Brian’s nose. “I’ve got a solid lead on Clive Beattie.” 
Brian smiled with sincerity. “Good. How did you do that?”
“Finished the last notation in the Cordise diary. They were to have had a meeting two nights ago. So the Abwehr knows by now that Cordise has been taken.” 
Brian’s worried frown surprised Dianna. “Yes. And they’ve acted upon it. We’ve had an Enigma intercept from the headquarters of Admiral Canaris. The head of the Abwehr has authorized Beattie’s cell to proceed with the assassination of Churchill, as scheduled. It is in retaliation for the loss of an agent named Freiadler, whom we know as Rupert Cordise, The message was sent to an agent with the code name Chamäleon, or Chameleon. Any bets that it’s none other than our face-changing friend, Beattie?”
“What does that buy us?” a doubtful Dianna asked. 
“Possibly a chance to get a look at the illusive Clive Beattie. It instructed him to meet a U-boat at certain coordinates tomorrow night. He is to get reinforcements, and a special weapon.”
Through a spreading grin, Dianna completed his thought. “And we’ll be there to meet them.”
“Sort of. If it looks right, we’ll take the whole lot right there. If not, we can follow Beattie and grab him later.”
“That’s awfully close to the fifteenth.”
“I know, Di. I’d like to have a lot more time, too. Remember, there will be a number of MI-5 agents there. We simply can’t grab Beattie and whisk him off to the future. I’d like for only the two of us to handle this—” He stopped abruptly, then brightened as he recalled his conversation last Monday with Sir Hugh Montfort. “Maybe there is a way. If so, the door is open to handle Beattie with no one knowing what actually happened.”
“Are you going to tell me?”
“Yes. It has to do with you volunteering to join Ml-5.” At Dianna’s startled elevation of eyebrows, Brian hurried on. “Only temporary. Sort of call this a trial balloon. Surveillance on Beattie. You’ve shown that you can get close to these dangerous types and maintain an outward calm. Also dazzle them so much they don’t know they’ve been diddled until the cuffs are snapped into place. You can tell Sir Hugh that you want to see this one through to the end, then you’ll take the school.”
“Only instead, I hop back to the Home Culture and disappear from this Now in London forever.”
Brian smiled, nodded. “Can you think of anything better?” 
Dianna knotted her brow. “Not right offhand.”
“Right, then. We had better get this in motion.”
 
 
Time: 1330, GMT, October 12, 1940
Place: The Strand, North of Skegness, 
Lincolnshire, England
 
 
Brian Moore and Dianna Basehart crouched behind twin thickets of salt grass at the edge of the strand north of Skegness on the east coast of the Midlands. Armed with hampers of thick ham sandwiches, wedges of cheese, crackers, sweets and vacuum bottles of coffee, they had taken position in early afternoon. The sun beat down, unseasonably warm for this time of year. Only once was their stakeout jeopardized, when a gaggle of six small boys, who appeared to be about eight or nine, came down to brave the chill waters of the English Channel.
Quickly stripped bare as the day their mothers birthed them, the little imps cavorted on the sand and splashed in the shallows. Then one of them, in the lead of a footrace, spotted Dianna and Brian in turn. He stopped in a shower of sand to turn full face to them, completely oblivious to his state of undress. 
His mouth formed an “O” of surprise and the bare toes of one foot scratched idly at his other calf. A mop of snowy flaxen hair waved in the onshore breeze and he gazed at the couple with wide, sky-blue eyes.
“Gor, you two out here to fool around som’at?” 
“C’mon, Tommy, why’d you fall behind?” another lad chirped in the distance.
The interruption gave Brian time to frame a proper reply. He gave the boy a big wink as he confided, “If we were here to fool around, it wouldn’t do for a lad your size to be watching, now would it?” 
A nail-bitten thumb stole to Tommy’s mouth. Swiftly as it happened, he forcibly abandoned the childish habit. “I sees me sister an’ ’er boyfriend from time to time.” He winked back. 
Brian put a little heat in his words. “Then you’d bloody well be satisfied with that. Be good for you to show me some heels right now.”
Gulping, the lad spun to his right and streaked down the beach. “Hoy, fellows! You won’t believe what I saw back there,” he squeaked excitedly. “There’s a man an’ his girl about to do it.” Though in truth, he had not the first idea what it was. 
“Damn, how do they get so worldly-wise at so young an age?” Dianna queried rhetorically. 
“It’s the war,” Brian suggested.
“Do you think they’ll sneak back to watch?”
“I wouldn’t doubt it, Di.” 
“They’ll sure be disappointed.” Her fleeting smirk drew a laugh from Brian. 
“We don’t have to disappoint them.” Brian’s rejoinder brought him an intense stab of pain. Instantly the specter of Samantha raised between them. He made hasty retreat. “Forget it. I didn’t mean it at all.”
Dianna chuckled, though she agreed. “Yes, we are on a mission. Wouldn’t do for Beattie to come upon us in the throes of wild passion.”
They laughed together and resumed their watch. After a short while, Brian offered a question. “It isn’t all over for you, Di, is it?”
Dianna’s smile lasted only a short while. “No, it’s not. I still… think about you a lot. What about you?” 
“I could never forget you. We have had many a good time together. I haven’t given up hope that we can again.”
Dianna favored him with a soft, happy expression. “I’ve not either. That’s a sweet thought to fill the empty hours with, isn’t it?”
 
 
Time: 0001, GMT, October 13, 1940
Place: The Strand, Outside Skegness, Lincolnshire, England
 
 
Clive Beattie arrived at long last. If indeed the hunchbacked, balding man of late middle age who shuffled through a stand of mixed walnut and yew was Beattie. He lacked any resemblance to the Aryan superman in the holograph from the future. Not a sliver of moon lighted the scene, so Brian could not be certain. A short while after the newcomer walked out onto the beach and shined a flashlight across the water, the thrumming swish of electric motors and brass propellers drifted in on the tide.
A few moments later, a foam of alabaster bubbles caught the starlight and the black silhouette jutted up out of the water. The truncated periscope and antenna masts of a U-boat took on a patent-leather sheen in the white frost of the constellations. The hull glided majestically above the waves and the submarine came to full stop.
Figures appeared on the deck. Brian and Dianna watched in fascination while they inflated a rubber raft. Five figures came from a hatch and went over the side into the bobbing boat. With a faint sputter the craft swung shoreward and made headway toward the sand. Beattie walked to the waterline and caught the painter tossed to him.
He backed up to ground the vessel, then greeted the occupants. One of the U-boat’s crew handed a small box to Beattie, who pocketed it. Three of the men remained, while the other pair turned around the rubber boat and headed back to the sub. Watching through night glasses, Brian studied the faces of the new arrivals. He needed to memorize them in the event something went wrong. Dianna moved over beside him. 
“Where’s the special weapon?”
“I don’t know.”
“There’s only four. Do we take them now?” 
Brian looked at her. “We let that U-boat submerge first. That should get this bunch into the trees where they can’t hear us close on them.”
Up to that point it went exactly the way Brian planned it. He and Dianna moved soundlessly through the undergrowth and came to within ten feet of the German agents and Clive Beattie. Then Brian stepped down on a dead branch. Its crack sounded as loud as a gunshot.
“Was ist das?” came a guttural demand. 
“Gar nichts. Ein Tier,” responded Beattie.
“If it’s an animal, it walks upright on two legs,” the suspicious Nazi countered in rapid German. “Look over there. That is no animal.” 
Starlight barely outlined Brian Moore. It proved enough to encourage instant response from the enemy agents. Three shots cracked loudly in the cricket-filled night. Fortunately for Brian, the Germans were poor shots. Especially with handguns in the dark. In contrast, Brian had the advantage of evolution and training to give him superior reflexes and gun-handling ability. 
With a solid, flat report, the Webley in Brian’s hand spat a slug at the nearest enemy agent. With a soft groan, the man went to his knees. Brian fired again. The Luger dropped from the Nazi’s hand. To Brian’s side the air sizzled and gave off a tinge of ozone as Dianna fired an Attenuated Lazer Pistol at another German.
Virtually silent, the futuristic ALP operated on a microbattery with a built-in chip that allowed it to recycle in under a quarter second. She had cleanly bisected her target, both sides of the wound completely cauterized. The still-living upper portion of the German continued to live long enough to fire a 9mm slug at Dianna. The blue-green light lashed out from her hand almost immediately.
Deprived of a head, the Nazi agent ceased to function and fell to the ground, behind his lower half. Dianna changed her point of aim. Neatly severed from the trunk, a branch fell on the back of Clive Beattie, who had the moment before bolted from the encounter. It knocked him flat on the ground.
“Oh, damn,” Dianna spat. 
“You weren’t trying for him, were you?” Brian asked as he sighted in on the last Nazi. He fired a fraction of a second later. 
Before he went down screaming, the German got off a round that burned a hot line along the left side of Brian’s rib cage. Then the suppressed Walther PP dropped to the bed of leaves and its owner clutched his belly. 
“Liebe Gott! Das verlessen ist,” he whimpered. It must have hurt a lot, because a moment later his groans turned to piercing screams.
Brian closed on him, while Dianna checked the other men. “Help me,” the German begged in English. “Don’t let me die.” 
“Too late, I’m afraid.”
“Brian, the first one you shot has gotten away,” came Dianna’s unwelcome report.
They quickly found that, ignored by them, Clive Beattie had also escaped. They stood in silence a moment. In the distance they heard the blundering crash of the fleeing pair. Without the slightest consideration for the seriously wounded Nazi, they started off as one in pursuit.
It took only a short time to close the distance. Immediately, shots ripped through the night. Brian and Dianna heard only polite coughs and the crack of bullets. Not even muzzle fire revealed the shooters. The Temporal Wardens dived for cover behind looming tree stumps.
“Split up and keep low,” Brian advised. “If they get beyond the trees, meet me at the car.” 
 
 
 
Twelve minutes later, Dianna Basehart approached the car at a brisk walk. “We lost them,” she summed up the evening’s operation. 
“Yes, I suppose we did. Any idea where to find them?” 
Dianna nodded down the road. “There can’t be many cars out at this hour. Not with the threat of air raids.” 
“You have a point. I caught a brief glance of our quarry when they pulled away. Beattie has a big, black Austin four-door sedan. He can’t make very good time, those things have governors on them. They have been gone only five minutes. I say we go after them.”
Seated in the MG touring car, they drove off at high speed. Tape had made tiny horizontal slits of the headlight beams, which cut dizzying swaths along the black tarmac of the roadway. In five minutes they caught sight of dim red slices in the distance, hurtling along the highway in reckless haste. Brian lifted his left hand from the floor-mounted gearshift and pointed. 
“That has to be them. No one else has reason to be speeding like that.”
A weak tone answered him. “Speak for yourself, Whitefeather. I’ve never gone so fast in anything with wheels in my life.” 
“What about your Hov-V?” 
Impatience joined the pain in Dianna’s voice. “It’s a ground-effect car, Whitefeather. It has no wheels.” 
Brian protested, “I’m only doing seventy.”
“My God! We’re going to die.”
Brian snorted through his grin. “By the end of the twentieth century, race cars routinely ran in excess of two hundred miles per hour.” 
“On wheels?” 
“Yes, on wheels. Of course, they raced on closed tracks, not out in open traffic.”
Dianna scrunched down lower in the bucket seat and pointed forward. “You’re getting sort of close, aren’t you?”
Brian returned his gaze to the road. The high, rounded back of the Austin sedan loomed large only a dozen car lengths away. Suddenly the entire of the windshield spider-webbed and a hole appeared between the occupants. They had to be using suppressed weapons, Brian reasoned. How could he stay so calm and analytical? 
It wasn’t every day someone shot at him. He wasn’t any Danny Danger from the pages of some pulp fiction magazine from the present, nor the hero of a holodisc story out of his own era. These people were seriously trying to kill him… and Dianna, he added parenthetically. So why was he hanging on the tail of this Austin?
Another bullet slammed into the rolled leather padding at the edge of his seat. Dianna leaned out the scooped side of the MG-TC and fired her ALP. It sliced off a neat section of rear fender. Brian had to swerve sharply to avoid it as the metal shard clanged noisily to the pavement and rebounded toward them. 
“You’re as dangerous as they are,” he complained. 
Tight-lipped, Dianna growled back, “Shut up and drive, Whitefeather.”
Brian drove. Dianna made a try for a tire. Severed metal glowed orange as she cut away a piece of the bumper. The engine of the Austin whined in protest as the vehicle slewed around a corner and began a steep incline. Another bullet cracked by overhead. Brian involuntarily ducked and slowed down. Ahead, the Austin dropped out of sight on the reverse side of the hill. 
Then they were at the crest of the steep grade. A small village spread out ahead of Brian and Dianna, nested in a hidden valley, Not a light shone from the houses or lampposts. And they discovered that the Austin had completely disappeared. Brian braked and both Temporal Wardens swiveled their heads left and right in search of the vanished car. He slowed more and took a long look down the road to the east. 
No taillights. Dianna looked away from the west and shook her head. They drove on another block. Same results. Dianna cursed under her breath in the long-forgotten language of Babylon.
“How could they have gotten away so fast?” she asked, highly perturbed.
Brian shook his head. “I don’t know. No, wait, I do know. Beattie has a safe house around here somewhere. It can’t be far from where we entered the village. We’ll have to look for it.”
 
 
 
Dawn on the thirteenth of October did not reveal the hiding place of Clive Beattie and the wounded German agent. Brian and Dianna had found only one place with a high wall and a large solid, double gate that suited their needs. They soon learned it belonged to the mayor. Brian looked haggard. He had a stubble of beard, a gaunt expression, and dark crescents under his eyes. He had been awake for forty-eight hours. He hadn’t eaten since their picnic the previous afternoon on the beach. 
Dianna looked hardly any better. She listened to the grumble of her stomach and tapped Brian lightly on his left forearm. “I think we should give it up for now and get something to eat.”
“I’ll agree. You do know that while we’re not prowling the neighbourhood, they can get away again?”
“Yes, but how far can one go in a car with large chunks carved off it?”
Brian brightened some. “Not far without being seen.”
“And remembered. We can track them that way. First, though, we’ve got to get some food.”
“Something to carry along, too,” Brian suggested.
They found a hole-in-the-wall eatery and filled up on bacon and eggs. Brian bought sandwiches and some apples. He picked up bottles of the low-proof Bulmer’s cider and they returned to the street where they had lost the Austin.
A man dressed in a white coat and trousers, with a cart and broom, swept the gutters. Brian stopped alongside and leaned from the MG. 
“Have you seen an Austin sedan this morning?”
“Yup. Several of them.”
“How about one with close to two feet of its left-hand rear fender cut off?” 
The street cleaner removed his white bill cap and scratched at thinning sandy hair. “As a matter of fact I did, guvner. Looked like it had been done with a razor. Bumper, too. Right funny that.” 
“Thank you. Which way did the car go?” 
Always helpful, the city employee pointed north. “Toward London.”
Brian and Dianna sped off. They took the most direct route, convinced that their quarry would do the same. When they entered the city, Brian drove only a block before he found a bobby on a bicycle. Again he asked his questions.
“Funny you should mention that. I did see such a vehicle. Why do you ask?” 
Brian showed his identification. “Government business. We meed to know where the car went from here.”
Pointing down the street, the bobby complied. “That there’s Bristol Lane. They made a right and drove on, off, never saw the car again.”
“There were two men in the car?” 
“Right. They looked somewhat nervous, come to think about it. One of them might have been hurt. Are they army deserters?” 
Brian smiled in a friendly manner. “Something like that. Shy of coppers, you can be sure. Thank you, Constable.” 
“That explains it, then. Hope you find them.” He peddled away. 
“Yeah,” Brian said in a sour tone. “That’s all we have to do—find them.”
They searched through most of the morning. Ten minutes before the noon hour, the black bulk of an Austin came into view through the window of a private garage. Quickly, Brian and Dianna closed in on it. Brian raised on tiptoes and peered inside the building. He turned away to face Dianna with a beaming smile. “We’ve found it. Now we have to take them.”




 
 
Time: 1105, GMT, October 13, 1940 
Place: Village of Chelmsford, Lincolnshire, England 
 
 
Brian Moore broke the lock and entered the garage with ease. He went to the front of the Austin and opened the hood. He removed the distributor cap and coil wire, then secured the hood once more. That accomplished, he and Dianna proceeded through a small door in the back to a terraced garden. On the way, Brian picked up a roll of tape. The house fronted onto the next street over, which served to make their search more difficult. Brian motioned Dianna to one side, where a row of evergreen privet hedge would screen her approach to the dwelling.
When she disappeared behind the greenery, Brian took the direct route across the middle of the garden. Bent low, he strode heedlessly over the rows of crops. His shoe soles crushed brussels sprouts, bush beans, parsnip, and turnip tops underfoot as he closed on the safe house. What surprised him more than the well-tended winter vegetable plot was that he met with no resistance. He gained his flagstone terrace without a shot being fired or even discovery. Dianna waited for him there.
Brian nodded to a covered passageway along one side of the house. “You had better go around front in case they try to make a break that way.”
Although she saw the logic of it, Dianna felt it necessary to make protest. “What? And have you grab all the glory? Isn’t the saying this era, ‘Ladies first’?”
Brian gave her a crooked smile with half his mouth. “Not when there’s a chance of some shooting.”
Dianna produced a smirk. “You’ve got a point there.” She left without further comment.
Brian gave her a long ten count and then stepped to the tall French doors. He tried the handle and, true to his expectation, found it locked. No way to avoid making some noise. Brian fetched the tape from his jacket pocket and loosely crisscrossed the pane closest to the knob. Then he took the Webley from his shoulder holster and reversed his grip, holding it by the barrel.
A swift, sharp rap with the butt broke the glass. To Brian it sounded as though he had struck an empty fifty-five-gallon drum with a sledgehammer. He methodically loosened the tape ends and pulled it and the shattered pane away. Ears alert for the least sound from inside, Brian reached through the opening and undid the latch. The door swung inward at his touch. He crossed the room in long strides, only to come to an abrupt halt as he rounded a high-backed wing chair.
“I… had to… make you… come to me,” the wounded Nazi agent gasped out in German. He held a fat-muzzled, suppressed Walther PP in an unsteady hand, aimed at the center of Brian’s chest. 
So much for the element of surprise, Brian reflected as he examined the man. Shot twice by Brian, the German had lost a lot of blood. Movement out of the chair appeared out of the question. Certainly he could not have intercepted an intruder. All of this flashed through Brian’s mind in the split second it took him to raise the muzzle of his .45 Webley and squeeze the trigger.
Brian’s ears made ringing protest when the revolver fired. His bullet finished what he had begun the previous night in the wood beyond the beach. An expression of astonishment on the face of the German was accentuated by the hole in his forehead. His pistol canted upward and discharged, which brought bits of ceiling plaster down in a cloud. Brian sidestepped and started for the sliding doors of the dining room. They must give onto the hallway, he reasoned. Brian opened them and stepped out ... into the balled fist of Clive Beattie. 
Hard knuckles smashed into the lips of Brian Moore and split the lower one on the inside. Brian tasted the salty-copper flavor of blood. In all his years in the Warden Corps, he had never been hit in the mouth before. The history logs said that the twentieth century had been an era of extreme violence. There had been more people killed in wars and through crime than all past years combined. Six million in the concentration camps by Hitler; thirty million kulaks and Kazakhs in the Ukraine by the Red Army, at Stalin’s command. Sixty-four million were yet to die in Mao’s purges of Red China. Add to that those killed fighting the wars and in the bombed cities, plus victims of violent crime, and it totaled more than the population of the entire world from the time of ancient Rome until the nineteenth century. These random facts unreeled in Brian’s mind while he tottered backward. Clive Beattie came right after him.
Brian hesitantly raised the Webley, his face a work of confusion as he stared into the familiar features of Field Marshal Lord Mountbatten. The next instant Brian had the weapon kicked out of his hand. Beattie knew some sort of martial art it would appear. The rogue traveler followed up his advantage with a knuckle-edge blow to the middle of Brian’s chest. Brian’s legs churned to keep him upright. He managed to duck the next swing and rally his senses.
With a piercing scream, Brian Moore exploded into action. He cocked his right leg at the knee and hip and, rising on the ball of the other foot, snapped the pointed toe of his wing tip to the sternum of Clive Beattie. Propelled backward, Beattie stumbled and crashed into the doorjamb. He recoiled quickly, right in time to take an upraised palm to his nose.
A welter of blood flew from the injured appendage and Beattie heard cartilage crumble. Dressed and made-up in the impersonation that would let him get close enough to Winston Churchill two days from now, Clive Beattie knew his Aryan perfection had been ruined. Rage clouded out caution, and he went for Brian with flailing arms. Brian sidestepped and drove a blade hand to the base of Beattie’s neck, instantly numbing the right side of the body. Beattie sagged to one knee. Brian bore in on his target.
A kick between the shoulder blades sent Clive Beattie face first onto the Oriental carpet. Sprawled and breathless, the depraved time rogue fought to fill his lungs. Brian did not give him the time. He dropped with a knee in the small of Beattie’s back and reached for his cuffs. 
Steel bracelets clicked loudly as Brian secured his prisoner. He had only started to rise when a sound from the open doorway jolted him into rapid motion. He dived for the Webley and snatched it from the floor. Completing his roll, he came up with the weapon pointed the right direction. 
 
 
 
“Whoa! Take it easy, Whitefeather,” Dianna appealed from the doorway, arms raised, palms forward. By one finger she clutched the firing stud guard of her ALP.
“Dianna?” Brian came slowly out of his combat frenzy.
She produced a lopsided smile. “I couldn’t help hearing your friendly encounter. I decided I should pop inside and see how it came out.”
“We have Beattie. At least I think it’s Beattie.” 
Dianna crossed the room and rolled the trussed prisoner over onto one side. Her eyes widened. “My God, that’s Lord Mountbatten… isn’t it?”
Winded, Clive Beattie softly cursed both Temporal Wardens in German gutter language. Then his eyes focused on the weapon in Dianna’s hand. His cobalt orbs widened with recognition. That set off a string of even harsher expletives, the mildest of which was “You craven bastards.”
Brian bent low over his captive. “File it under Control-Delete, Beattie. Or should I say, Chamäleon. Or, better still, Gunther Bewerber, late of 2606.”
Beattie/Bewerber turned pale. Trapped and knowing it, he sought to wangle any advantage. “You can both be fabulously rich, you know. I have jewels, diamonds, emeralds, rubies. And I have ten kilos of germanium. Think what that would bring in our time!”
Brian’s eyes burned hotly. “We’re not buying. You’ll be sent back to Warden Central for punishment.”
Lips trembling now, Beattie made a final appeal. “Bu—but that means a brain-wipe and the labor battalions.”
Brian shrugged. “Too bad. Although on you a room temperature IQ will look rather good.”
“Better to die now,” Beattie said resignedly.
Fingers working furiously behind his back, Clive Beattie managed to turn the massive Mountbatten signet ring to the proper position. When he started to clinch his hand, Dianna shouted a warning to Brian.
“Whitefeather; stop him!”
Brian dived at Beattie and grabbed the hand that had started to hesitantly close. He saw a wicked, silver glint below the gold of the ring on the third finger. Quickly he put all his pressure on that digit to bend it backward from contact with flesh. Beattie shrieked when his finger broke.
Gingerly, Brian slid the signet ring off the injured finger. He examined the tiny hypodermic needle closely. Then he turned his attention back to Beattie. “So that’s how you were going to kill Churchill.”
“I saw him twisting that ring, wondered why,” Dianna injected.
“Yes, and that’s why he’s done himself up to look like Lord Mountbatten. The Field Marshal is to receive the VC from the King day after tomorrow. Churchill will be there. This way Beattie could get close enough to the Prime Minister to shake his hand or clap him on the shoulder. What did you plan to do with the real Mountbatten?” When he received no answer, Brian shoved the ring under the nose of Beattie. “This is what you got off the sub last night, right?”
“Geht zum Teufel.”
Brian’s smile goaded Beattie more than his words. “It’s more likely you’ll be the one going to the devil. The old poison ring gambit. That dates back even before Lucrezia Borgia, though she’s supposed to have made good use of one from time to time.” Then to Dianna, “Let’s give this place a good toss. Never can tell what might turn up.”
“You are going to keep the gems and germanium for yourselves and send me back anyway,” Beattie accused.
Flashing a pleasant smile, Brian disabused him of that. “No, but they will help offset the cost of catching and transporting you. Several times, I’m sure.” 
Dragging Beattie along to his study, they went about the search in a methodical, thorough way. From a safe behind a large landscape painting in the drawing room they retrieved the jewels. A floor vault in the study gave up the germanium. Then Dianna began to leaf through Beattie’s correspondence. Most of it was of a social nature. Several related to the short-circuited campaign of Rupert Cordise. Those she stuffed in her purse. She put the letters aside when Brian came down from the attic.
“I found his transmitter. Also a codebook and onetime pad. They are careful, I’ll give them that. No decoded messages lying around for the casual eye to observe. I’m willing to bet that we can learn a whole lot about the entire spy apparatus if we turn our friend here over to Vito for a casual chat.”
Dianna caught Beattie’s eye to make certain he took in their exchange. Then she made an exaggerated wince and raised one hand as though fending off something threatening. “The last one Vito worked on turned into a gibbering idiot. The mind probe is a terrible thing.”
Face alabaster, Beattie began sweating profusely. “You—you can’t use a mind probe. It’s illegal except by court order.”
“Don’t worry, friend,” Brian assured him. “You won’t be drooling and soiling yourself for long. Once Vito Alberdi gets what we want from you, it’s back to the old Home Culture and a mind-wipe. It won’t hurt anymore after that.” Brian paused, put on a serious expression. “Unless you want to cooperate and it won’t have to hurt at all.”
Realizing he had to give up something, Beattie swallowed hard, spoke in a near whisper. “In the third drawer on the left. There are some papers there that you might find interesting. Under a false bottom.”
Dianna pulled the compartment from its place and dumped the contents onto the desk top. Using a penknife from the blotter, she pried out the phony floor of the bin. From inside the lower section she withdrew five thick letters and a black-and-white photograph.
Posed before the lens were two men. Dianna studied them and handed the photo to Brian. One of the figures turned out to be a stoop-shouldered older man with a leonine mane of white hair, who matched one of the descriptions of Clive Beattie. The other was the former Prime Minister of England, Neville Chamberlain.
 
 
 
Faced now with yet another dilemma, Brian read the letters in stunned silence. The major recurring theme was Chamberlain’s contention that “the German Chancellor” held no ill will for the British Empire or the British people. In one letter, on the second page, Chamberlain remarked favorably on the efficiency with which the National Socialist government was running Germany. In particular, he cited the stabilization of the mark, the recovery of the banks, the creation of jobs for those in the trades by building hundreds of small homes for participants in the new Retirement Security program. He also had glowing praise for the Autobahn, referring to it as “the Highway of the Future.” Brian looked up at Dianna, his eyes haunted.
“This is powerful stuff. Used the right way, it might bring about an end to any opposition to Winston Churchill.” 
“Need I remind you, Whitefeather, that we are not here to take a partisan position.”
Brian nodded. “Yes. I can accept that. Only we are here to correct a ripple in the fabric of Time that centers around Churchill. Until he is safe, our job is not completed. You’ll have to allow me that.”
A sigh escaped Dianna. “Unfortunately, you’re right. How do you propose we use these letters?”
“If we have Clive here to back up our story, we can force Chamberlain out of government entirely. And silence Churchill’s critics.”
Incredulous, Dianna stared at him. “You mean not send him back? Regulations state clearly that we transport immediately.”
“I don’t mean keep him, Di. All we need is to have him around long enough for us to wring concessions out of Chamberlain and those lined up against Churchill. Then we beam Beattie back.” 
Dianna displayed her stubborn streak. “It’s crazy. You’ll get us suspended.”
“Not necessarily. Let me have time to think this through.” He grew silent then, sorting the alternatives in his mind, weighing possible course of action. A plan formed. “Here’s what I think we can get away with…” said Brian at last, then he went on to tell Dianna his plan.
 
 
Time: 1030, GMT, October 15, 1940 
Place: Buckingham Palace, London, England 
 
 
Field Marshal Lord Mountbatten—the real one—received his decoration from the King two days later as planned. He lunched with Winston Churchill and the majority leaders of both houses of Parliament at 10 Downing Street. During the lull, Brian Moore paid a discreet visit on Neville Chamberlain. He brought with him the letters and photograph. Also photos of Clive Beattie as Lord Mountbatten, and as himself, seated beside Brian Moore. 
Starting with the first edition, early the second day, the headlines screamed the news. 
 
 
DR. CHAMBERLAIN STEPS DOWN!
 
 
The story that accompanied the bold, black letters referred to his leaving government due to failing health and a desire to retire to his country estate. It went on to review his political career and accomplishments. Not a word appeared about certain embarrassing correspondence.
Also that afternoon, Brian Moore spent three hours questioning Gunther Bewerber. He Iearned the names and locations of three previously unsuspected German agents. He also extracted a complete list of secrets Beattie had given to the Germans. When he had wrung all he could out of the time rogue, Brian heaved a sigh of relief.
When Brian took a transcript of his results to Sir Hugh, the MI-5 Home Office director was enormously pleased. He praised Brian highly and hinted that a more substantial form of reward would be forthcoming. Brian left his superior’s office elated on the surface. Yet one grim certainty continued to plague him. The bombing of Coventry. It would happen, he knew, the first day of November.




 
 
Time: 2243, GMT, October 31, 1940
Place: Apartment of Brian Moore,
Threadneedle Street, London, England 
 
 
Despite increased pressure by many privy to the secret of Enigma, Churchill remained steadfast. He was moved by compassion to alter only a few conditions. Unseasonable storms rolled in the last week of October and made flying impossible. Nevertheless, the Germans would come the first good day. The Prime Minister contacted the Home Guard commander on the twenty-eighth of October, and urged him to have all available medical personnel and ambulances be moved under cover of darkness to military bases near to Coventry. He also saw to making available a large blood supply, medical supplies, and surgical instruments. When Brian Moore learned of the Prime Minister’s decision, he spent a long, haunted night on the thirty-first, no festive night for him. 
He withdrew from everyone and paced the floor of his apartment, only too aware of the irony that the next day was called the Day of the Dead in Latin American countries. He drank too much and went to bed with the predicament still unsolved. 
 
 
Time: 0500, GMT, November 1, 1940
Place: Apartment of Brian Moore, 
Threadneedle Street, London, England 
 
 
He awoke at five o’clock with a raging hangover and a resolution. First thing was to call Samantha. She answered on the third ring, her voice thick with sleep.
“Sam, it’s Brian. Get dressed and come into London at once.”
“But, Bri, I have tons of work at the office,” Samantha protested. “And it’s such a beautiful day for once.” 
“I don’t care. This is vital. Don’t even go in today. Get dressed, grab some quick breakfast, and drive like the hounds of hell were after you to London.”
“What’s this all about?”
“I… can’t tell you. But it is important. Trust me. After, I’ll tell you all about it; we can have dinner and make fantastic love.”
Maybe, her jumbled mind suggested, he was going to pop the question? The offer of dinner and lovemaking decided her. “Oh, yes, I’ll be there. Give me three hours, all right, luv?” 
“That’s cutting it close, but it might work. Just hurry.” He hung up with a sinking feeling. 
 
 
Time; 0930, GMT, November 1, 1940
Place: 7,500 Meters Above the English Channel 
 
 
A thin ribbon of foaming surf rolled ashore far below the port wing of the lead Messerschmitt 110 Bf. Colonel Werner Ruperle looked down on it with a heavy heart. At least, the weather had cleared at last. Even that failed to lift his spirits. These daylight raids were murderous. Their losses amounted to a 150 percent increase over night attacks. More than that troubled him. He had received a letter from home the previous day. Hilda had taken a turn for the worse. His mother had come down from München to care for the children.
She wrote in rather harsh, terse form that she had been visited by a deputation from the Gymnasium. “The principal and a teacher, a Herr Wittenauer, behaved with only the barest civility and demanded that I produce Bruno. Then in front of me, they demanded that he join the Hitler Jugend. There would be no more delays, they said. He should have joined a year ago. Now, with his mother dying—they actually said that in front of Bruno—that as a good grandmother it was my duty to Führer and Fatherland to see the boy did the right thing. Bruno was the only boy in school not a member.”
Werner’s mother went on to say that she had protested that she could do nothing. Wittenauer produced a package and opened it. “He handed Bruno the uniform: brown shirt; short, black trousers and kneesocks, and that hateful armband.” Werner had read on, his eyes filled first with tears, then the fire of rage. 
“Liebling, they made him strip right there and put it on. Then raised their arms in the Nazi salute. ‘Heil Hitler’ they chanted. The poor boy stood there, his face white, lips pressed together, and refused to respond. Herr Wittenauer reached out and slapped him. He kept on slapping Bruno until he complied. I wanted to kill the Schweinehund, but being an old lady, I was powerless. When they left, Bruno wept hysterically and swore never to wear the uniform again. I am afraid for him. Can you do anything to help? Your loving mother.” 
With a grinding of teeth, Col. Ruperle broke the spell that letter could still draw over him. It was only those with Wittenauer’s sort of mind that could so casually select his target for today. Only the morally dead could pick a peaceful village like Coventry. 
 
 
Time: 0933, GMT, November 1, 1940 
Place: Over Lincolnshire, England 
 
 
Static crackled in the earphones clamped inside the leather flying helmet worn by Wendall Foxworth. A voice quickly followed. “They’re coming all right, lads. Just like the man said it would be. I make it five squadrons of medium bombers and two of Stukas. Let’s give ’em hell.” 
How unlike Captain Marsh, Wendall thought. Usually he was all code names, the numbers for tactical maneuvers, like some bloody footballer forward. Maybe it was because Marsh had a wife and two small kiddies in Coventry. Nothing like a little personal involvement to get a man’s fires lighted.
A second later, Wendall’s Vic nosed up and started a climb for the bellies of the German aircraft. He closed to five hundred feet… four… three… two-fifty. His gloved finger closed on the firing switch and eight .303 Browning machine guns shuddered to life. Holes stitched along the underside of the port wing and across the fuselage, then the other wing. Wendall flashed past, still under the Me-110, and saw the shattered Plexiglas windscreen of the bombardier’s cupola. Bright red smears coated the shards of plastic, still in their frames. A leather-jacketed figure lay slumped over the bomb-sight.
“Got the bastard!” he shouted delightedly into his throat mike. “That one won’t be dropping any bombs.”
He made a steep vertical climb and roll, then did a wingover into attack position again. This time he raked the Me-110 along the airfoil from starboard to port, with a withering burst into the cockpit area. Gushing fuel ignited in both wings and streaked back along the fuselage. Immediately the aircraft began to lose altitude. Rising, ticked plumes of black smoke followed it earthward.
 
 
 
Mottled green-and-brown wings flashed ahead and below the Flotte. Moving at a combined speed of over 500 mph, the squadron of Hurricanes had closed with his Me-110’s by the time Col. Ruperle registered their significance. He sensed the first bullet impacts through the control column, then his feet on the rudder pedals. Then bits of sheet metal flew inward, propelled by the armor-piercing .303 caliber slugs from eight Browning machine guns. In an eye-blink his bombardier’s left chest twitched, then a huge chunk of the right side of his back erupted in a gout of scarlet fluid.
Ruperle watched in fixed horror as his friend’s legs spasmed in a grotesque, seated dance and the side of his head flew off. It all happened in a whirlwind of flying shards of Plexiglas. All thoughts of his son’s humiliation at the hands of fanatic Nazis fled from Werner’s head as he fought the suddenly sluggish controls. To his right, his copilot fought the wheel also, eyes wide, the whites large with fright. Then the Hurricane that had wounded them flashed past three hundred meters off the starboard wingtip. It impudently did a vertical roll and wingover, then leveled out into a shallow dive back in their direction. 
Skin around the eyes of Col. Ruperle tightened as he counted the muzzle flashes. He did not need to be a fighter pilot to know that those guns had been tuned to converge at a point less than the present distance. The first impacts chewed a hand’s length off the starboard wingtip. Inexorably they marched toward the cockpit.
Forgetting his intercom radio, Werner Ruperle shouted at his copilot. “Down! Get her downl We’re too shot-up to make it back to France. I’ll pick a field and we’ll land her fast.”
Radio traffic trampled one bit on the other in his earphones as the rest of the Flotte reported being engaged. In the next second, the bullets slammed into the cockpit. Miraculously, they passed behind the copilot’s seat and trashed a bank of fuses and safety switches. Then the port wing caught it. Flames sprang up in an engine nacelle. The fire extinguishers went off automatically. To his surprise, Col. Ruperle found the aircraft easier to control.
“I’ve got it, Fritz. I’ll feather the propeller. You get down there and salvo that bomb load. It will give us more lift.” 
His copilot looked at him in consternation. “But, Colonel, the arming wires have not been—“
“Never mind. Unless you wish to become a red smear on the English countryside, dump those bombs.”
Fritz unbuckled and scrambled below. He hit the switch to activate the bomb bay Doors, then put a hesitant thumb over the red button marked “GB” for Ghrenbehalt. Fritz took a quick gulp, and pushed it. With an eerie, metallic click, the whole stick salvoed. Immediately, the Me-110 ascended three hundred feet.
Pressure on the controls eased. For the first time since the attack began, Col. Werner Ruperle began to believe they would make it. Then smoke and flames began to billow up from the wing root and inside the cockpit.
 
 
 
“One-oh-nines! One-oh-nines!” The panicked voice had an accompaniment of gunfire. 
Immediately he heard it, Wendall Foxworth swiveled his head and jinked his Hurricane in an attempt to search the sky. He saw them then, high above, peeling off in a breath-catching maneuver that held his gaze until the lead plane loomed frighteningly large in the canopy panes of Wendall’s cockpit. He could clearly see the green, yellow, and white bands painted on the spinner of the three-bladed prop. In a rush of clarity, Wendall dropped his port wing and gave full left rudder.
His Hurricane began to dive. Twin streams of 7.9mm bullets from the Messerschmitt’s MG 17s, and 20mm cannon shells from the three MG FF/Ms burned through empty sky above, where he had been three seconds ago. Gulping air, his forehead awash in sweat, Wendall brought the nose up, leveled his aircraft, then turned to starboard. Right! The German had overflown him. He shoved in full throttle and pulled the stick back into his crotch. The Rolls Royce Merlin III engine screamed at him as its twelve cylinders churned the propeller through the air.
Wendall almost made it. Had he gotten to the top and made his loop, he would have come up behind the Me-109. Instead, another Messerschmitt caught him in his climb. The cruciform, forty-foot wingspan of the Hurricane made a perfect target.
Hammer blows rammed into the Hurricane. Wendell’s radio exploded in front of him and he felt a tremendous burst of pain in his left thigh. Flames leaped up between him and the instrument panel. Smoke began to fill the cockpit.
“Get out! Get out!”
Wendall did not realize that it was he screaming aloud until he had hit the canopy release lever. The greenhouse rolled back smoothly a ways, then stopped. Wendall put the Hurricane in level flight, oblivious to the danger of the prowling Me-109s. He reached up with both hands and shoved backward. Nothing happened. He pushed harder. It yielded a precious six inches. 
Wendall put the wounded aircraft. In a shallow dive, descending at about 300 feet per minute. He unbuckled his harness and stood upright. Instantly he collapsed as new, hot pain shot through his left leg. He looked down and saw his trouser leg saturated with blood. Desperately, he tried again. This time he let his arms take the load. 
His head raised into the slipstream. Oddly, the wind did not seem to roar as he had expected. Then he remembered his headset. Sheepishly, he reached back down and disconnected his throat mike and earphone cables. Then he levered himself up out of the cockpit. He swung his good leg over the side and sprawled ungainfully down the fuselage. With a last look back, and a prayer, he let go and fell free of the trailing edge of the port wing.
Like the black shadow of death, the tail empennage flashed overhead. And then Wendall was alone in the sky, falling through the madcap swarm of contesting aircraft. He counted to four, then pulled the D-ring handle of his parachute. It deployed smoothly and opened with a sharp crack and crotch-jarring tug. A brief cloud of white formed from the static-resistant powder the factory invariably packed in the older chutes. Wendall checked the canopy then looked down. 
The ground did not seem in any hurry to rush up at him. Then he recalled, the last time he had looked at his altimeter, it registered 8,670 feet. He had over a mile and a half to fall. God! Would he drift out over the Channel?
No, his mind told him, wind’s from the southeast. Another thought chilled him. Like many pilots, Wendall had heard stories of German fighter pilots following a pilot down in his chute and machine-gunning him while he hung helpless in his harness. One fellow from 53 Squadron had claimed to witness such an act of barbarity. The sounds of battle had drifted far off now. Even so, Wendall nervously looked around him in all directions.
Not a Hun in sight. He looked down again. The ground was coming up a hell of a lot faster now. Training took over and Wendall pulled his belt free. Quickly, he fashioned a tourniquet for his shot-through leg. That accomplished, he wondered if his kit bag had one or more field dressings in it. He could do nothing until he got to the ground, but he would need help quickly when he did.
Wendall sighed and looked down again. A stunned second later, he hit the ground like a sack of wet garbage.
 
 
 
Eight hundred meters to go now. Knuckles white on the controls, Col. Werner Ruperle fought to keep his severely wounded aircraft in a slow glide toward the English countryside. He preferred this to a water landing. He had one dead man aboard and three wounded. Make that four, he reminded himself.
Not until he had fought his burning, creaking Me-110 clear of the scramble of enemy aircraft did Col. Ruperle realize that the burning, stinging sensation across his back represented a bullet path from a British machine gun. He had come so close, he did not want to gamble with drowning or sharks. Even if it had to be a wheels-up landing, he saw it as better. Ahead he saw a wide, brown ribbon of cleared dirt. Never a good student of history, Werner did not recognize it as an untouched segment of an ancient Roman roadway that reached northward to Hadrian’s Wall. It looked like a perfectly good runway to him. His hands went to the gear lever. 
A little lower. He had already lowered the damaged flaps. They vibrated violently as air tore through the bullet holes. Now the gear. The hydraulic pumps groaned and thumped, but the wheels did not come down. He was committed now. He recycled the control. Still no Gear Down light.
Five hundred meters, 205 mph airspeed. Throttles back. He had already dumped fuel after the extinguishers had put out the fires. Four hundred. Three hundred. Line it up. Easy, easy, now. Two hundred.meters. Throttles forward. Nose up. Easy.
“Fritz, get on the controls. We’re going to hit hard.”
“Ja. Something tells me we will hit too hard.” 
“No time to go around. We’re almost dry on fuel.” 
“Ja, ja,” Fritz answered nervously. “One hundred meters.” 
They lapsed into silence then while the leading edge of the wings flashed over the edge of the bare strip. With a start, Col. Ruperle saw that the brown “earth” was in fact precisely made brownstone cobbles. He eased the nose to almost a stall. A minute later he cut the throttles and flared out. 
The wings settled first. Sparks flew in showers and metal ground away as the Me-110 skidded along on its belly. The propellers made contact, bent backward, and Col. Ruperle’s hands flew to cut the engine switches. Groaning and shrieking, the aircraft continued along the Roman road. Stone that had withstood the ravages of the ages turned to dust and rose in a curtain around the disintegrating Messerschmitt. Slowly it lost forward momentum.
With a final groan, it settled, quivering, to the ground. A silence so profound it made Werner Ruperle’s ears ache descended upon them. They had made it. Col. Werner Ruperle solemnly made the sign of the cross, offered a prayer of gratitude to God and the Virgin Mary, then got the hell away from the destroyed aircraft with all the speed he could muster.
 
 
Time: 0950, GMT, November 1, 1940 
Place: M-43 Highway, Coventry to London, England 
 
 
Samantha Trillby started out for London at ten minutes to ten that morning. She was well into the country when the air raid sirens went off in Coventry. She puckered her mouth in a grim moue a bit later when she saw the black blossoms of antiaircraft fire through the rearview mirror.
They were coming a lot closer to Coventry this time, she thought. A squadron of Spitfires snarled by low overhead, followed by two of Hurricanes. Abruptly they climbed steeply to engage the advance columns of the enemy, Samantha drove a little faster. With the window down, she could hear the machine-gun fire. A chill clutched her spine. They were going to Coventry this time.
What for? There was nothing there worth bombing. Another question burned through her. Had there been enough warning? Who would survive? Nervously she began to chew her lower lip. Far above her and some distance behind, another flight of bombers, this time Ju-88-A’s, ran into the furious resistance that had plagued Col. Ruperle’s squadron.
Unseen by Samantha, one of the Junkers, shot to hell, struggled furiously to escape the deadly circus that spun around them. One engine was afire, thick smoke trailed behind. Following regulations, in the same manner as Col. Ruperle, the pilot gave the order to lighten his craft by dumping his bombs. 
During the time it took him to reach this decision, he had turned completely to the south and flew over the road to London. This time.when the bombardier salvoed the stick, the safety wires had been attached to their tethers. As the bombs fell free they aimed themselves.
Wobbling through the air, the 4,960 pounds of explosives dropped in irregular lines down the highway. Their proximity fuses fired and the bombs erupted in a blinding, searing flash. The first ones to detonate disintegrated Samantha Trillby and her car.




 
 
Time: 1130, GMT, November 1, 1940 
Place: Offices of MI-5, Bayswater Road, 
London, N.W. 1, England
 
 
Brian Moore fidgeted through the morning, well aware that Coventry was being obliterated. Where was Samantha? At eleven-thirty, the first reports began to arrive from surrounding communities that had not been hit in the raid. The city’s entire center had been laid to waste, including St. Michael’s Cathedral and the Grey Friars’ Church. The statue of Lady Godiva had been damaged. Brian’s mouth tasted of bitter ash. 
Noon came and the bad news continued to pour in. Brian had a pork pie and chips sent up from the canteen. He ate without tasting it. He began to pace the floor after he abandoned the half-eaten meal. He left the office for court at one-thirty and was back at three. At three-thirty, the intercom buzzed discreetly.
“Sir Hugh is on his way to see you, sir,” Sally Parkhurst informed him.
“I’ll see him at once, of course.” A dread premonition washed over Brian.
Sir Hugh Montfort entered a minute later. The expression he wore alarmed Brian further. Montfort’s greeting was brusque. He crossed directly to the sideboard and poured single malt into two glasses, handed one to Brian.
“Sit down,” the deputy director of MI-5 commanded. When Brian settled himself uneasily, he went on. “I’m sorry to have to bring you this news. A German bomber salvoed its bomb load after being badly shot up. They landed on the highway from Coventry. Some of them hit a car.
“From what could be found of it after, mainly the license plate, it has been identified as belonging to Samantha.Trillby.” Sir Hugh drew in a deep breath and sighed it out heavily. “Oh, goddamn it to bloody hell, Brian, I’m sorry. I’m so very sorry.”
Although anticipating it for nearly an hour, Brian sat in stunned silence. She must have been meant to die in Coventry, he painfully reminded himself. In a sinking funk he also acknowledged that his earlier intervention in her torture and murder only bought her a little more time. Bitterly he accepted what hundreds of Temporal Wardens before him had been compelled to embrace. The Time Paradox always cleared up any glitches.
Yet he could not help but feel guilty about it. He had put her on that road, the rebel portion of his mind mocked him. Who was to say that if she had not been ordered out of town that she would have died there? Brian sighed roughly to suppress a groan. Then he realized that Sir Hugh looked at him oddly.
Brian forced himself to confess. “I ordered her here today. I knew we could not save everyone. But… we are—were—in love. I couldn’t help trying.” He downed his whiskey and held out the glass for another.
When Sir Hugh had replenished their drinks, he reached out and lightly touched Brian’s shoulder. “I want you to know I received the message only a moment before coming down here. It wasn’t the purpose of my visit. You are to be decorated for your excellent work with the Cordise case and the roundup of so many Nazi spies. The affair will be tomorrow. White tie and tails. It’s hardly the time, but congratulations anyway.”
Brian struggled to quell his bitter grief. “Thanks, awfully.”
 
 
Time: 0730, GMT, November 2, 1940
Place: Regency House, Office of the Head of MI-5,
London, England
 
 
According to his instructions, Brian Moore reported to the office of Lord Walter Cuthbert-Hobbs first thing the next morning. He felt miserable in his formal attire. His night had not been a good one. 
He drank too much alcohol and passed out in the living room of his apartment. Only to wake with an aching neck at a little past midnight. He went to bed, only he could not sleep. He got up and paced the floor. His eyes burned and stung. His throat ached. At last, his grief and nature eased the soreness in his eyes. Brian sat on the side of his bed and sobbed quietly. He went into a deep, healing sleep around two-thirty in the morning. The turmoil of his sorrow left him ill-prepared for what he encountered in the office of the director of MI-5. 
“We’re going to Buckingham Palace,” Lord Walter told him. 
Brian’s eyebrows elevated. “Whatever for?” 
Cuthbert-Hobbs smiled broadly. “Well, it seems that not only are you receiving the Order of Valor, which I put you in for, but the King and Prime Minister have agreed. They have arranged for you to be invested with the Cross of St. George.” 
Deep inside, Brian Moore/Steven Whitefeather could not believe this. “I—I don’t deserve this. I did nothing more than anyone else. I c-can’t accept.”
“Modesty becomes you, old chap. But don’t carry it too far. The PM is particularly pleased with your resolution of the Cordise matter, and of nabbing the German agents sent to assassinate him. King George is rather pleased by that, also. There’ll be no fanfare or front-page stories in the Times, you understand. Matter of fact, you’ll not be able to wear the medal or its pip until after the war. Oh, by the way, that friend of yours, Lady Wyndamire? She’s coming along. So, shall we head for Buckingham?”
Brian Moore managed to hide his surprise until he had a moment alone with Dianna Basehart in what they called a cloakroom in the palace. It had as much square footage as Brian’s entire apartment. When the door closed behind them, he turned to her, his consternation clear on his face.
“How did you manage this?” 
Dianna gave him a coy smile. “I didn’t. Sir Hugh knew I was staying at the King’s Court, and must have told Lord Walter. He sent me a most persuasive invitation.”
“Oh, really? Engraved and all?”
Mischief danced in Dianna’s eyes. “No. Two big, burly Coldstream Guards.”
Brian chuckled. “That’s our Lord Walter all right.”
“This is quite something, you know. I don’t know another Warden with a George Cross.”
To her surprise, Steven Whitefeather blushed. “I’m not sure I should accept this one. Awards of the George’s Cross are recorded you know. Sooner or later, I’m going back. It will look damned funny for a holder of the Cross of St. George to disappear completely.”
Dianna patted his cheek. “You can always arrange a ‘tragic, untimely death’ by an accident. Now, let me get your white tie straightened.” She reached out and tweaked it into place. 
Cloaked in solemn pomp, the ceremony went off without a flaw. Champagne and finger food followed. The King even deigned to partake in a toast to the new hero. Brian dutifully replied with one to King and Country. While he nursed his second flute of bubbly, Sir Hugh approached him.
He bent close to Brian’s ear in a confidential manner and whispered, “This only came in before I left for the palace. Some of the lads have rounded up a German plane crew. Landed it on the old Roman road, They were waiting right beside it, made no trouble at all. The thing is, a search of the aircraft showed that they had dumped their bomb load.” 
Fire blazed in Brian’s eyes. “Those bastards. I want to be in on questioning them.”
“I thought you might. We’ll finish up here and go on over, what?”
 
 
Time: 1440, GMT, November 2, 1940
Place: Interrogation Room, Corby Barracks,
Northamptonshire, England
 
 
At first, Colonel Werner Ruperle could not figure out why the intense young man who had joined his interrogators took such a vicious dislike to himself. The youthful Military Intelligence type snarled his questions, insulted him and his fellow officers and crew, cursed and threatened them with physical harm. When the questioning got around to the reason for the forced landing, the colonel got the first inkling of what drove the man in white tie and tails.
“You did not complete your bombing run before you were hit, did you?” When Werner hesitated, the agitated interrogator turned red in the face and got down close to shout. “Answer me, goddamn you!”
“Have off a bit, chum,” an older agent urged. 
“I’ll have an answer out of this bastard,” the offensive one growled.
“Go easy, Brian. There is the Geneva Convention.”
Brian straightened and turned away a moment, took a deep breath. Then he spoke over one shoulder. “We found your bomb bay empty.”
Col. Ruperle spoke calmly. “Yes, we salvoed after we took serious damage. A flight of Hurricanes engaged us at quite some distance from the target. My bombardier was killed in the first strafing run. And the aircraft was on fire after the second. I turned out of formation, the controls sluggish, flames and smoke everywhere. We were too heavy, I could not control it. So I had my copilot go down and salvo the load.” 
A furious rage seized Brian Moore then. He bent toward Col. Ruperle with foam flecks at the corners of his mouth. “And you just managed to line up nicely on a car leaving Coventry, didn’t you?”
“No. No, we did not.”
“That’s a lie! You picked that car, lined up, and told your copilot when to release. And ... you destroyed ... the most ... beautiful girl in the world.”
Sudden horror grabbed Werner Ruperle. There had to have been something between this enraged man and the girl he mentioned. “No, I could not have done any sort of a thing,” he protested fervently, fighting for the proper English words.
“Yes, you did, you murdering Nazi son of a bitch. They could not find enough of her left to bury.”
Still shocked, Werner pushed on with his explanation. “I was not over any road. There were fields, trees; my bombardier had his brains sprayed all around the cupola. No matter that, my bombs would not have gone off. Didn’t you see for yourself? Or did they not tell you? The arming wires for my bomb load were not on the toggle boards. They fell without being able to detonate. They were still—how do you say—safetied.”
Brian’s jaw sagged. Stunned to the core by this revelation, he lost his voice. The words that came from the German colonel salved his burning heart. “Young man, Brian? I have no idea who might be responsible, but I would not have harmed your friend. I know what it is to have a loved one taken from you. My wife is sick, dying of yellow jaundice, and my son was recently forced to join the Hitler Youth. I am sorry that this happened to you. Sorry and ashamed that a countryman of mine could have done such a thing.”
The next moment Werner Ruperle came to his feet. He crossed the short distance and found himself embracing the MI-5 agent named Brian. Overpowered by their emotion, they both wept.
 
 
Time: 1707, GMT, November 3, 1940 
Place: Time Station London, 
Thameside, London, England 
 
 
Brian Moore joined Dianna Basehart at the London Time Station shortly after five the next afternoon. They went to the small holding cell beside the Beamer room. With one on each side, they escorted Clive Beattie out and along to his final destination. His hands secured behind him, ankles joined by leg irons, he made no effort to resist until Brian eased him into a sitting position in the middle of the Beamer.
Brian read the intention in Clive’s eyes. “I wouldn’t try jumping out, Gunther. Only half of you might be left here with us.” 
“I can still make you very rich.”
Brian nodded to Vito, who flipped the master switch. A hum filled the cellar. Brian and Dianna stepped back as the containment field shimmered into existence. Another second and Clive Beattie left the world of 1940. He did so with a curse and a scream.
“Now that’s done,” Brian said, with forced lightness.
“Steve, I waited to say this. It may be out of place, but I wanted to offer my sincere condolences over the death of Samantha Trillby. I only recently learned how close you two had become. I’m sorry she had to die so horribly.” 
“Thank you, Di. Right now it hurts too much to talk about it. Truth to tell, I seriously considered marriage. And a life in the here and now. With her it would have been worth it.”
“I’m not going to comment on that right now. All hell is going to break loose four days from now when Sandra Hammond disappears. How are you going to handle it?”
“I’ll work out something. Probably conduct the investigation myself. There’ll be a massive man—er—woman hunt. She can’t get off the island, they’ll reason. I’ll do what I can to push the idea of an escape by U-boat. That’s not the most important thing.”
Brian suddenly awakened to the everyday world of a Temporal Warden. A beaming smile blossomed on his relieved face. Why had he not thought of that before? If it worked going one way, it could work in the reverse. He would have to clear it with Arkady, but that should be easy. Dianna read his expression with puzzlement. 
“What is it, Brian?”
“I’ve been a fool. There is a way to save Samantha. And it does not involve a Paradox. Not if she is recruited as a Temporal Warden.” 
Dianna saw it at once. “You just remembered it, didn’t you? You pulled Sandra Hammond out of the grasp of the Royal Army Corps, and you can pull Samantha out of her car. Tricky timing, but you can carry it off if anyone can.”
“Yeah,” Brian agreed. “Though it leaves me to recruit her. Warden Central will come as a shock to her.”
Dryly, Dianna answered him. “No doubt. What’s next, Brian?”
“After clearing up this little matter, a new assignment. This just came in from Arkady.” He opened the folded sheet and read off it to Dianna. “A new ripple has occurred in the fabric of Time. It threatens the stability of all the future. Dianna is to remain in London to assist you. The historical log indicates that a conspiracy exists between half a dozen rogue travelers to provide refined plutonium to the Germans, along with the schematic diagrams of how to build a nuclear bomb. If the Nazis get the atomic bomb, it will so seriously destabilize the time track that, Paradox factor or not, all of the future could permanently change.” 
Brian read on, then added, “If that’s not enough, there are some other rogues who are believed to be involved in a white slave ring that kidnaps children who, according to history, died in the Blitz, and are being taken forward in time to provide for the hunger of pedophiles in other eras.”
That caught Dianna off balance. It also greatly angered her. “We should get on this right away. The bomb thing doesn’t bother me as much as what is happening to those poor children.” 
“I agree. Something just occurred to me. Perhaps this time, MI-5 will assist the Warden Corps instead of the other way around. There were some files I saw the other day, while I was worrying about Coventry, that need a better going-over. I’m off to my office. Watch the store, love.” So saying, Brian stepped close and gave Dianna a brief, platonic kiss.
After his departure, Dianna stood, wondering to herself if for all time Brian’s kiss would lack its usual fire.
 
 
Time: 0950 GMT, November 1, 1940 
Place: M-43 Highway, Coventry to London, England 
 
 
Samantha Trillby started out for London at ten minutes to ten that morning. She was well into the country when the air raid sirens went off in Coventry. She puckered her mouth in a grim moue a bit later when she saw the black blossoms of antiaircraft fire through the rearview mirror. 
They were coming a lot closer to Coventry this time, she thought. A squadron of Spitfires snarled by low overhead, followed by two of Hurricanes. Abruptly they climbed steeply to engage the advance columns of the enemy. Samantha drove a little faster. With the window down, she could hear the machine-gun fire. A chill clutched her spine. They were going to Coventry this time. 
What for? There was nothing there worth bombing. Another question burned through her. Had there been enough warning? Who would survive? Nervously she began to chew her lower lip. Far above her and some distance behind, another flight of bombers, this time Ju 88-A’s, ran into the furious resistance that had plagued Col. Ruperle’s squadron. 
Unseen by Samantha, one of the Junkers, shot to hell, struggled furiously to escape the deadly circus that spun around them. One engine was afire, thick smoke trailed behind. Following regulations, in the same manner as Col. Ruperle, the pilot gave the order to lighten his craft by dumping his bombs. 
During the time it took him to reach this decision, he had turned completely to the south and flew over the road to London. This time, when the bombardier salvoed the stick, the safety wires had been attached to their tethers. As the bombs fell free they armed themselves.
Wobbling through the air, the 4,960 pounds of explosives dropped in irregular lines down toward the highway. 
Before the first bombs detonated, a shimmering formed beside the car. Samantha looked over to see Brian Moore in a Morris Minor, racing alongside. 
“Pull over,” he shouted. “Pull to the side.” 
She did and Brian braked furiously. He ran to the driver’s side and yanked open the door of Samantha’s car. Dragging her by the arm he hauled her from the seat and hurtled toward the Morris. They tumbled inside, and the shimmering happened again. Before the first two erupted, the Morris Minor disappeared. Then the proximity fuses fired and the bombs erupted in a blinding, searing flash, totally disintegrating Samantha Trillby’s empty car.
 
 
Time: 1350 Warden Central Time
Place: Temporal Warden Central 
 
 
“Welcome to the future, darling,” Brian Moore murmured in the ear of Samantha Trillby. “This is the secret behind two of me rescuing you from those Nazi agents.”
Samantha looked around her to see a fantastic world far removed in style and time from London in 1940. She gasped and recoiled from the strangeness.
“Easy, easy, Sam. You’ll learn to love it. I did.”
Grinning in relief and elation, Brian Moore/Steven Whitefeather lifted Samantha Trillby to her feet and kissed her soundly. In the background, Arkady Gallubin applauded softly.




 
 
Visit our website and online bookstore at eventhorizonpg.com
Visit our new Facebook Store!
 
 
Our Imprints —

 
Check out our Imprint Facebook Pages for the
latest news about our books and authors:
Event Horizon EBooks
DarkStar Books
Lone Star Publishing
Starbase Phoenix Publishing



Table of Contents
Cover
Back Cover
Introduction
Copyright
Chapter_01
Chapter_02
Chapter_03
Chapter_04
Chapter_05
Chapter_06
Chapter_07
Chapter_08
Chapter_09
Chapter_10
Chapter_11
Chapter_12
Chapter_13
Chapter_14
Chapter_15
Chapter_16
Chapter_17
Chapter_18
Chapter_19
Chapter_20
Chapter_21
Chapter_22
Chapter_23
Chapter_24
Chapter_25
ehpgcatpage_01


images/00028.jpg





images/00031.jpg





images/00033.jpg
THE TIME ROGUE!

“Do you know of a German Agent named Free
Eagle—Frieadler?” Again Burroughs said noth-
ing. Brian balled the front of Burroughs'’s shirt
in both fists and yanked the man off his chair.

“I've had enough of you. The next stop is in
the future.”

Panic at the immediacy of that threat loos-
ened the man’s tongue. “You can’t do that. You
don’t even know where I came from.”

Brian’s smile formed in a nasty line. “That’s
the trouble with you bootleg Beamer users. You
know absolutely nothing about time travel the-
ory. When you are transported with open co-
ordinates, you back exactly to when you should
be. Now, get moving.”

In the central room of the basement under
the travel agency, Brian stood Burroughs be-
fore the Beamer and gave the high sign to Vito.
An enormous surge of energy activated the
Time Field. It pulsed and hummed and formed
a shimmering curtain inside the framework of
the Beamer. When the containment field sta-
bilized it, Brian gave Burroughs a rough shove
toward it.

“No, I...” Stumbling toward theiridescentswirl,
Burroughs finished his sentence hundreds of
years in the future.
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| THE TIME WATCHERS °

They are the keepers of
history, the dedicated

men and women of the
i Temporal Corps.

It is thelr JOb to protect the timeline from
irreparable harm. And in an era when time
travel has created a new breed of criminal, they
are the only force standing between the past as
we know it and a future warped by evil ..

Steven Whitefeather, Master Temporal Warden,
is sent to 19405 London, a city caught in the
throes of World War II. Under the guise of an
agent of British Intelligence, Steven must flush
out a Nazi sympathizer from his own century—
a master of disguise who is about to cause a
major disturbance in the fabric of time ...
The assassination of Winston Churchill.

Don't miss this thrilling debut
of the Time Station series!
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